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DEFINITIONS
In this circular, unless the context otherwise requires, the following expressions have the
following meanings:
“2009 Accounts”

the audited accounts of Shuyang ITAD to be prepared in
accordance with PRC GAAP comprising, inter alia, a
profit and loss statement for the period of 12 months
ending on 31 December 2009 and a balance sheet as at 31
December 2009

“2010 Accounts”

the audited accounts of Shuyang ITAD to be prepared in
accordance with PRC GAAP comprising, inter alia, a
profit and loss statement for the period of 12 months
ending on 31 December 2010 and a balance sheet as at 31
December 2010

“Acquisition”

the acquisition of a total of 70% issued share capital of
Peixin (as enlarged by the issuance and allotment of the
Allotment Shares) through the purchase of the Sales
Shares and subscription of the Allotment Shares by the
Company pursuant to the Acquisition Agreement (as
supplemented by the Supplemental Agreement)

“Acquisition Agreement”

the agreement relating to the sale and purchase of the
Sale Shares and the subscription of the Allotment Shares
dated 26 October 2008 entered into between the
Company, Peixin and Vendor in relation to (i) the sale and
purchase of the Sale Shares (representing 58% of the
existing issued share capital of Peixin, or 41% of the
issued share capital of Peixin as enlarged by the issuance
and allotment of the Allotment Shares) and (ii) the
subscription of the Allotment Shares (representing 29%
of the issued share capital of Peixin as enlarged by the
issuance and allotment of the Allotment Shares) by the
Company

“Allotment Shares”

40 new shares of Peixin to be allotted and issued by
Peixin to the Company pursuant to the Acquisition
Agreement (as supplemented by the Supplemental
Agreement)

“Allotment Shares Consideration”

the consideration of HK$44.8 million payable to Peixin
for the subscription of the Allotment Shares under the
Acquisition Agreement (as supplemented by the
Supplemental Agreement)
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“Ample Capital”

Ample Capital Limited, a licensed corporation for the
regulated activities of advising on securities (type 4),
advising on corporate finance (type 6) and asset
management (type 9) under the SFO, the independent
financial adviser of the Company in respect of the
Acquisition, the issue of the Convertible Notes, the issue
and allotment of the Conversion Shares, the reallocation
of the usage of the net proceeds from the Private
Placement and the Specific Mandate

“Awards Technology”

Awards Technology Ltd, a company incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands with limited liability and whollyowned by Dr. Shawn Wang, an Independent Third Party

“China” or “PRC”

the People’s Republic of China, for the purpose of this
circular, shall exclude Hong Kong, the special
administrative region of Macau and Taiwan

“Company”

Lo’s Enviro-Pro Holdings Limited, a company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability,
with its shares listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange

“Completion”

completion of the Acquisition Agreement
supplemented by the Supplemental Agreement)

“Consideration”

the aggregate consideration of HK$109.8 million in
respect of the Acquisition

“Conversion Price”

the initial conversion price of HK$0.31 per Conversion
Share

“Conversion Shares”

Shares to be allotted and issued by the Company upon
exercise of the conversion rights attached to the
Convertible Notes

“Convertible Notes”

the non-interest bearing convertible notes due on 1
January 2012 in the principal amount of HK$65.0 million
proposed to be issued by the Company to settle the Sale
Share Consideration, which entitle the holder(s) thereof
to convert the principal amount outstanding into the
Conversion Shares at the Conversion Price

“Directors”

directors of the Company
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“Dr. Lo”

Dr. Lo Kou Hong, chairman of the board of Directors and
the managing Director

“EGM”

the extraordinary general meeting of the Company to be
convened and held at 2:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 10
December 2008, at Plaza IV, Lower Lobby, Novotel
Century Hong Kong, 238 Jaffe Road, Wanchai, Hong
Kong, for the Independent Shareholders to consider and
approve, if thought fit, among other things, the
Acquisition Agreement (as supplemented by the
Supplemental Agreement); the Subscription Agreement;
the Acquisition; the issue of the Convertible Notes; the
issue and allotment of the Conversion Shares; the
reallocation of the usage of the net proceeds from the
Private Placement and the Specific Mandate

“Enlarged Group”

the Group as enlarged by the Acquisition immediately
after the Completion

“Group”

the Company and its subsidiaries

“Hong Kong”

Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of China

“Independent Board Committee”

the independent board committee of the Company
comprising all of the three independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. Cheng Kai Tai, Allen, Mr. Chiu
Wai Pui and Mr. Wang Qi

“Independent Shareholders”

Shareholders’ other than (i) Lo’s Family and its
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) and (ii) other
parties who are involved in or interested in the
Acquisition, the issue of the Convertible Notes, and the
issue and allotment of the Conversion Shares

“Independent Third Party(ies)”

person(s) or company(ies) and their respective ultimate
beneficial owner(s) which, to the best of the Directors’
knowledge, information and belief having made all
reasonable enquiries, are third parties independent of and
not connected with any director, chief executive or
substantial shareholders of the Company and its
subsidiaries or any of their respective associates

“ITAD”

Innovative Thermophilic Aerobic Digestion, a patented
and proprietary environmental biotechnology which
involves a special fermentation process to transform
waste materials into organic fertilizers. The patent of
ITAD (patent registration no. ZL03104552.9), is
registered in China and owned by the Vendor
–3–
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“Latest Practicable Date”

17 November 2008, being the latest practicable date prior
to the printing of this circular for the purpose of
ascertaining certain information contained in this circular

“Listing Rules”

Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange

“Lo’s E-P Biotech”

Lo’s Enviro-Pro Bio-Technology Holdings Limited, a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with
limited liability, and the share capital of which is owned
as to 80% by Triple Kind and as to 20% by Awards
Technology

“Lo’s Family”

The Lo’s Family (PTC) Limited (formerly known as The
Lo’s Family Limited), a company incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands with limited liability, which holds
420,000,000 Shares, (representing 53.92% of the issued
share capital as at the Latest Practicable Date) as the
trustee of The Lo’s Family Unit Trust, and is the
controlling shareholder of the Company

“Marce”

), an indirect
Marce International Ltd. (
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, which is
nominated by the Company to become the registered
holder of the Sale Shares and the Allotment Shares

“Ms. Ko”

Ms. Ko Lok Ping, Maria Genoveffa, an executive
Director and the spouse of Dr. Lo

“Peixin”

Peixin Group Ltd, a company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands with limited liability, the entire issued
share capital of which is owned by the Vendor

“Peixin Group”

Peixin and its subsidiaries

“PRC GAAP”

the generally accepted accounting principles in China

“Private Placement”

placing of 25,000,000 new Shares under the placing
agreement dated 14 May 2007 made between the
Company and KGI Capital Asia Limited, and detail of
which are set out in the announcement made by the
Company on 15 May 2007 and the circular made by the
Company on 6 June 2007
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“Profit Adjustment(s)”

adjustment(s) (if any) to be made on the principal amount
of the Convertible Notes in accordance with the terms of
the Subscription Agreement, and detail of which are set
out in the paragraph headed “The Guaranteed Profits and
Profit Adjustment(s) Mechanism on the Convertible
Notes” in the section headed “Letter from the Board” of
this circular

“Sale Shares”

58 shares of Peixin, representing 58% of the issued share
capital of Peixin (or approximately 41% of the issued
share capital of Peixin as enlarged by the issue and
allotment of the Allotment Shares) to be sold by the
Vendor to the Company pursuant to the Acquisition
Agreement (as supplemented by the Supplemental
Agreement)

“Sale Shares Consideration”

the consideration of HK$65.0 million payable to the
Vendor for the purchase of the Sale Shares under the
Acquisition Agreement (as supplemented by the
Supplemental Agreement)

“SFO”

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the
Laws of Hong Kong)

“Shares”

shares of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the
Company

“Shareholder(s)”

holder(s) of the Shares

“Shareholder’s Loan”

the shareholder’s loan, together with interest accrued (if
any) and other sums owed by Peixin to the Vendor prior
to the date of Completion

“Shuyang ITAD”

Shuyang ITAD Environmental Technology Limited
(
), a wholly foreign
owned enterprise established in China with limited
liability, the entire registered capital of which is owned
by Peixin

“Sinopoint”

Sinopoint Corporation, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company which holds all the issued share capital of
Marce

“Specific Mandate”

the specific mandate proposed to be granted to the
Directors in relation to the issue of the Conversion Shares
by the Independent Shareholders at the EGM
–5–
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“Stock Exchange”

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

“Subscription Agreement”

the subscription agreement to be entered into between the
Company and the Vendor on the date of Completion for
the subscription of the Convertible Notes by the Vendor

“Supplemental Agreement”

the supplemental agreement entered into between the
Company, Peixin and the Vendor on 3 November 2008,
which is intended to be supplemental to the Acquisition
Agreement in respect of the revision of the Acquisition
Agreement, which includes (i) the inclusion of the
ITAD™ and
™ trademarks; (ii) allowing the
Vendor to have two months instead of one month from
Completion to fulfill the undertaking in relation to
granting of such licences to Shuyang ITAD; and (iii)
replacing the form of the Subscription Agreement as
annexed to the Acquisition Agreement resulting from the
restatement of the formulas in respect of the Profit
Adjustment(s)

“Triple Kind”

Triple Kind Investments Limited, a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited
liability and its issued share capital is owned as to 50%
by Dr. Lo and 50% by Ms. Ko

“Vendor”

ITAD Biotechnology Limited, a company incorporated in
Hong Kong and wholly-owned by Lo’s E-P Biotech

“Waste Treatment Plant”

a waste treatment plant, located in Shuyang County,
Jiangsu Province of China, which is under construction
and to be operated by Shuyang ITAD. Upon completion
of its establishment, the waste treatment plant will have
a designed operating capacity of approximately 500
tonnes per day. The Vendor expects that the waste
treatment plant will commence commercial operation in
or about January 2009

“%”

percentage

“HK$”

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

“RMB”

Renminbi, the lawful currency of China

All amounts in RMB have been translated in HK$ at a rate of RMB1 = HK$1.12 in this
circular for illustration purpose only. The exchange rates do not constitute representations that
any amount has been, could have been, or may be exchanged at this or any other rates at all.
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Executive Directors:
Dr. Lo Kou Hong
Ms. Ko Lok Ping, Maria Genoveffa
Mr. Leung Tai Tsan, Charles
Mr. Cheung Pui Keung

Principle Place of Business
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258 Hennessy Road
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Non-executive Director:
Professor Bai Qingzhong
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Mr. Cheng Kai Tai, Allen
Mr. Chiu Wai Piu
Mr. Wang Qi

24 November 2008
To the Shareholders
Dear Sir or Madam,

MAJOR AND CONNECTED TRANSACTION
ACQUISITION OF A WASTE TREATMENT BUSINESS IN CHINA
INTRODUCTION
On 3 November 2008, the Company announced that on 26 October 2008 and 3 November
2008, the Company, entered into the Acquisition Agreement and the Supplemental Agreement,
respectively, with the Vendor and Peixin, pursuant to which, the Company has conditionally
agreed to purchase the Sale Shares and subscribe for the Allotment Shares at the Consideration
of HK$109.8 million. The Consideration, comprising the Sale Shares Consideration of
HK$65.0 million and the Allotment Shares Consideration of HK$44.8 million, will be satisfied
by the issue of the Convertible Notes under the Subscription Agreement and cash, respectively.
Upon completion, Peixin will become an indirect 70% non wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company.
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The assets of Peixin mainly comprise its investment in Shuyang ITAD, a wholly foreign
owned enterprise established in China. After Completion, Shuyang ITAD will be principally
engaged in the provision of municipal waste management and the related businesses in
Shuyang County, Jiangsu Province, China which include, among other things, (i) the
development and operations of the Waste Treatment Plant; (ii) the conversion of municipal
waste into other products such as organic fertilisers, nutrient soil, plastic pellets and
refuse-derived fuels; (iii) the subsequent sale of the products (particularly organic fertilisers)
converted from the wastes collected; and (iv) the research and development of waste recycling
technologies and their related applications. Following the Acquisition, the Company will not
only be able to extend its waste management business in China to municipal wastes, but will
also generate the additional income from the sale of organic fertilisers derived from its
municipal waste management operation.
The purpose of this circular is to provide you with further details regarding, among other
things, (i) the Acquisition Agreement (as supplemented by the Supplemental Agreement) and
the Subscription Agreement and the transactions contemplated therein; (ii) the reallocation of
usage of the net proceeds from the Private Placement; (iii) an accountants’ report on Peixin;
(iv) an unaudited pro-forma financial information on the Enlarged Group; (v) a letter of
recommendation from the Independent Board Committee to the Independent Shareholders; (vi)
a letter of advice from Ample Capital to the Independent Board Committee and the Independent
Shareholders; (vii) the notice convening the EGM; and (viii) other disclosure requirements
under the Listing Rules.
THE ACQUISITION AGREEMENT (AS SUPPLEMENTED BY THE SUPPLEMENTAL
AGREEMENT)
Date
26 October 2008 (as supplemented by the Supplemental Agreement dated 3 November
2008)
Parties to the Acquisition Agreement and the Supplemental Agreement
(i)

The Company as the purchaser

(ii) ITAD Biotechnology Limited as the vendor
(iii) Peixin
To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief having made all
reasonable enquiries, save for the management fee of HK$300,000 per annum charged by the
Group on the Vendor relating to the provision of accounting and administrative services and the
sharing of office space and facilities with the Group, the Group has not had transactions with
the Vendor, each of its ultimate beneficial owners and/or their respective associates during the
previous 12 months which should be aggregated with the Acquisition under Rule 14.22 of the
Listing Rules.
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Following Completion, the aforesaid management fee of HK$300,000 per annum will
continue to be charged by the Group on the Vendor and will constitute continuing connected
transaction under Rule14A of the Listing Rules for the Company. Given that such management
fee is charged on a cost basis and the annual consideration of HK$300,000 is (i) greater than
0.1% but smaller than 2.5% of the relevant percentage ratios (as defined in the Listing Rules)
and (ii) smaller than HK$1,000,000, the Group’s provision of the accounting and
administrative services and the sharing of office space will constitute a de minimis transaction
which will be exempted from reporting, announcement and Independent Shareholders’
approval requirements pursuant to Rules 14A.31(2) and (8) of the Listing Rules.
Assets to be Acquired
The Company has conditionally agreed to (i) purchase the Sales Shares, representing 58%
of the issued share capital of Peixin as at the Latest Practicable Date (or approximately 41%
of the issued share capital of Peixin as enlarged by the issue and allotment of the Allotment
Shares) from the Vendor, and (ii) subscribe for the Allotment Shares (representing
approximately 29% of the issued share capital of Peixin as enlarged by the issue and allotment
of the Allotment Shares).
The Consideration
The Consideration of HK$109.8 million comprises:
(i)

the Sale Shares Consideration, which will be satisfied at Completion by the issue of
the Convertible Notes at the principal amount of HK$65.0 million to the Vendor (or
its nominees) under the Subscription Agreement; and

(ii) the Allotment Shares Consideration of HK$44.8 million, which will be satisfied in
cash to Peixin (expected to be financed by the internal resources of the Group) at
Completion.
The Consideration of HK$109.8 million was determined after arm’s length negotiation
between the Company and the Vendor and, with reference to, among other things, the estimated
total investment cost of approximately HK$151.20 million (which also includes the future
capital requirement of Shuyang ITAD of approximately HK$44.80 million to be funded by the
Allotment Shares Consideration) incurred and/or to be incurred since the establishment of
Shuyang ITAD up to the successful commercial operations of Shuyang ITAD, comprising,
among other things, the construction cost of the Waste Treatment Plant and certain
pre-operating expenses during the initial operating stage of Shuyang ITAD.
Having considered
(i)

it is the strategic and long term development plan of the Company to broaden its
existing medical waste management business in China to cover municipal wastes;

(ii) the growing demand for municipal waste management in China;
–9–
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(iii) the Consideration being comparable to the Group’s attributable interest of 70% in
the estimated total investment cost of Shuyang ITAD, amongst which,
approximately HK$86.43 million (based on the audited financial statements of
Peixin Group as contained in Appendix II to this circular) had been contributed by
the Vendor as at 31 July 2008 in the form of Shareholder’s Loan (which the Vendor
has subsequently agreed to waive under the Acquisition Agreement (as
supplemented by the Supplemental Agreement));
(iv) the Conversion Price representing substantial premium to the recent trading prices
of the Shares;
(v)

the Profit Adjustment(s) mechanism on the Sale Shares Consideration (as detailed
below);

(vi) the proven application of the patented proprietary ITAD technology owned by the
Vendor to generate organic fertilisers from municipal wastes (as detailed in the
section headed “Information on Peixin and Shuyang ITAD” below); and
(vii) the Allotment Shares Consideration to be primarily applied for the business
development on Peixin Group’s waste management business in China (including the
completion of the establishment of the Waste Treatment Plant),
the Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors) consider that the
Consideration is fair and reasonable and is in the interest of the Company and the Shareholders
as a whole.
Conditions Precedent to Completion
Completion is subject to, among other things, the following conditions precedent:
(i)

the Company being satisfied in all respect with the result of the due diligence review
and investigation (including, but not limited to legal, financial and business aspects)
in Peixin Group and any other matters related thereto;

(ii) all necessary approvals, consents or authorisations in connection with the execution
of and giving effect to the transactions contemplated under the Acquisition
Agreement (as supplemented by the Supplemental Agreement) and each of the
documents that is required to be executed have been obtained and/or executed by the
Vendor and/or Peixin;
(iii) all authorisation, approvals, waivers, permits or filings of any kind from the relevant
government authorities, the Stock Exchange or any other regulatory authority
necessary to be obtained under the applicable laws and the Listing Rules in
connection with the entering into and performance of the Acquisition Agreement (as
supplemented by the Supplemental Agreement) and the Subscription Agreement and
– 10 –
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for the consummation of all of the transactions contemplated under the Acquisition
Agreement (as supplemented by the Supplemental Agreement) and the Subscription
Agreement (including but not limited to the sale and purchase of the Sale Shares, the
subscription of the Allotment Shares, the issue of the Convertible Notes and the
allotment and issue of the Conversion Shares) having been obtained;
(iv) the passing by Independent Shareholders of all necessary resolutions at the EGM by
way of a poll approving the entering into and performance of the Acquisition
Agreement (as supplemented by the Supplemental Agreement) and the Subscription
Agreement and for the consummation of all of the transactions contemplated therein,
including but not limited to the sale and purchase of the Sale Shares, the
subscription of the Allotment Shares, the issue of the Convertible Notes, the
allotment and issue of the Conversion Shares, the reallocation of the usage of the net
proceeds from the Private Placement and the Specific Mandate;
(v)

the Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange having granted the listing of, and the
permission to deal in the Conversion Shares and, if required, the approval of the
issue of the Convertible Notes;

(vi) the consummation of the transactions contemplated under the Acquisition
Agreement (as supplemented by the Supplemental Agreement) shall not have been
restrained, enjoined, or otherwise prohibited by any applicable laws;
(vii) all necessary approval, consents or authorization in connection with the execution of
the Acquisition Agreement and the transaction contemplated hereunder, which is
required to be obtained under the existing agreements or documents entered into by
either Peixin or Shuyang ITAD (if any), shall have been obtained;
(viii) the Vendor and Peixin having complied with and performed all its covenants,
obligations and undertakings contained in the Acquisition Agreement (as
supplemented by the Supplemental Agreement) that are due to be complied with and
performed as at Completion;
(ix) the producing of the Certificate of Incumbency and Certificate of Good Standing of
Peixin to the Company;
(x)

the issue of a China legal opinion in connection with, among other things, the
establishment, shareholding and business operations of Shuyang ITAD without any
liquidating liability under China laws, licenses obtained by Shuyang ITAD and
agreements (if any) entered into by Shuyang ITAD will remain effective after the
Completion, the Vendor has the power to licence the patented ITAD technology and
™, ITAD™ and
™ trademarks to Shuyang ITAD, upon
the Fertilife
commencement of the operation of the Waste Treatment Plant, Shuyang ITAD has
the capacity to apply for a provisional organic fertilizer registration certificate
) from the Ministry of Agriculture of China to sell its organic
(
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fertilizer for agricultural use, and Peixin is the sole shareholder of Shuyang ITAD,
and legally and beneficially owns all of the equity interests in Shuyang ITAD, the
Vendor can procure Shuyang municipal government to enter into an investment
agreement with Peixin whereby Peixin shall have the same rights as the Vendor have
under the terms of the investment agreement entered by the Vendor with Shuyang
municipal government (
) on 9 September 2006 in relation to the
arrangement for the investment and future operation of the Waste Treatment Plant
(the “Investment Agreement”), to the Company’s satisfaction;
(xi) the issue of a British Virgin Islands legal opinion in connection with, among other
things, the incorporation, shareholding and business operations of Peixin without
any liquidating liability under the laws of the British Virgin Islands, agreements (if
any) entered into by Peixin will remain effective after the Completion, the allotment
and issue of the Allotment Shares by Peixin, and the Vendor is the sole shareholder
of Peixin, and legally and beneficially owns all of the equity interests in Peixin, to
the Company’s satisfaction;
(xii) the passing of the shareholders and board resolutions of the Vendor approving the
waiver of the Shareholder’s Loan (amounted to approximately HK$86.43 million as
at 31 July 2008 based on the audited financial statement of Peixin as set out in
Appendix II to this circular) and authorising the execution and delivery of the deed
of waiver of the Shareholder’s Loan to be duly executed by the Vendor under seal
on the date of Completion for the purpose of waiving and relinquishing irrevocably
and unconditionally all its title, claims, rights, interests and benefits in and to the
Shareholder’s Loan, and the Vendor having executed such deed of waiver in favour
of Peixin;
(xiii) the warranties provided by each of the Vendor and Peixin remains true, complete and
accurate and not misleading in all respect on the date of the Acquisition Agreement
(as supplemented by the Supplemental Agreement) and at all times up to and
including the date of Completion;
(xiv) the Vendor and Peixin having not materially breached any of the warranties as at the
date of Completion;
(xv) there having no material adverse change on the business, operations, financial
positions and conditions of Peixin Group during the period between the date of the
Acquisition Agreement (as supplemented by the Supplemental Agreement) and the
date of Completion; and
(xvi) such other documents, evidence and matters as the Company may request prior to
the date of Completion.
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None of the above conditions precedent can be waived by Peixin or the Vendor, and the
Company has the right to waive any of the above conditions precedent in writing except
conditions numbered (ii) to (vi). In the event that any of the above conditions has not been
fulfilled or waived by the Company on or before 31 January 2009, or such other dates as agreed
between the parties to the Acquisition Agreement (as supplemented by the Supplemental
Agreement), the provisions of the Acquisition Agreement (as supplemented by the
Supplemental Agreement) will be terminated, and none of the parties to the Acquisition
Agreement (as supplemented by the Supplemental Agreement) shall have any claim against the
others, provided that the rights and liabilities of the parties thereto which have accrued prior
to the termination shall subsist.
As at the Latest Practicable Date, none of the above conditions precedent have been
satisfied.
Completion of the Acquisition Agreement (as Supplemented by the Supplemental
Agreement)
Completion of the Acquisition Agreement (as supplemented by the Supplemental
Agreement) will take place within five business days after all of the above conditions precedent
have been fulfilled or waived (as the case may be) or such other time as may be agreed in
writing amongst the parties to the Acquisition Agreement (as supplemented by the
Supplemental Agreement).
Upon Completion, the Company shall nominate Marce, its indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary, as the registered holder of the Sale Shares and the Allotment Shares. Accordingly,
the Company will own 70% indirect interest in Peixin and the financial information of Peixin
Group will be consolidated into the consolidated financial statements of the Group.
As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Directors confirmed that there will be no new
members joining the senior management of the Company and the board of Directors as a result
of the Acquisition.
Post-Completion Undertaking by the Vendor
Pursuant to Acquisition Agreement (as supplemented by the Supplemental Agreement),
the Vendor has undertaken with the Company on the following matters:
(i)

to provide on-going support to the Company and the business of Peixin after
Completion, including to use its reasonable endeavours to procure that all
contractual arrangements entered into between the Vendor (or its associated
companies) and the Peixin Group prior to Completion shall continue to be
performed;

(ii) together with Peixin, to promptly carry out all necessary application to the relevant
government authorities and complete all requisite procedures for obtaining the title
) to the Waste Treatment Plant and to procure the granting of
deeds (
) to Shuyang ITAD within six months of Completion;
such title deeds (
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(iii) together with Peixin, to continue to do all such acts for assisting Peixin to promptly
complete the construction of the Waste Treatment Plant and to obtain all requisite
business licences, including the permit or license required for providing living waste
) and a provisional/permanent organic
disposal service (
), from the relevant
fertilizer registration certificate (
government authorities for the operation of the Waste Treatment Plant by Shuyang
ITAD;
(iv) to fully indemnify and keep the Company fully indemnified from and against all
claims, liabilities, penalties, losses, damages, surcharges, fees or expenses which the
Company, Peixin or Shuyang ITAD may suffer or incur or which may be made
against the Company, Shuyang ITAD or Peixin arising out of the failure by Shuyang
ITAD to make provision for or pay to the relevant government authorities of the
) for any period prior to Completion
requisite housing provident fund (
in accordance with the relevant administrative rules on housing provident fund
) promulgated by the relevant government authorities in
(
China;
(v)

to, within two months of Completion, procure the signing of an agreement between
) whereby Shuyang
Peixin and Shuyang municipal government (
municipal government shall grant to Peixin the same rights as the Vendor have under
the terms of the Investment Agreement, and upon Peixin and Shuyang municipal
government entering into such agreement, the Vendor and Shuyang municipal
government shall cancel the Investment Agreement simultaneously; and

(vi) to, within two months of Completion, grant to Shuyang ITAD licences to use the
™, ITAD™ and
™
patented ITAD technology and the Fertilife
trademarks at nil consideration and on terms and conditions to the satisfaction of the
Company. The licences to be granted to Shuyang ITAD shall be effective as long as
the Waste Treatment Plant is in operation and selling the organic fertilizers
generated.
Separate agreement(s) will be entered into between the Vendor and Shuyang ITAD after
Completion in relation to the granting of the relevant licenses to use the patented ITAD
technology and the aforesaid trademarks.
As represented by the Vendor, Peixin has not entered into other contractual agreement(s)
except the Investment Agreement. The Company will comply with the relevant Listing Rules
if Peixin has any other contractual agreement(s) with the Vendor which, after the Completion,
constitutes a notifiable transaction and/or a connected transaction and/or a continuing
connected transaction under the Listing Rules.
If any of the above undertakings constitute a notifiable transaction and/or connected
transaction and/or continuing connected transaction under the Listing Rules, further
announcement will be made by the Company, in compliance with the Listing Rules, as and
when appropriate.
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THE SUBSCRIPTION AGREEMENT AND THE TERMS OF THE CONVERTIBLE
NOTES
The Subscription Agreement will be signed between the Company and the Vendor on the
date of Completion and the closing of which, shall take place on the same date. Pursuant to the
Subscription Agreement, 80% and 20% of the principal amount of the Convertible Notes will
be issued to the nominees of the Vendor, namely Triple Kind and Awards Technology, both of
them are shareholders of Lo’s E-P Biotech, which in turn are the indirect shareholders of the
Vendor.
Principal Terms of the Convertible Notes
Principal amount

:

Subject to the Profit Adjustment(s), the principal
amount of the Convertible Notes is HK$65.0 million.

Maturity Date

:

1 January 2012, or if such date is not a business day,
the first business day immediately following such
date.

Interest rate

:

Nil.

Transferability

:

Non-transferable.

Conversion right

:

The principal amount of the Convertible Notes shall
be divided into two tranches of HK$32.5 million each
(the “First Tranche Convertible Notes” and the
“Second Tranche Convertible Notes”, respectively),
which shall be convertible into the Conversion Shares
at the Conversion Price upon the exercise of the
conversion rights attached to the Convertible Notes
during the first conversion period commencing from
1 July 2010 and ending on 31 December 2010 (for the
First Tranche Convertible Notes) and the second
conversion period commencing from 1 July 2011 and
ending on 31 December 2011 (for the Second Tranche
Convertible Notes).
Each of the principal amounts of the First Tranche
Convertible Notes and the Second Tranche
Convertible Notes is subject to Profit Adjustment(s)
and the conversion rights attached to each tranche
shall only be exercised after the Profit Adjustment(s)
(if any) has been made to each of them respectively.
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Each of the First Tranche Convertible Notes and the
Second Tranche Convertible Notes will be issued as
to 80% and 20% to Triple Kind and Awards
Technology, respectively.
Triple Kind and Awards Technology will each
separately have the right to convert (i) the whole but
not in part of 80% or 20% of the principal amount of
the First Tranche Convertible Note issued to it (as the
case may be) at the Conversion Price into the
Conversion Shares at any time during the first
conversion period commencing from 1 July 2010 and
ending on 31 December 2010; and (ii) the whole but
not in part of 80% or 20% of the principal amount of
the Second Tranche Convertible Note issued to it (as
the case may be) at the Conversion Price into the
Conversion Shares at any time during the second
conversion period commencing from 1 July 2011 and
ending on 31 December 2011.
Furthermore, no conversion rights attached to the
Convertible Notes can be exercised by the holders of
the Convertible Notes to the extent that immediately
after the exercise of such conversion rights, (i) a
holder of the Convertible Notes together with parties
acting in concert with it, taken together, will directly
or indirectly, control or be interested in such
percentage of the voting rights of the Company as
may from time to time as specified in The Code on
Takeovers and Mergers and Share Repurchase of
Hong Kong being the level for triggering a
mandatory general offer or otherwise, a general offer
shall be required to be given in accordance with the
requirement of The Code on Takeovers and Mergers
and Share Repurchase of Hong Kong; or (ii) there
will not be sufficient public float of the Shares as
required under the Listing Rules from time to time.
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Conversion Price

:

HK$0.31 per Conversion Share,
adjustment for events including:

subject

to

(a)

subdivision or consolidation of Shares;

(b)

issue of Shares by way of capitalisation of
profits or reserves;

(c)

distribution in cash or species to Shareholders
or grant to Shareholders the rights to acquire for
cash assets of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries;

(d)

offer to Shareholders new Shares for
subscription by way of rights, or grant to
Shareholders any options, warrants or other
rights to subscribe for any Shares at a price less
than 90% of the market price at the date of
announcement of the terms of the offer or grant;

(e)

issue wholly for cash any securities which by
their terms are convertible into or exchangeable
for or carry rights of subscription for new
Shares and the total effective consideration per
Share initially receivable for such securities is
less than 90% of the market price at the date of
announcement of the terms of issue of such
securities;

(f)

issue wholly for cash any Shares at a price per
Share which is less than 90% of the market price
at the date of the announcement of the terms of
such issue; or

(g)

issue Shares for the acquisition of asset at a
total effective consideration per Share which is
less than 90% of the market price at the date of
announcement of the terms of such issue.

Adjustment to the Conversion Price shall be certified
either by the auditors of the Company for the time
being or by an approved merchant bank.
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If adjustment has been made to the Conversion Price
in any of the aforesaid events, the Company will
make the relevant announcement as and when
appropriate in compliance with the Listing Rules.
Payments and mandatory final
redemption

:

The outstanding principal amount of each of the First
Tranche Convertible Notes and the Second Tranche
Convertible Notes that has not been converted into
Shares during the first conversion period
commencing from 1 July 2010 and ending on 31
December 2010 and the second conversion period
commencing from 1 July 2011 and ending on 31
December 2011, respectively, shall be redeemed in its
entirety by the Company at a redemption price of
HK$1 payable to each of Triple Kind and Awards
Technology, both being the holders of the
Convertible Notes on the maturity date.
The holders of the Convertible Notes shall not have
any rights to request for repayment or redemption of
any outstanding principal amount of the Convertible
Notes.

Ranking of the Convertible Notes

:

The
Convertible
Notes
constitute
direct,
unconditional, unsecured and unsubordinated
obligation of the Company and ranks pari passu and
rateably without preference (except the obligation in
respect of the relevant tax and certain other statutory
exceptions) with all other unsecured and
unsubordinated obligations of the Company.

Ranking of the Conversion
Shares

:

The Conversion Shares will be issued free from any
encumbrances or third party rights of any kind and
will rank pari passu, in all respects with all other
existing Shares outstanding at the date of the
conversion notice and shall be entitled to all dividend
and other distributions the record date of which falls
on a date on or after the date of the conversion notice.

Voting

:

The holders of the Convertible Notes shall not be
entitled to attend or vote at any general meeting of
the Company by reason only of them being a holder
of the Convertible Notes.
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Conversion Shares
The Conversion Shares will, upon exercise of the conversion rights attached to the
Convertible Notes, be allotted and issued pursuant to the Specific Mandate which is proposed
to be granted by Independent Shareholders to the Directors at the EGM.
As at the Latest Practicable Date, there are 778,925,000 Shares in issue. Based on the
assumption that the principal amount of the Convertible Notes will be converted into the
Conversion Shares in full and that no Profit Adjustment(s) will be made to the principal amount
of the Convertible Notes, 209,677,419 Conversion Shares, representing (i) approximately
26.92% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the Latest Practicable Date and (ii)
approximately 21.21% of the issued share capital of the Company as enlarged by the issue and
allotment of the Conversion Shares will be issued upon exercise of the conversion rights
attached to the Convertible Notes.
Conversion Price
The Conversion Price of HK$0.31 per Conversion Share (subject to adjustment (if any)
to be made in accordance with the terms of the Convertible Notes) represents:
(i)

a premium of approximately 82.35% over the closing price of HK$0.17 per Share as
quoted on the Stock Exchange on 24 October 2008, being the last trading day of the
Shares prior to the release of the Company’s announcement relating to the
Acquisition (the “Last Trading Day”);

(ii) a premium of approximately 72.22% over the average closing price of
approximately HK$0.18 per Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange for the last 5
consecutive trading days up to and including the Last Trading Day;
(iii) a premium of approximately 63.16% over the average closing price of
approximately HK$0.19 per Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange for the last 10
consecutive trading days up to and including the Last Trading Day; and
(iv) a premium of approximately 66.67% over the closing price of HK$0.186 per Share
as quoted on the Stock Exchange on the Latest Practicable Date.
In view of the significant premium of the Conversion Price over the recent market of the
Shares prior to the entering into of the Acquisition Agreement, the Directors (including the
independent non-executive Directors) are of the view that the Conversion Price is fair and
reasonable and is in the interest of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.
Application for Listing
No application will be made by the Company for the listing of the Convertible Notes on
any public stock exchange and an application will be made by the Company to the Stock
Exchange for the listing of, and the permission to deal in, the Conversion Shares.
There is no restriction on the disposal of the Conversion Shares.
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The Guaranteed Profits and Profit Adjustment(s) Mechanism on the Convertible Notes
Pursuant to the Acquisition Agreement (as supplemented by the Supplemental
Agreement), the Vendor has warranted that the audited net profit after taxation (but excluding
any non-recurring or exceptional items) of Shuyang ITAD for the year ending 31 December
2009 and 31 December 2010 as prepared under PRC GAAP will be not less than RMB10.0
million (equivalent to approximately HK$11.20 million) (the “2009 Guaranteed Profit”) and
RMB30.0 million (equivalent to approximately HK$33.60 million) (the “2010 Guaranteed
Profit”), respectively. In the event that (i) the actual audited net profit after taxation (but
excluding any non-recurring or exceptional items) of Shuyang ITAD for the year ending 31
December 2009 as shown in the 2009 Accounts (the “2009 Actual Profit”) falls below the 2009
Guaranteed Profit; or (ii) the actual audited net profit after taxation (but excluding any
non-recurring or exceptional items) of Shuyang ITAD for the year ending 31 December 2010
as shown in the 2010 Accounts (the “2010 Actual Profit”) falls below the 2010 Guaranteed
Profit, the principal amount of the First Tranche Convertible Notes (in the case of (i) above)
and/or the Second Tranche Convertible Notes (in the case of (ii) above) will be adjusted
downwards by deducting an amount calculated based on the formulas below, subject to a
maximum of HK$32,500,000 for each case:
Amount to be deducted from the principal amount of the First Tranche Convertible Notes:
Amount to be deducted from
Principal amount of the First Tranche
the principal amount of the First Tranche = Convertible Notes x [(2009 Guaranteed Profit
Convertible Notes (Note)
– 2009 Actual Profit)/2009 Guaranteed Profit]
Amount to be deducted from the principal amount of the Second Tranche Convertible Notes:
Amount to be deducted from
Principal amount of the Second Tranche
the principal amount of the Second Tranche = Convertible Notes x [(2010 Guaranteed Profit
Convertible Notes (Note)
– 2010 Actual Profit)/2010 Guaranteed Profit]
Note:
80% of the amount as calculated based on the formulas will be deducted from the principal amount of the First
Tranche Convertible Notes or Second Tranche Convertible Notes (as the case may be) held by Triple Kind
(being the holder of 80% of the principal amount of the First Tranche Convertible Notes and the Second
Tranche Convertible Notes), while 20% of the amount as calculated based on the formulas will be deducted
from the principal amount of the First Tranche Convertible Notes or Second Tranche Convertible Notes (as the
case may be) held by Awards Technology (being the holder of 20% of the principal amount of the First Tranche
Convertible Notes and the Second Tranche Convertible Notes).
The above deductions to the First Tranche Convertible Notes and/or the Second Tranche Convertible Notes
shall be made by the Company on the next business day immediately after the receipt of the respective 2009
Accounts and 2010 Accounts by the Company, and in such event, the Company shall as soon as practicable,
advise Triple Kind and Awards Technology on the adjusted principal amount as determined by the Company.

The 2009 Actual Profit and the 2010 Actual Profit will be audited by an auditor appointed
by the Company and will be delivered to the Company by no later than 30 April 2010 and 30
April 2011, respectively.
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In the event the 2009 Actual Profit and/or 2010 Actual Profit falls below the 2009
Guaranteed Profit and/or 2010 Guaranteed Profit, the Company will publish an announcement,
and will include details of such shortfall (if any) in the Company’s annual report in the next
two years in this regard. Furthermore, the independent non-executive Directors will also
provide an opinion in the Company’s annual reports in the next two years as to whether the
2009 Guaranteed Profit and/or the 2010 Guaranteed have been fulfilled.
INFORMATION ON THE VENDOR
The Vendor is a company with limited liability incorporated in Hong Kong on 15 July
1993 and is beneficially owned as to 80% and 20% by Triple Kind and Awards Technology. The
Vendor is principally engaged in investment holding, development of municipal waste
treatment business and marketing the patented ITAD technology. It is also the owner of the
™ (a trademark registered in Hong Kong and
patented ITAD technology and the Fertilife
China, with registration nos. 300083385 and 3775507 respectively), ITAD™ (a trademark
™ (a trademark registered in
registered in China, with registration no. 3239354) and
China, with registration no. 3249768) trademarks. The principal assets of the Vendor mainly
comprise its investment in Peixin in the form of the Shareholder’s Loan which amount to
approximately HK$86.43 million as at 31 July 2008.
As represented by the Vendor, save for the Shareholder’s Loan and the initial setting up
cost for Peixin of approximately HK$0.01 million, no acquisition cost was involved in respect
of the Sale Shares.
The entire issued share capital of the Vendor is beneficially owned by Lo’s E-P Biotech.
INFORMATION ON PEIXIN AND SHUYANG ITAD
Peixin is an investment company established by the Vendor and incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands on 3 January 2006, with its entire issued share capital wholly-owned by
the Vendor. The principal asset of Peixin is its investment in Shuyang ITAD, being the principal
operating subsidiary of the Peixin Group. Based on the audited consolidated financial
statements of Peixin Group as set out in Appendix II to this circular, for each of the two years
ended 31 March 2007 and 2008, Peixin Group recorded an audited consolidated net loss after
tax of approximately HK$1.33 million and HK$2.26 million, respectively. As at 31 July 2008,
the audited consolidated net asset of Peixin Group amounted to approximately HK$1.47
million.
Shuyang ITAD is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in China on 11 May
2006. After the Completion, it is intended that Shuyang ITAD will be principally engaged in
the municipal solid waste management in China and the related business, which includes,
among other things, (i) the development and operations of the Waste Treatment Plant; (ii) the
conversion of municipal waste into other products such as organic fertilisers, nutrient soil,
plastic pellets and refused-derived fuels; (iii) the subsequent sale of the products (particularly
organic fertilisers) converted from the waste collected; and (iv) the research and development
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of waste recycling technologies and their related applications. As represented by the Vendor,
Shuyang ITAD has not yet commenced its business operations as at the Latest Practicable Date,
pending for the completion of the establishment of the Waste Treatment Plant. As advised by
the Vendor, the Waste Treatment Plant has a designed treatment capacity of approximately 500
tonnes per day and is expected to commence its commercial operations in or about January
2009. In addition, the Vendor has signed the Investment Agreement with the Shuyang
municipal government, whereby, among other things, Shuyang municipal government has
undertaken to the Vendor that for each of the three years after commencement of the Waste
Treatment Plant’s business operation, Shuyang municipal government will make arrangement
to deliver municipal waste of not less than 300 tonnes per day to the Waste Treatment Plant for
treatment, and pay the Vendor a subsidy of RMB20.0 (equivalent to approximately HK$22.4)
for each tonne of municipal waste being treated. The Vendor has undertaken to procure the
signing of an investment agreement between Peixin and Shuyang municipal government
whereby Shuyang municipal government shall grant to Peixin the same rights as the Vendor
have under the terms of the Investment Agreement. Subject to the consent of Shuyang
municipal government, Peixin and Shuyang municipal government will enter into such
investment agreement and the Vendor will cancel its Investment Agreement with Shuyang
municipal government simultaneously.
Furthermore, the Vendor has also confirmed that the proprietary patented ITAD
technology owned by the Vendor, being one of the major environmental biotechnologies to be
licenced to Shuyang ITAD, is a proven technology for the conversion of municipal waste into
organic fertiliser, whereby the organic fertilizer produced has been registered by the Vendor
with the Ministry of Agriculture of China as suitable for agricultural use. The Vendor has
undertaken to licence the patented ITAD technology to Shuyang ITAD to convert municipal
waste into organic fertiliser and to licence the Fertilife
™, ITAD™ and
™
trademarks for Shuyang ITAD to use, all at nil consideration. The licences to be granted to
Shuyang ITAD shall be effective as long as the Waste Treatment Plant is in operations and
selling the organic fertilizers generated. Upon commencement of the operation of the Waste
Treatment Plant, Shuyang ITAD will also make the necessary application to the Ministry of
Agriculture of China for a provisional organic fertilizer registration certificate
(
) to have its organic fertilizer product registered as suitable for agricultural
use, and such application is subject to the approval by the Ministry of Agriculture of China.
Based on the audited financial information of Shuyang ITAD prepared under the PRC
GAAP, (i) Shuyang ITAD did not record any income or expenses for the period from 11 May
2006 to 31 December 2006 and for the year ended 31 December 2007 and (ii) the audited net
asset value of Shuyang ITAD amounted to approximately RMB33.12 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$37.09 million) as at 31 December 2007. Based on the unaudited financial
information of Shuyang ITAD as prepared under PRC GAAP, its net asset value amounted to
approximately RMB62.6 million (equivalent to approximately HK$70.11 million) as at 31 July
2008.
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CHANGE IN THE SHAREHOLDING STRUCTURE OF THE COMPANY
Shareholding Structure of the Company
Assuming no adjustment will be made on the principal amount of the Convertible Notes,
the shareholding structure of the Company (i) as at the Latest Practicable Date and (ii)
immediately after the exercise of the conversion rights attached to the Convertible Notes in full
are set out as below:

As at the Latest
Practicable Date
(Shares)
%
Controlling Shareholders and Directors:
– Lo’s Family
– Ms. Ko
– Mr. Cheung Pui Keung, James

Triple Kind
Awards Technology
Public Shareholders

(Note 1)
(Note 2)
(Note 2)

(Note 3)

Total

Immediately after
the exercise
of the conversion
rights attached
to the Convertible
Notes in full
(Shares)
%

420,000,000
1,700,000
280,000

53.92
0.22
0.04

420,000,000
1,700,000
280,000

42.48
0.17
0.03

421,980,000
–
–
356,945,000

54.18
–
–
45.82

421,980,000
167,741,935
41,935,484
356,945,000

42.68
16.97
4.24
36.11

778,925,000

100.00

988,602,419

100.00

Notes:
1.

These Shares were owned by the Lo’s Family as the trustee of The Lo’s Family Unit Trust, a unit trust
of which all the units in issue were owned by the Equity Trustee Limited as the trustee of The Lo’s Family
Trust, a discretionary trust of which the beneficiaries include Dr. Lo’s family members.

2.

The Directors

3.

The issued share capital of Triple Kind is owned as to 50% by Dr. Lo and 50% by Ms. Ko.

4.

Based on the above, it is expected that the issue of the Convertible Notes and the exercise of the
conversion rights attached to the Convertible Notes will not result in any change of control of the
Company.
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Group Structure
Before the Acquisition

*

Dr. Lo and Ms. Ko are the beneficiaries of Lo’s Family

**

an Independent Third Party
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After the Acquisition and the issue of the Conversion Shares

*

Dr. Lo and Ms. Ko are the beneficiaries of Lo’s Family

**

an Independent Third Party
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FUND RAISING ACTIVITIES OF THE GROUP DURING THE PAST TWELVE
MONTHS
The Company did not conduct any fund-raising activities during the past twelve months
prior to the Latest Practicable Date.
FINANCIAL IMPACT OF THE ACQUISTION
Upon Completion, Peixin will become an indirect 70% non wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company and the financial results of Peixin will be consolidated into the company’s
consolidated financial statements.
Your attention is also drawn to the unaudited pro forma financial information on the
Enlarged Group as set out in Appendix III to this circular. The unaudited pro forma statement
of assets and liabilities of the Enlarged Group is prepared as if the Acquisition has been taken
place on 31 March 2008. Based on the unaudited pro forma financial information on the
Enlarged Group set out in Appendix III to this circular, the financial effects of the Acquisition
are summarized below:
Net asset value
As extracted from the annual report for the year ended 31 March 2008, the audited
consolidated total assets and total liabilities of the Group amounted to approximately
HK$166.25 million and HK$19.94 million, respectively. The net asset value attributable to the
Shareholders was approximately HK$146.31 million.
As set out in Appendix III to this circular, assuming Completion had taken place on 31
March 2008, the unaudited pro forma total assets and total liabilities of the Enlarged Group
would be approximately HK$254.19 million and HK$21.98 million, respectively. The Enlarged
Group’s unaudited pro forma net asset value attributable to the Shareholders would be
approximately HK$232.21 million, representing an increase of approximately 58.71% over the
audited consolidated net asset value of the Group attributable to the Shareholders as at 31
March 2008.
Gearing
Based on the Company’s annual report for the year ended 31 March 2008, the Group did
not have any interest-bearing bank borrowing as at 31 March 2008 with cash and cash
equivalent and pledged time deposits amounted to approximately HK$84.65 million as at 31
March 2008. Given that (i) the Allotment Shares Consideration is expected to be financed by
internal financial resources of the Group and (ii) the 100% principal amount of the Convertible
Notes will be recognized as equity of the Company (as indicated in the unaudited pro forma
financial information of the Enlarged Group as set out in Appendix III to this circular), it is
therefore expected that the Acquisition will not result in any material adverse impact on the
Group’s gearing.
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Earnings
The Directors consider that after commencement of the commercial operation of the
Waste Treatment Plant, the municipal waste management business and the subsequent sale of
the organic fertilizers generated from the municipal waste collected will contribute positively
to the revenue base of the Enlarged Group. However, the quantification of such impact will
depend on the future demand of the above-mentioned business conducted by the Enlarged
Group.
FINANCIAL AND TRADING PROSPECT OF THE ENLARGED GROUP
The Group is principally engaged in the provision of cleaning and related services in
Hong Kong as well as medical waste treatment in China. Upon Completion, the Group’s
existing waste treatment businesses in China will be extended to cover municipal waste in
Shuyang City.
As disclosed in the Company’s annual report for the year ended 31 March 2008, the Group
has placed continuous efforts to control costs and improve operational efficiency for its
cleaning and related business so as to maintain its competitiveness. In addition, during the year
ended 31 March 2008 the Group had been able to secure a number of new major cleaning
contracts which had made positive contribution to the Group’s profit.
The Group’s medical waste treatment business had not expanded as rapidly as initially
planned, and the Group has made continuous effort in removing the hurdles so as to establish
its network of medical waste treatment plants in other provinces/cities in China.
As for the municipal waste treatment business of the Enlarged Group, it is expected that
the commencement of the Waste Treatment Plan’s commercial operations will be in or about
January 2009. Having considered that the Waste Treatment Plant will provide an environmental
friendly solution for the disposal of municipal waste which has been a concern for the China’s
government, the Directors are optimistic about the prospects of the Enlarged Group’s
development of its waste treatment business in China.
REASONS FOR AND BENEFITS OF THE ACQUISITION
Information on China’s Municipal Waste Treatment
Municipal wastes (or urban waste) generally include garbage produced by household and
certain commercial wastes collected by municipalities, and can be broadly categorised as
biodegradable wastes (such as food residues), recyclable materials (such as paper, glass,
metals, cans and glass), inert wastes (including construction and demolition wastes such as
brick, stone and sand), composite wastes (such as wasted clothing and toys) and domestic
hazardous wastes (such as batteries and electronic wastes).
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In China, landfill and incineration were two of the most common methods adopted for
disposing municipal wastes over the past years. However, these two methods will cause severe
secondary pollutions such as the release of dioxin and generation of toxic waste which may
then penetrate to the soil. According to the China Statistical Year Book for 2002 to 2008, the
volume of municipal wastes disposed in China increased from 134.70 tonnes in 2001 to 152.15
tonnes in 2007, representing a compound annual growth rate of approximately 2.05%. Given
the continuous growth in China’s economy, coupled with the rapid industrialisation and
expansion of urban area, it is expected that the production of municipal wastes will continue
to increase. Therefore, the on-going application of the conventional landfill and incineration
methods for disposing municipal wastes are undesirable. With an increasing concern on
environmental protection to avoid further pollution, the government of China emphasized the
importance of proper disposal of municipal wastes to reduce pollution and included such
environmental protection issue in The Outline of the 11th Five-year Plan For National
Economic and Social Development of China. In July 2007, the Ministry of Housing and
Urban-Rural Development issued the
(Management Rules on
Municipal Waste) to further tighten the regulations on disposal of municipal wastes. As such,
the conversion of municipal wastes into other useful products (such as organic fertilisers and
refuse-derived-fuels) by Shuyang ITAD represents an environmental friendly solution to the
disposal of municipal waste in China.
Under the circumstances, the Directors consider that the Acquisition will not only provide
the Group with an opportunity to leverage on the rising demand of municipal waste
management business in China which are encouraged by the government of China, the
application of the proprietary patented ITAD technology owned by the Vendor will also allow
the Group to enjoy a “first-mover” advantage to establish a strong foothold in China’s
municipal waste management business. Furthermore, given the growing demand for organic
agricultural products in recent years, it is expected that subsequent sales of the organic
fertilisers converted from the municipal wastes will also provide the Group with additional
income, and thus will enhance the future financial performance of the Group. Accordingly, the
Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors) consider that the Acquisition is
fair and reasonable and is in the interest of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.
REALLOCATION OF USE OF PROCEEDS
As disclosed in the announcement and circular made by the Company on 15 May 2007
and 6 June 2007 respectively, the net proceeds of approximately HK$98,650,000 from the
Private Placement will be applied by the Group to fund the completion of the sale and purchase
of 65% of the issued share capital of Seasun Group Limited as announced on 4 May 2007, and
the balance of which (the “Balance”) will be applied to fund part of the investment cost for
implementing the project relating to the handling of medical waste in China as announced on
29 November 2006 and 4 May 2007.
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However, as disclosed in the Company’s annual report for the year ended 31 March 2008,
the expansion of the Group’s medical waste treatment business was not as quickly as planned,
for purpose of better utilising the funding obtained from the Private Placement, it is proposed
that, in addition to funding the project relating to the medical waste treatment in China (as
announced on 29 November 2006 and 4 May 2007), out of the Balance (amounted to
approximately HK$69.50 million as at 31 October 2008), HK$44.8 million will be applied
towards payment of the Allotment Shares Consideration and the remaining amount of the
Balance will be applied as the working capital of the Group in addition to funding the project
relating to the medical waste in China.
PROPOSED GRANT OF SPECIFIC MANDATE TO ISSUE SHARES
It is proposed that the issue and allotment of the Conversion Shares will be made under
the Specific Mandate and the Company will seek the grant of the Specific Mandate from
Independent Shareholders at the EGM.
LISTING RULES IMPLICATIONS
As the applicable percentage ratios (as defined in the Listing Rules) in respect of the
Acquisition are more than 25% but less than 100%, the Acquisition constitutes a major
transaction of the Company under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules. In addition, as Dr. Lo and
Ms. Ko, being the executive Directors, indirectly own 80% equity interest in Lo’s E-P Biotech
(being the sole shareholder of the Vendor), the Vendor is a connected person of the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, and the Acquisition constitutes a connected transaction
of the Company. The Acquisition (including the issue of the Convertible Notes and the issue
and allotment of the Conversion Shares) is subject to the requirements of reporting,
announcement and Independent Shareholders’ approval under Chapters 14 and 14A of the
Listing Rules.
In addition, given that the Allotment Shares Consideration will be financed by part of the
Balance, the above-mentioned re-allocation of the usage of net proceeds from the Private
Placement is also considered an integral part of the Acquisition and is therefore subject to
Independent Shareholders’ approval at the EGM.
THE EGM
The notice convening the EGM of the Company to be held at Plaza IV, Lower Lobby,
Novotel Century Hong Kong, 238 Jaffe Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong on Wednesday, 10
December 2008 at 2:30 p.m. is set out on pages 168 to 170 of this circular, at which ordinary
resolutions will be proposed for Independent Shareholders to consider and, if thought fit,
approve, (i) the Acquisition Agreement (as supplemented by the Supplemental Agreement) and
the transactions contemplated thereunder; (ii) the Subscription Agreement (including the issue
of the Convertible Notes under the Subscription Agreement); (iii) the reallocation of usage of
the net proceeds from the Private Placement and (iv) the Specific Mandate, by way of a poll.
Lo’s Family, being the controlling Shareholder, together with its associates (as defined under
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the Listing Rules), and all parties involved in or interested in the Acquisition and the issue of
the Convertible Notes, and the issue and allotment of the Conversion Shares are required to
abstain from voting with respect to each of the resolutions regarding the above at the EGM. To
the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief having made all reasonable
enquiries, as at the Latest Practicable Date, Lo’s Family which held 420,000,000 Shares,
representing approximately 53.92% of the issued share capital of the Company and Ms. Ko,
who held 1,700,000 Shares, representing approximately 0.22% of the issued share capital of the
Company, are the parties which are required to abstain from voting at the EGM in this regard.
A form of proxy for the EGM is enclosed with this circular. If you are not able to attend
the EGM, you are requested to complete the form of proxy in accordance with the instructions
printed on it and return it to the share registrars of the Company, Tricor Tengis Limited, 26th
Floor, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong as soon as possible and in
any event not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the EGM or any
adjournment of the meeting. Completion and return of the form of proxy shall not preclude you
from attending and voting in person at the EGM or any adjournment of the meeting thereof
should you so desire.
PROCEDURES FOR DEMANDING A POLL
Pursuant to Article 76 of the Articles of Association of the Company, at any general
meeting a resolution put to the vote of the meeting shall be decided on a show of hands unless
(before or on the declaration of the result of the show of hands or on the withdrawal of any
other demand for a poll) a poll is duly demanded. A poll may be demanded by:
(i)

the chairman of the meeting; or

(ii) at least five members present in person (or in the case of a corporation, by its duly
authorised representative) or by proxy and entitled to vote; or
(iii) any member or members present in person (or in the case of a corporation, by its
duly authorised representative) or by proxy and representing in the aggregate not
less than one-tenth of the total voting rights of all the members having the right to
attend and vote at the meeting; or
(iv) any member or members present in person (or in case of a corporation, by its duly
authorised representative) or by proxy and holding shares conferring a right to
attend and vote at the meeting on which there have been paid up sums in aggregate
equal to not less than one-tenth of the total sum paid up on all the shares conferring
that right.
Under the Listing Rules, the ordinary resolutions to be proposed at the EGM to approve
the Acquisition Agreement (as supplemented by the Supplemental Agreement), the
Subscription Agreement (including the issue of the Convertible Notes), the reallocation of
usage of net proceeds from the Private Placement and the Specific Mandate are required to be
voted on by poll.
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RECOMMENDATION
Based on the above, the Directors are of the opinion that the terms of the Acquisition
Agreement (as supplemented by the Supplemental Agreement), the transactions contemplated
thereunder (including the Acquisition, the issue of the Convertible Notes under the
Subscription Agreement and the issue and allotment of Conversion Shares), the proposed
reallocation of usage of net proceeds from the Private Placement and the Specific Mandate are
fair and reasonable, and are in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole,
and accordingly recommend the Shareholders to vote in favour of the resolutions to be
proposed at the EGM.
The Independent Board Committee comprising all of the three independent non-executive
Directors has been established to advise the Independent Shareholders on the terms of the
Acquisition Agreement (as supplemented by the Supplemental Agreement), the transactions
contemplated thereunder (including the Acquisition, the issue of the Convertible Notes under
the Subscription Agreement and the issue and allotment of Conversion Shares), the proposed
reallocation of usage of net proceeds from the Private Placement and the Specific Mandate.
None of the members of the Independent Board Committee have any interest in the Acquisition
Agreement (as supplemented by the Supplemental Agreement) and the transactions
contemplated thereunder (including the Acquisition, the issue of the Convertible Notes under
the Subscription Agreement and the issue and allotment of Conversion Shares) and are
therefore entitled to give independent recommendation to the Independent Shareholders. Your
attention is drawn to its letter of recommendation set out on pages 32 to 33 of this circular.
Ample Capital has been appointed to advise the Independent Board Committee and the
Independent Shareholders in the same regard. Your attention is drawn to its letter of advice set
out on pages 34 to 57 of this circular.
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
Your attention is also drawn to the additional information set out in the Appendices to this
circular.
Yours faithfully,
For and on behalf of the Board of
Lo’s Enviro-Pro Holdings Limited
Lo Kou Hong
Chairman
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24 November 2008
To the independent shareholders of the Company
Dear Sir or Madam,

MAJOR AND CONNECTED TRANSACTION
ACQUISITION OF A WASTE TREATMENT BUSINESS IN CHINA
We refer to the circular of the Company dated 24 November, 2008 (the “Circular”), of
which this letter forms part. Unless specified otherwise, capitalised terms used herein shall
have the same meanings as those defined in the Circular.
We have been appointed by the Board to advise you on the terms of the Acquisition
Agreement (as supplemented by the Supplemental Agreement), the transactions contemplated
thereunder (including the Acquisition, the issue of the Convertible Notes under the
Subscription Agreement and the issue and allotment of Conversion Shares), the proposed
reallocation of usage of net proceeds from the Private Placement and the Specific Mandate.
Ample Capital has been appointed as the Independent Financial Adviser to advise you and us
in this regard. Details of their advice, together with the principal factors and reasons they have
taken into consideration in giving such advice, are set out on pages 34 to 57 of the Circular.
Your attention is also drawn to the section headed “Letter from the Board” in this circular and
the additional information set out in the appendices thereto.
Having considered the terms of the Acquisition Agreement (as supplemented by the
Supplemental Agreement), the transactions contemplated thereunder (including the
Acquisition, the issue of the Convertible Notes under the Subscription Agreement and the issue
and allotment of Conversion Shares), the proposed reallocation of usage of net proceeds from
the Private Placement and the Specific Mandate, and taking into account of the independent
advice of Ample Capital, in particular the principal factors, reasons and recommendation as set
out in its letter on pages 34 to 57 of the Circular, we consider that the terms of the Acquisition
Agreement (as supplemented by the Supplemental Agreement), the transactions contemplated
thereunder (including the Acquisition, the issue of the Convertible Notes under the
Subscription Agreement and the issue and allotment of Conversion Shares), the proposed
reallocation of usage of net proceeds from the Private Placement and the Specific Mandate are
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fair and reasonable as far as the Independent Shareholders are concerned and the entering into
of the Acquisition Agreement (as supplemented by the Supplemental Agreement) is in the
interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole. Accordingly, we recommend that
you vote in favour of the ordinary resolutions to be proposed at the EGM to approve the
Acquisition Agreement (as supplemented by the Supplemental Agreement), the transactions
contemplated thereunder (including the Acquisition, the issue of the Convertible Notes under
the Subscription Agreement and the issue and allotment of Conversion Shares), the proposed
reallocation of usage of net proceeds from the Private Placement and the Specific Mandate.
Yours faithfully,
For and on behalf of the Independent Board Committee
Cheng Kai Tai, Allen
Chiu Wai Piu
Wang Qi
Independent
Independent
Independent
non-executive Director
non-executive Director
non-executive Director
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The following is the full text of the letter of advice from Ample Capital in respect of the
Acquisition Agreement (as supplemented by the Supplemental Agreement) and is prepared for
the purpose of incorporation into this circular.

Ample Capital Limited
Unit A, 14th Floor
Two Chinachem Plaza
135 Des Voeux Road Central
Hong Kong
24 November 2008
To the Independent Board Committee and
the Independent Shareholders of
Lo’s Enviro-Pro Holdings Limited
Dear Sirs,

MAJOR AND CONNECTED TRANSACTION −
ACQUISITION OF ORGANIC WASTE TREATMENT BUSINESS IN THE PRC
INTRODUCTION
We refer to our engagement by the Company to advise the Independent Board Committee
and the Independent Shareholders in respect of the Acquisition and the issue of the Convertible
Notes, the particulars of which have been set out in a circular to the Shareholders dated 24
November 2008 (the “Circular”) and in which this letter is reproduced. Unless the context
requires otherwise, terms used in this letter shall have the same meanings as given to them in
the Circular.
Ample Capital has been appointed as the independent financial adviser to the Independent
Board Committee and the Independent Shareholders to give our recommendation as to whether
the terms of the Acquisition Agreement (as supplemented by the Supplemental Agreement) and
the transactions contemplated thereunder including (i) the issue of the Convertible Notes under
the Subscription Agreement; (ii) the issue and allotment of the Conversion Shares; and (iii) the
proposed reallocation of usage of the net proceeds from the Private Placement are fair and
reasonable so far as the Independent Shareholders are concerned. Details of the reasons for the
proposed Acquisition are set out in the section headed “Letter from the Board” in the Circular
(the “Board Letter”).
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On 26 October 2008, the Company as the Purchaser and the Vendor entered into the
Acquisition Agreement (as supplemented by the Supplemental Agreement dated 3 November
2008) pursuant to which the Company has conditionally agreed to (i) purchase the Sales
Shares, representing 58% of the issued share capital of Peixin as at the Latest Practicable Date
(or approximately 41% of the issued share capital of Peixin as enlarged by the issue and
allotment of the Allotment Shares) from the Vendor; and (ii) subscribe for the Allotment Shares
(representing approximately 29% of the issued share capital as enlarged by the issue and
allotment of the Allotment Shares) for the Consideration of HK$109.8 million comprising (i)
the Sale Shares Consideration, which will be satisfied by the issue of the Convertible Notes at
the principal amount of HK$65.0 million to the Vendor (or its nominees) under the
Subscription Agreement; and (ii) the Allotment Shares Consideration, which will be satisfied
by the cash payment of HK$44.8 million to Peixin (expected to be financed by the internal
resources of the Group). Upon Completion, Peixin will become an indirect 70% non
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.
The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability whose shares
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. The Group is principally engaged in the
provision of cleaning and related services in Hong Kong as well as medical waste treatment in
China. Upon Completion, the Group’s existing waste treatment business will be extended to
cover municipal waste in Shuyang City.
As the applicable percentage ratios (as defined in the Listing Rules) in respect of the
Acquisition are more than 25% but less than 100%, the Acquisition constitutes a major
transaction of the Company under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules. In addition, Dr. Lo and Ms.
Ko, being the executive Directors, indirectly own 80% equity interest in Lo’s E-P Biotech
(being the sole shareholder of the Vendor), the Vendor is a connected person of the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, and the Acquisition constitutes a connected transaction
of the Company. The Acquisition (including the issue of the Convertible Notes and the issue
and allotment of the Conversion Shares) is subject to the requirements of reporting,
announcement and Independent Shareholders’ approval under Chapters 14 and 14A of the
Listing Rules.
In addition, given that the Allotment Shares Consideration will be financed by part of the
Balance, the re-allocation of the usage of net proceeds from the Private Placement is also
considered an integral part of the Acquisition and is therefore subject to the Independent
Shareholders’ approval at the EGM.
In formulating our opinion, we have relied on the accuracy of the information and
representations contained in the Circular and the information and representations provided to
us by the Directors and management of the Group and have assumed that all information and
representations made by the Group and the Directors were true, accurate and complete at the
time they were made and continue to be so as at the date of the Circular. We consider that we
have obtained from the Company all of the necessary information on which to form a
reasonable basis for our opinion. We have also assumed that all statements of belief, opinion
and intention made by the Directors in the Circular were reasonably made after due enquiry.
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We have no reason to suspect that any material facts have been omitted or withheld from the
information contained or opinions expressed in the Circular nor to doubt the truth, accuracy
and completeness of the information and representations provided to us by the Directors. We
have not, however, conducted an independent in-depth investigation into the affairs of the
Group nor have we carried out any independent verification of the information supplied.
PRINCIPAL FACTORS CONSIDERED
In arriving at our opinion in relation to the Agreement, we have taken into consideration
the following factors:
1.

Background information

As mentioned earlier, the Group is principally engaged in the provision of cleaning
and related services in Hong Kong as well as medical waste treatment in China. Upon a
review of the Company’s annual report for the year ended 31 March 2008 (the “Annual
Report”), we note that the Company recorded a consolidated turnover of approximately
HK$188,567,000 for the year ended 31 March 2008, representing an approximately
22.23% increase when compared with the consolidated turnover of approximately
HK$154,276,000 recorded during the year ended 31 March 2007. During the year ended
31 March 2008, the Company also experienced an increase of its consolidated loss to
approximately HK$55,722,000, an amount which is approximately 61.34% higher than
the consolidated loss of approximately HK$34,536,000 recorded during the year ended 31
March 2007. The Directors attribute the loss recorded during the year ended 31 March
2008 to the profit of the Group’s cleaning and related services of approximately
HK$3,472,000 which was offset by: (i) losses of approximately HK$8,510,000 from the
medical waste treatment business, (ii) the loss of approximately HK$2,503,000 incurred
by the discontinued building maintenance and renovation business, (iii) the charge to the
income statement of share options expenses of approximately HK$7,912,000 and (iv) a
write-off due to impairment of goodwill of HK$39,185,000. As at 31 March 2008, the
Company had consolidated total assets, total liabilities and net assets of approximately
HK$166,254,000, HK$19,946,000 and HK$146,308,000 respectively.
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2.

Information on the Peixin Group

As shown in the Board Letter, Peixin is an investment company incorporated in the
BVI on 3 January 2006 and is wholly-owned by the Vendor. The principal asset of Peixin
is its investment in Shuyang ITAD, being the principal operating subsidiary of the Peixin
Group. Selected key financial information of Peixin as extracted from the Accountant’s
Report in Appendix II to this Circular is set out below:
Period
from
3 January
2006 to
31 March
2006
HK$’000

Year ended
31 March
2007
HK$’000

Year ended
31 March
2008
HK$’000

Four
months
ended
31 July
2008
HK$’000

Other income

–

73

74

38

Net profit/(loss)

–

(1,327)

(2,265)

(1,135)

Total assets
(as at period end)

1

19,379

53,152

87,938

Total (liabilities)
(as at period end)

–

(19,976)

(52,785)

(86,469)

Net assets/(liabilities)
(as at period end)

1

(597)

367

1,469

It is further stated in the Board Letter that Shuyang ITAD is a wholly foreign owned
enterprise established in China on 11 May 2006. After the Completion, it is intended that
Shuyang ITAD will be principally engaged in the municipal waste management in China
and the related business, which includes, among other things, (i) the development and
operations of the Waste Treatment Plant; (ii) the conversion of municipal waste into other
products such as organic fertilizers, nutrient soil, plastic pellets and refused-derived fuels;
(iii) the subsequent sale of the products (particularly organic fertilizers) converted from
the waste collected; and (iv) the research and development of waste recycling
technologies and their related applications. As represented by the Vendor, Shuyang ITAD
has not yet commenced its business operations as at the Latest Practicable Date, pending
for the completion of the establishment of the Waste Treatment Plant. As advised by the
Vendor, the Waste Treatment Plant has a designed operating capacity of approximately
500 tons per day and is expected to commence its commercial operations in or about
January 2009. In addition, the Vendor has signed the Investment Agreement with the
Shuyang municipal government, whereby, among other things, Shuyang municipal
government has undertaken to the Vendor that for each of the three years after
commencement of the Waste Treatment Plant’s business operation, Shuyang municipal
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government will provide municipal waste of not less than 300 tons per day to the Waste
Treatment Plant for treatment, and pay the Vendor a subsidy of RMB20.0 (equivalent to
approximately HK$22.4) for each ton of municipal waste being treated. The Vendor has
undertaken to procure the signing of an investment agreement between Peixin and
Shuyang municipal government whereby Shuyang municipal government shall grant to
Peixin the same rights as the Vendor have under the terms of the Investment Agreement.
Subject to the consent of Shuyang municipal government, Peixin and Shuyang municipal
government will enter into such investment agreement and the Vendor will cancel its
Investment Agreement with Shuyang municipal government simultaneously.
Furthermore, the Vendor has also confirmed that the patented ITAD technology
owned by the Vendor, being one of the major environmental biotechnologies to be
licensed to Shuyang ITAD, is a proven technology for the conversion of municipal waste
into organic fertilizer, whereby the organic fertilizer produced has been registered by the
Vendor with the Ministry of Agriculture of China as suitable for agricultural use. The
Vendor has undertaken to license the patented ITAD technology to Shuyang ITAD to
TM
convert municipal waste into organic fertilizer and to license the Fertilife
,
TM
TM
ITAD
and
trademarks for Shyuyang ITAD to use, all at nil consideration.
The licenses to be granted to Shuyang ITAD shall be effective as long as the Waste
Treatment Plant is in operations and selling the organic fertilizers generated. Upon
commencement of the operation of the Waste Treatment Plant, Shuyang ITAD will also
make the necessary application to the Ministry of Agriculture of China for a provisional
organic fertilizer registration certificate (
) to have its organic fertilizer
product registered as suitable for argricultural use, and such application is subject to the
approval by the Ministry of Agriculture of China.
We set out below the Group structure (i) as at the Latest Practicable Date and (ii)
immediately after Completion and full exercise of the conversion rights attached to the
Convertible Notes.
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(i)

As at the Latest Practicable Date

*

Dr. Lo and Ms. Ko are the beneficiaries of Lo’s Family

**

an Independent Third Party
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(ii) immediately after Completion and full exercise of the conversion rights
attached to the Convertible Notes

3.

*

Dr. Lo and Ms. Ko are the beneficiaries of Lo’s Family

**

an Independent Third Party

Reasons for the Acquisition
3.1 Views of the Directors as stated in the Board Letter
As mentioned in the Board Letter, municipal wastes (or urban waste) generally
include garbage produced by household and certain commercial wastes collected by
municipalities, and can be broadly categorized as biodegradable wastes (such as
food residues), recyclable materials (such as paper, glass, metals cans and glass),
inert wastes (including construction and demolition wastes such as brick, stone and
sand), composite wastes (such as wasted clothing and toys) and domestic hazardous
wastes (such as batteries and electronic wastes).
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In China, landfill and incineration were two of the most common methods
adopted for disposing municipal wastes over the past years. However, these two
methods will cause severe secondary pollutions such as the release of dioxin and
generation of toxic waste which may then penetrate to the soil. According to the
China Statistical Year Book for 2002 to 2008, the volume of municipal wastes
disposed in China increased from 134.70 tonnes in 2001 to 152.15 tonnes in 2007,
representing a compound annual growth rate of approximately 2.05%. Given the
continuous growth in China’s economy, coupled with the rapid industrialization and
expansion of urban area, it is expected that the production of municipal wastes will
continue to increase. Therefore, the on-going application of the conventional landfill
and incineration methods for disposing municipal wastes are undesirable. With an
increasing concern on environmental protection to reduce further pollution, the
government of China emphasized the importance of proper disposal of municipal
wastes to minimize pollution and included such environmental protection issue in
The Outline of the 11th Five-year Plan For National Economic and Social
Development of China. In July 2007, the Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural
Development issued the
(Management Rules on Municipal
Waste) to further tighten the regulations on disposal of municipal wastes. As such,
the conversion of municipal wastes into other useful products (such as organic
fertilizers and refuse-derived-fuels) by Shuyang ITAD represents an environmental
friendly solution to the disposal of municipal waste in China.
Under the circumstances, the Directors consider that the Acquisition will not
only provide the Group with an opportunity to leverage on the rising demand of
municipal waste management business in China which are encouraged by the
government of China, the application of the proprietary patented ITAD technology
owned by the Vendor will also allow the Group to enjoy a “first-mover” advantage
to establish a strong foothold in China’s municipal waste management business.
Furthermore, given the growing demand for organic agricultural products in recent
years, it is expected that subsequent sales of the organic fertilizers converted from
the municipal wastes will also provide the Group with additional income, and thus
will enhance the future financial performance of the Group. Accordingly, the
Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors) consider that the
Acquisition is fair and reasonable and is in the interest of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole.
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3.2 Overview of garbage disposal and investment in urban environmental
infrastructure in China
We set out below two charts illustrating the annual volume of garbage disposal
in (i) China and (ii) the Jiangsu province (where the Waste Treatment Plant is
located) respectively from years 2001 to 2007.
Garbage disposal in China
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As illustrated in the first chart, the volume of garbage disposal in China has
been increasing from the year 2001 to 2005. In 2006, the volume of garbage disposal
in China declined and despite the increase in 2007, the volume of garbage disposal
did not meet the level reached at its peak in 2005. From 2001 to 2007, the compound
annual growth rate (“CAGR”) in the volume of garbage disposal in China was
approximately 2.05%. In the Jiangsu province, the volume of garbage disposal
experienced a steady increase during each of the years from 2001 to 2007. During
this period, the CAGR in the volume of garbage disposal in Jiangsu, China was
approximately 5.98%. Such percentage increase in the Jiangsu province is
significantly higher than the national average.
The following chart illustrates the amount of investment in urban
environmental infrastructure facilities in China from 2000 to 2006.
Investment in urban environmental infrastructure facilities in China
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Source: Annual statistic report on environment in China (
Environmental Protection Administration of China (

) 2006 by State
)

As demonstrated in the chart above, the amount of investment in urban
environmental infrastructure facilities in China has been increasing from 2000 to
2006. However, the pace of growth is noticeably slower in the year 2006 than in the
prior years. From 2000 to 2006, the CAGR in investment in urban environmental
infrastructure facilities in China was approximately 15.24%.
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4.

Terms of the Acquisition Agreement
4.1 The Consideration
The aggregate Consideration for (i) the acquisition of the Sale Shares and (ii)
subscription of the Allotment Shares is HK$109.8 million comprising of (i) the Sale
Shares Consideration which will be satisfied by the issue of the Convertible Notes
at the principal amount of HK$65.0 million to the Vendor (or its nominees) and (ii)
the Allotment Shares Consideration which will be satisfied by the cash payment of
HK$44.8 million to Peixin (expected to be financed by the internal resources of the
Group).
It is stated in the Board Letter that the Consideration of HK$109.8 million was
determined after arm’s length negotiation between the Company and the Vendor and,
with reference to, among other things, the estimated total investment cost of
approximately HK$151.20 million (which also includes the future capital
requirement of Shuyang ITAD of approximately HK$44.80 million to be funded by
the Allotment Shares Consideration) incurred and/or to be incurred since the
establishment of Shuyang ITAD up to the successful commercial operations of
Shuyang ITAD, comprising, among other things, the construction of the Waste
Treatment Plant and certain pre-operating expenses during the initial operating stage
of Shuyang ITAD.
The Board Letter further states that having considered:
(i)

it is the strategic and long term development plan of the Company to
broaden its existing medical waste management business in China to
cover municipal wastes;

(ii) the growing demand for municipal waste management in China;
(iii) the Consideration being comparable to the Group’s attributable interest of
70% in the estimated total investment cost of Shuyang ITAD, amongst
which approximately HK$86.43 million (based on the audited financial
statements of Peixin Group in Appendix II to the Circular) had been
contributed by the Vendor as at 31 July 2008 in the form of Shareholder’s
Loan (which the Vendor has subsequently agreed to waive under the
Acquisition Agreement (as supplemented by the Supplemental
Agreement));
(iv) the Conversion Price representing substantial premium to the recent
trading prices of the Shares;
(v)

the Profit Adjustment(s) mechanism on the Sale Shares Consideration;

(vi) the proven application of the patented proprietary ITAD technology
owned by the Vendor to generate organic fertilizers from municipal
wastes; and
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(vii) the Allotment Shares Consideration to be primarily applied for the
business development on Peixin Group’s waste management business in
China (including the completion of the establishment of the Waste
Treatment Plant),
the Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors) consider that the
Consideration is fair and reasonable and is in the interests of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole.
Based on the Consideration of HK$109.8 million for an effective 70.0%
interest in Peixin, the valuation of a 100% interest in Peixin is approximately
HK$156.9 million.
To determine the fairness and the reasonableness of the Consideration, we have
identified 5 companies listed in Hong Kong (the “Consideration Comparable(s)”)
which are principally engaged in businesses similar to that of the Peixin Group, i.e.
production of bio-fertilizers or businesses related to environmental protection. Save
for Creative Energy Solutions Holdings Limited (stock code: 8109) which was
principally engaged in environmental protection related businesses and is in
liquidation as announced by it on 7 May 2007, the Consideration Comparables
represent all of the relevant companies identified by us in our search on the Stock
Exchange’s website. On the basis that the Consideration Comparables are engaged
in similar businesses to that of the Peixin Group, we consider that the selection of
the Consideration Comparables is fair and reasonable and the Consideration
Comparables are a fair and representative sample. In our comparison, we have
adopted an analysis on the price-to-earning (“P/E”) ratio of Peixin and the
Consideration Comparables. The P/E ratio of Peixin was calculated based on the
valuation of a 100% interest in Peixin of approximately HK$156.9 million as
mentioned in the preceding paragraph together with, as the case may be, the 2009
Guaranteed Profit or 2010 Guaranteed Profit of not less than RMB10.0 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$11.2 million) and RMB30.0 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$33.6 million) respectively. As the Waste Management Plant is
still under construction and actual business operations have not commenced as of the
Latest Practicable Date, we do not consider an analysis of the audited figures of
Peixin derived from the Accountant’s Report in Appendix II to this Circular to be
meaningful.
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Market
capitalization/
valuation1
HK$’000

Net
profit2
HK$’000

P/E3
times

Production and sale
of fertilizers and biopesticides in the PRC

330,694

70,3304

4.7

Pan Asia Environmental
Protection Group
Limited (556)

Sale of environmental protection
products and equipment,
environmental protection
construction engineering
projects and provision of
environmental protection
related professional services

472,000

234,5825

2.0

Tianjin Capital
Environmental
Protection Company
Limited (1065)

Sewage water processing, tap
water supply, production of
recycled water and
construction materials and
operation of toll roads

999,0606

204,4817

4.9

Eco-Tek Holdings Limited
(8169)

Marketing, sale, servicing,
research and development of
environmental protection and
quality health related products
and services

103,277

11,524

9.0

Shenzhen Dongjiang
Environmental Company
Limited (8230)

Production and sales of recycled
products and the provision of
waste treatment services;
construction and operation of
environmental protection
systems; trading of chemical
products; and consultation
service

1,330,0508

162,0629

8.2

Average:

5.8

Name of company
(stock code)

Principal business

Century Sunshine
Ecological Technology
Holdings Limited (509)

Peixin (based on the 2009
Guaranteed Profit)

Municipal waste management
in China and the related
business

156,900

11,200

14.0

Peixin (based on the 2010
Guaranteed Profit)

Municipal waste management
in China and the related
business

156,900

33,600

4.7

Source: http://www.hkexnews.hk/
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Notes:
1.

For the Consideration Comparables, the market capitalization was calculated based on their
respective closing price per share on the Last Trading Day. For Peixin, the calculation of
the valuation for its 100% interest is discussed in this section 4.1.

2.

For the Consideration Comparables, the net profit was obtained from their respective latest
annual report. For Peixin, the net profit is based on the 2009 Guaranteed Profit and the
2010 Guaranteed Profit.

3.

The P/E was calculated with market capitalization/valuation (as the case may be) divided
by net profit.

4.

The net profit of this Consideration Comparable was based on the net profit of
RMB62,795,000 for the year ended 31 December 2007 and an exchange rate of RMB1 =
HK$1.12.

5.

The net profit of this Consideration Comparable was based on the net profit of
RMB209,448,000 for the year ended 31 December 2007 and an exchange rate of RMB1 =
HK$1.12.

6.

The market capitalization of this Consideration Comparable was based on 340,000,000 H
shares and 1,087,228,000 A shares.

7.

The net profit of this Consideration Comparable was based on the net profit of
RMB182,572,000 for the year ended 31 December 2007 and an exchange rate of RMB1 =
HK$1.12.

8.

The market capitalization of this Consideration Comparable was based on 177,900,000 H
shares and 449,481,872 domestic shares.

9.

The net profit of this Consideration Comparable was based on the net profit of
RMB144,698,000 for the year ended 31 December 2007 and an exchange rate of RMB1 =
HK$1.12.

As demonstrated in the analysis presented above, the P/E ratio of the
Consideration Comparables range from approximately 2.0 times to 9.0 times, with
the average P/E ratio being approximately 5.8 times. As for Peixin, the P/E ratio
based on the 2009 Guaranteed Profit and the 2010 Guaranteed Profit are
approximately 14.0 times and 4.7 times respectively. In a discussion with us, the
Group’s management has expressed its intention of holding the Peixin Group as a
long-term investment. It is noted that many markets across the world has
experienced unusual volatility during the period immediately preceding the Last
Trading Day. During this period, many major indices worldwide have experienced
substantial downward adjustments which many would attribute to the ongoing
“financial crisis of 2008”. In particular, it is noted that the benchmark index of Hong
Kong, the Hang Seng Index (the “HSI”), has closed at 12,618 on the Last Trading
Day (i.e. 24 October 2008). During the 1 month period immediately preceding the
Last Trading Day, the HSI has seen an approximately 33.36% decline after closing
at 18,934 on 25 September 2008.
On the basis that (i) the P/E ratio of Peixin based on the 2010 Guaranteed Profit
of approximately 4.7 times is lower than the average P/E ratio of the Consideration
Comparables of approximately 5.8 times; (ii) the Group’s management has stated
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that the investment in the Peixin Group is of a long term nature; and (iii) the
Consideration Comparables may have been significantly devalued during the
ongoing “financial crisis of 2008”, we consider the Consideration of HK$109.8
million for an effective 70% interest in Peixin is fair and reasonable and in the
interest of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.
4.2 The Profit Adjustment(s)
As explained in the Board Letter, the Vendor has warranted that the 2009
Guaranteed Profit and the 2010 Guaranteed Profit shall be not less than RMB10.0
million (equivalent to approximately HK$11.2 million) and RMB30.0 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$33.6 million) respectively. In the event that (i) the
2009 Actual Profit falls below the 2009 Guaranteed Profit; or (ii) the 2010 Actual
Profit falls below the 2010 Guaranteed Profit, the principal amount of the First
Tranche Convertible Notes (in the case of (i) above) and/or the Second Tranche
Convertible Notes (in the case of (ii) above) will be adjusted downwards by
deducting an amount calculated based on the formulas below, subject to a maximum
of HK$32,500,000 for each case:
Amount to be deducted from the principal amount of the First Tranche
Convertible Notes:
Amount to be deducted
from the principal
amount of the First
Tranche Convertible
Notes

=

Principal amount of the First Tranche
Convertible Notes x [(2009 Guaranteed
Profit – 2009 Actual Profit)/2009
Guaranteed Profit]

Amount to be deducted from the principal amount of the Second Tranche
Convertible Notes:
Amount to be deducted
from the principal
amount of the Second
Tranche Convertible
Notes

=

Principal amount of the Second Tranche
Convertible Notes x [(2010 Guaranteed
Profit – 2010 Actual Profit)/2010
Guraranteed Profit]

It is noted that in the calculation of the amount to be deducted from the
principal amount of the Convertible Notes, the reduction of the principal amount of
the Convertible Notes is based on a ratio of the shortfall of the actual profit to the
guaranteed profit in the relevant year. Based on the above, we are of the view that
the adjustment mechanism is fair and reasonable and in the interest of the Company
and the Shareholders as a whole.
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4.3 The Convertible Notes
As settlement of the Sale Shares Consideration in the amount of
HK$65,000,000, the Company will issue the nil interest Convertible Notes with a
principal amount of HK$65,000,000 and a maturity date of 1 January 2012 (i.e. a
term of just over 3 years on the assumption that Completion would take place on or
before 31 December 2008). The holders of the Convertible Notes will have the right
to convert the principal amount of the Convertible Notes in two tranches of HK$32.5
million each (subject to the Profit Adjustment(s)), in whole but not in part, at the
Conversion Price of HK$0.31 per Share (subject to adjustment) into a maximum of
209,677,419 Conversion Shares.
The Conversion Price of HK$0.31 per Conversion Share (subject to adjustment
(if any) to be made in accordance with the terms of the Convertible Notes)
represents:
(i)

a premium of approximately 82.35% over the closing price of HK$0.17
per Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange on the Last Trading Day;

(ii) a premium of approximately 72.22% over the average closing price of
approximately HK$0.18 per Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange for
the last 5 consecutive trading days up to and including the Last Trading
Day;
(iii) a premium of approximately 63.16% over the average closing price of
approximately HK$0.19 per Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange for
the last 10 consecutive trading days up to and including the Last Trading
Day;
(iv) a premium of approximately 66.67% over the closing price of HK$0.186
per Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange on the Latest Practicable
Date; and
(v)

a premium of approximately 63.16% over the Company’s audited
consolidated net assets per Share of approximately HK$0.19 as at 31
March 2008.

It is stated in the Board Letter that in view of the significant premium of the
Conversion Price over the recent market price of the Shares prior to the entering into
of the Acquisition Agreement, the Directors (including the independent nonexecutive Directors) are of the view that the Conversion Price is fair and reasonable
and is in the interest of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.
We set out below the historical closing price per Share and the daily turnover
of the Shares on the Stock Exchange during the 6-month period up to and including
the Last Trading Day (the “Review Period”).
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Closing price per Share on the Stock Exchange

Closing price per Share (HK$)
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Source: http://www.hkex.com.hk/
Note:

It is noted that during the Review Period, the Company has repurchased an aggregate of
19,308,000 Shares on 19 and 30 September 2008 and 2, 3, 6, 8, 9, 10, 13, 14 and 15
October 2008. The 19,308,000 repurchased Shares represents approximately 45.62% and
4.73% of the trading volume of the Shares on the relevant trading days and the entire
Review Period respectively.

As illustrated above, the closing price of the Shares on the Stock Exchange has
generally been on a downward trend during the Review Period which may possibly
be attributable to the expansion of the Group’s consolidated loss to approximately
HK$55,722,000 during the year ended 31 March 2008 as discussed in section 1 of
this letter. During the Review Period, the average closing price per Share was
approximately HK$0.31 per Share, an amount which is equivalent to the Conversion
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Price. We also note that the daily trading volume of the Shares on the Stock
Exchange has been relatively thin during the Review Period, averaging
approximately 3,346,779 Shares, representing approximately 0.43% of the
Company’s issued share capital of 783,692,000 Shares as at the Latest Practicable
Date. As mentioned in the note to the above charts, the Company has repurchased
19,308,000 Shares during the Review Period. The trading volume of the Shares
would become even thinner if those repurchased Shares are not taken into account.
For the purpose of comparison, we have identified 13 Hong Kong listed
companies (the “CN Comparable(s)”) which have announced an issue of convertible
note/bond during the 2 month period ended 26 October 2008, being the date of the
Acquisition Agreement. The CN Comparables were identified through a search on
the website of the Stock Exchange and the CN Comparables include all of the issue
of convertible note/bond announced during the aforementioned period as identified
by us in that search. On the basis that the CN Comparables have recently announced
the issue of similar instruments to the Convertible Notes, we consider that the
selection of the CN Comparables is fair and reasonable and the CN Comparables are
a fair and representative sample.

Name of company (stock code)
Argos Enterprise (Holdings)
Limited (8022)
Unity Investments Holdings
Limited (913)
China Solar Energy Holdings
Limited (155)
Intelli-Media Group (Holdings)
Limited (8173)
Radford Capital Investments
Limited (901)
Melco LottVentures Limited
(8198)
Gay Giano International Group
Limited (686)

Term
years

Interest rate
% p.a.

Premium/
(discount) of
conversion price
to the closing
price as at the
last trading day
prior to the
release of the
announcement
%

15 October 2008

3

1.0

32.00

9 October 2008

3

0.0

(5.71)

3 October 2008

2

n/a1

0.00

3 October 2008

3

3.0

69.21

29 September 2008

3

0.0

(9.09)

28 September 2008

5

0.1

27.05

26 September 2008

3

2.0

38.50

Date of
announcement
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Name of company (stock code)
Sun Innovation Holdings
Limited (547)
Rising Development Holdings
Limited (1004)
WLS Holdings Limited (8021)
Neolink Cyber Technology
(Holdings) Limited (8116)
China Fortune Holdings Limited
(110)
China Chief Cable TV Group
Limited (8153)

Term
years

Interest rate
% p.a.

Premium/
(discount) of
conversion price
to the closing
price as at the
last trading day
prior to the
release of the
announcement
%

26 September 2008

1.52

5.0

12.90

25 September 2008

3

0.0

(13.04)

22 September 2008

2

8.0

300.00

17 September 2008

5

0.0

33.33

5 September 2008

2

0.0

133.33

2 September 2008

3

2.0

0.22

3.0

1.8

47.59

33

0.0

82.35

Date of
announcement

Average:
The Company

3 November 2008

Notes:
1.

The interest rate for this CN Comparable is equivalent to the best lending rate for Hong Kong
dollar loan as quoted from time to time by the Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation
Limited and is therefore not comparable to the interest rate of the Convertible Notes which is of
a fixed nature.

2.

The maturity date for this CN Comparable is 12 March 2010 which translates to a term of roughly
1.5 years.

3.

The maturity date of 1 January 2012 for the Convertible Notes translates to a term of roughly 3
years on the assumption that Completion would take place on or before 31 December 2008.

As demonstrated in the above analysis, the respective term to maturity of the
CN Comparables range from 1.5 to 5 years with the average term being
approximately 3.0 years. As for the interest rate, the range of the CN Comparables
is from 0.0% to 8.0% per annum with an average of approximately 1.8% per annum.
For the deviation of the conversion price to latest closing price, the range of the CN
Comparables is from a discount of approximately 13.04% to a premium of
approximately 300.00% resulting in an average premium of approximately 47.59%.
We consider that the term to maturity of a convertible note/bond is simply a
commercial term associated with the relevant instrument and the length of which has
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no particular benefit or disadvantage to the issuer or the subscriber. It is noted that:
(i) the nil interest rate of the Convertible Notes is below the average figure of the
CN Comparables of approximately 1.8% per annum; and (ii) the 82.35% premium
of the Conversion Price over the closing price per Share on the Last Trading Day is
approximately 73.04% higher than the CN Comparables’ average premium of
approximately 47.59%.
Based on the analysis conducted above, we consider that the terms of the
Convertible Notes (including the issue and allotment of the Conversion Shares under
the Specific Mandate) are fair and reasonable and in the interest of the Company and
the Shareholders as a whole.
5.

Reallocation of use of proceeds

As stated in the Board Letter, the Company disclosed in the announcement and
circular made by the Company on 15 May 2007 and 6 June 2007 respectively, the net
proceeds of approximately HK$98,650,000 from the Private Placement will be applied by
the Group to fund the completion of the sale and purchase of 65% of the issued share
capital of Seasun Group Limited as announced on 4 May 2007, and the Balance will be
applied to fund part of the investment cost for implementing the project relating to the
handling of medical waste in China as announced on 29 November 2006 and 4 May 2007.
It is further stated in the Board Letter that the expansion of the Group’s medical
waste treatment business was not as quickly as planned. For the purpose of better utilizing
the funding obtained from the Private Placement, it is proposed that, in addition to
funding the project relating to the medical waste treatment in China (as announced on 29
November 2006 and 4 May 2007), out of the Balance (amounted to approximately
HK$69.50 million as at 31 October 2008), HK$44.8 million will be applied towards
payment of the Allotment Shares Consideration and the remaining amount of the Balance
will be applied as the working capital of the Group in addition to funding the projects
relating to the medical wastes treatment in China.
Having considered (i) the benefits of the Acquisition discussed in section 3 of this
letter; (ii) the terms of the Acquisition discussed in section 4 of this letter; and (iii) the
Directors’ representation as to the developments within the Group as discussed above, we
consider that the proposed reallocation of use of proceeds is fair and reasonable and in
the interest of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.
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6.

Shareholding structure of the Company

Assuming no adjustment will be made on the principal amount of the Convertible
Notes, the shareholding structure of the Company (i) as at the Latest Practicable Date and
(ii) immediately after the exercise of the conversion rights attached to the Convertible
Notes in full are set out as below:

As at the Latest
Practicable Date
Shares
Controlling Shareholders
and Directors:
– Lo’s Family
– Ms. Ko
– Mr. Cheung Pui Keung,
James

Triple Kind
Awards Technology
Public Shareholders
Total

%

Immediately after the
exercise of the conversion
rights attached to the
Convertible Notes in full
Shares
%

(Note 1)
(Note 2)

420,000,000
1,700,000

53.92%
0.22%

420,000,000
1,700,000

42.48
0.17

(Note 2)

280,000

0.04%

280,000

0.03

421,980,000

54.18%

421,980,000

42.68

–
–
356,945,000

–
–
45.82%

167,741,935
41,935,484
356,945,000

16.97
4.24
36.11

778,925,000

100.00%

988,602,419

100.00

(Note 3)

Notes:
1.

These Shares were owned by the Lo’s Family as the trustee of The Lo’s Family Unit Trust, a unit trust
of which all the units in issue were owned by the Equity Trustee Limited as the trustee of The Lo’s
Family Trust, a discretionary trust of which the beneficiaries include Dr. Lo’s family members.

2.

The Directors.

3.

The issued share capital of Triple Kind is owned as to 50% by Dr. Lo and 50% by Ms. Ko.

4.

Based on the above, it is expected that this issue of the Convertible Notes and the exercise of the
conversion rights attached to the Convertible Notes will not result in any change of control of the
Company.
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It is noted that the shareholding of the public Shareholders would decrease from
approximately 45.82% to 36.11% immediately after the full exercise of the conversion
rights attached to the Convertible Notes. This reduction translates into a dilution of
approximately 21.19%. Having considered the potential benefits of the Acquisition as
discussed in section 3 of this letter, we consider that the potential dilution to the
shareholding of the public Shareholders arising out of the full conversion of the
Convertible Notes is acceptable.
7.

Financial effects of the Acquisition
7.1 Earnings
In the audited financial statements reproduced in Appendix I to the Circular,
the Company recorded a consolidated loss of approximately HK$55,722,000 during
the year ended 31 March 2008. As discussed earlier, the Vendor has warranted that
the 2009 Guaranteed Profit and the 2010 Guaranteed Profit shall be not less than
RMB10.0 million (equivalent to approximately HK$11.2 million) and RMB30.0
million (equivalent to approximately HK$33.6 million) respectively. We believe that
the Acquisition would provide a positive contribution to the Group’s bottom line if
the guaranteed profits indeed materialize. It is also noted that the Convertible Notes
carry nil interest and would therefore not incur any interest expenses to the Group.
7.2 Net asset value
It is noted from the “Unaudited pro forma consolidated balance sheet of the
Enlarged Group upon completion of the Acquisition” set out in Appendix III to the
Circular (the “Pro Forma Balance Sheet”) that the Group’s consolidated net assets
as at 31 March 2008 of approximately HK$146,308,000 would increase to
approximately HK$232,209,000 for the Enlarged Group, representing an
approximately 58.71% increase. In particular, the waiver of the Shareholder’s Loan
(as mentioned in section 4.1 of this letter) in the amount of approximately
HK$86,432,000 as at 31 July 2008 as illustrated by the pro forma adjustment
explained under note 1(c) to the Pro Forma Balance Sheet is expected to
significantly increase the net assets of the Peixin Group upon Completion. Based on
the above, the Acquisition is expected to have a positive impact on the Enlarged
Group’s net asset value.
7.3 Gearing
As per the Pro Forma Balance Sheet, the Company had nil total debts and total
equity of approximately HK$146,308,000 as at 31 March 2008, translating into a
debt-to-equity ratio (total debts/total equity x 100%) of 0.00%. The Pro Forma
Balance Sheet demonstrates that the Acquisition is not expected to increase the total
debts of the Enlarged Group upon Completion. In particular, the principal amount of
the Convertible Notes will be recognized as equity of the Company (as indicated in
the Pro Forma Balance Sheet). As such, the debt-to-equity ratio immediately
following Completion is expected to remain at 0.00%.
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7.4 Liquidity
The Pro Forma Balance Sheet demonstrates that the Company had total current
assets and total current liabilities of approximately HK$127,601,000 and
approximately HK$19,135,000 respectively as at 31 March 2008, translating into a
current ratio (current assets/current liabilities) of approximately 6.67. We consider
that a current ratio of 1 or above generally indicates that the relevant company is in
healthy financial condition as it indicates that the company’s current assets is
supposed to be able to cover the obligations arising out of the current liabilities as
they become due. As shown in the Pro Forma Balance Sheet, the total current assets
and total current liabilities of the Enlarged Group is expected to be approximately
HK$148,027,000 and HK$21,172,000 respectively. The current ratio of the Enlarged
Group of approximately 6.99 represents an approximately 4.80% improvement over
the Group’s current ratio of approximately 6.67 as at 31 March 2008.
CONCLUSION
Having considered the above principal factors and in particular:
•

the Directors consider that the Acquisition will provide the Group with an
opportunity to leverage on the rising demand of municipal waste management
business in China which are encouraged by the government of China;

•

the Directors expect that subsequent sales of the organic fertilizers converted from
the municipal wastes will also provide the Group with additional income, and thus
will enhance the future financial performance of the Group;

•

the Company suffered a consolidated loss of approximately HK$55,722,000 during
the year ended 31 March 2008;

•

the Vendor has warranted that the 2009 Guaranteed Profit and the 2010 Guaranteed
Profit shall be not less than RMB10.0 million (equivalent to approximately HK$11.2
million) and RMB30.0 million (equivalent to approximately HK$33.6 million)
respectively;

•

the P/E ratio of Peixin based on the 2010 Guaranteed Profit of approximately 4.7
times is lower than the average P/E ratio of the Consideration Comparables of
approximately 5.8 times;

•

the Conversion Price of HK$0.31 per Conversion Share represents: (i) a premium of
approximately 82.35% over the closing price of HK$0.17 per Share as quoted on the
Stock Exchange on the Last Trading Day, (ii) a premium of approximately 66.67%
over the closing price of HK$0.186 per Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange on
the Latest Practicable Date, (iii) a premium of approximately 63.16% over the
Company’s audited consolidated net assets per Share of approximately HK$0.19 as
at 31 March 2008; and (iv) the average closing price per Share of approximately
HK$0.31 during the Review Period;
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•

in respect of the Convertible Notes: (i) the nil interest rate of the Convertible Notes
is below the average figure of the CN Comparables of approximately 1.8% per
annum, and (ii) the 82.35% premium of the Conversion Price over the closing price
per Share on the Last Trading Day is approximately 73.04% higher than the CN
Comparables’ average premium of approximately 47.59%; and

•

the expected positive impacts on the financial position of the Enlarged Group as
discussed in section 7 of this letter.

We are of the opinion that the terms of the Acquisition (including the Convertible Notes)
are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.
In addition, we consider that the Acquisition is on normal commercial terms and in the ordinary
and usual course of business of the Group. Accordingly, we would recommend (1) the
Independent Board Committee to advise the Independent Shareholders and (2) the Independent
Shareholders, to vote in favor of the ordinary resolutions to approve the Acquisition Agreement
(as supplemented by the Supplemental Agreement) and the transactions contemplated
thereunder including (i) the issue of the Convertible Notes under the Subscription Agreement;
(ii) the issue and allotment of the Conversion Shares; (iii) the proposed reallocation of usage
of net proceeds from the Private Placement; and (iv) the Specific Mandate at the EGM.
Yours faithfully,
For and on behalf of
Ample Capital Limited
H. W. Tang
President
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE GROUP
1.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The auditors of the Company, Ernst & Young, expressed unqualified opinions on the
financial statements of the Group for each of the three years ended 31 March 2008, and
summary of the aforesaid audited consolidated income statement information of the Group for
each of the three years ended 31 March 2008 (as extracted from the Company’s annual reports
for the year ended 31 March 2007 and 2008, with the comparative income statement
re-presented for illustration purpose) is set out as below:
CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
Year ended 31 March 2008
2006
HK$’000

2007
HK$’000

2008
HK$’000

161,444
1,975
(137,366)
(1,724)
–
–
(26,628)

154,276
2,209
(136,480)
(1,626)
(126)
–
(24,546)

188,567
3,086
(165,931)
(1,982)
(39,185)
(274)
(37,496)

(2,299)
246

(6,293)
9

(53,215)
–

(2,053)

(6,284)

(53,215)

(2,504)

(28,252)

(2,507)

LOSS FOR THE YEAR

(4,557)

(34,536)

(55,722)

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent
Minority interests

(3,946)
(611)

(34,170)
(366)

(51,906)
(3,816)

(4,557)

(34,536)

(55,722)

CONTINUING OPERATIONS
REVENUE
Other income and gains
Staff costs
Depreciation
Impairment of goodwill
Impairment of due from an associate
Other operating expenses
LOSS BEFORE TAX
Tax
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FROM
CONTINUING OPERATIONS
DISCONTINUED OPERATION
Loss for the year from a discontinued
operation
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2006
HK$’000

2007
HK$’000

2008
HK$’000

(Restated)

(Restated)

Basic
– For loss for the year

(0.66 cent)

(5.26 cents)

(6.77 cents)

– For loss from continuing operations

(0.24 cent)

(0.91 cent)

(6.44 cents)

LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS
OF THE PARENT
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AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Set out below are the audited financial statements of the Group, together with the notes
thereto for each of the two years ended 31 March 2008, as extracted from the annual report of
the Company for the year ended 31 March 2008.
“CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
Year ended 31 March 2008

CONTINUING OPERATIONS
REVENUE
Other income and gains
Staff costs
Depreciation
Impairment of goodwill
Impairment of due from an associate
Other operating expenses

Notes

2008
HK$’000

2007
HK$’000

5

188,567

154,276

5

3,086
(165,931)
(1,982)
(39,185)
(274)
(37,496)

2,209
(136,480)
(1,626)
(126)
–
(24,546)

(53,215)

(6,293)

14

LOSS BEFORE TAX

6

Tax

9

LOSS FOR THE YEAR FROM CONTINUING
OPERATIONS
DISCONTINUED OPERATION
Loss for the year from a discontinued operation

11

LOSS FOR THE YEAR
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent
Minority interests

10

LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF
THE PARENT

–

9

(53,215)

(6,284)

(2,507)

(28,252)

(55,722)

(34,536)

(51,906)
(3,816)

(34,170)
(366)

(55,722)

(34,536)

12
(Restated)

Basic
– For loss for the year

(6.77 cents)

(5.26 cents)

– For loss from continuing operations

(6.44 cents)

(0.91 cents)
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
31 March 2008

Notes
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Goodwill
Interest in an associate
Deposit paid for acquisition of plant and
equipment

13
14
16

Total non-current assets
CURRENT ASSETS
Financial asset at fair value through profit or loss
Due from an associate
Contract work in progress
Trade receivables
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables
Tax recoverable
Pledged time deposits
Cash and cash equivalents

17
16
18
19
19
20
20

Total current assets
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade payables
Other payables and accrued liabilities
Due to a minority shareholder of subsidiaries
Interest-bearing bank borrowings, secured
Total current liabilities
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21
22
23
24

2008
HK$’000

2007
HK$’000

23,711
–
–

3,503
–
–

14,942

4,952

38,653

8,455

–
822
–
40,226
1,899
–
4,022
80,632

3,862
1,043
1,535
34,957
3,159
29
16,130
38,285

127,601

99,000

827
18,308
–
–

9,597
16,532
1,088
4,096

19,135

31,313

APPENDIX I
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2008
HK$’000

2007
HK$’000

NET CURRENT ASSETS

108,466

67,687

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES
NON-CURRENT LIABILITY
Provision for long service payments

147,119

76,142

811

817

146,308

75,325

7,837
141,745

3,627
72,549

149,582

76,176

Notes

25

Net assets

EQUITY
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent
Issued capital
Reserves

Minority interests

26
28(a)

(3,274)

Total equity

146,308
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Year ended 31 March 2008
Attributable to equity holders of the parent
Retained
Issued
share
capital
Notes

HK$’000
(note 26)

At 1 April 2006

Share

Capital

premium redemption
account

reserve

HK$’000

HK$’000

(note 26)

Share

profits/

Exchange

option Contributed (accumulated fluctuation

Minority

Total

reserve

surplus

losses)

reserve

Total

interests

equity

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

HK$’000

24,490

–

73,055

(485)

72,570

(note 28(a))

3,000

17,138

–

1,669

26,758

–

–

–

–

–

–

(17)

(17)

–

(17)

–

–

–

–

–

(34,170)

–

(34,170)

(366)

(34,536)

–

–

–

–

–

(34,170)

(17)

(34,187)

(366)

(34,553)

Exchange realignment and
total income and expense
for the year recognised
directly in equity
Loss for the year
Total income and expense
for the year
Equity-settled share option
arrangements

–

–

–

605

–

–

–

605

–

605

26

600

36,000

–

–

–

–

–

36,600

–

36,600

exercise of options

26

27

1,447

–

–

–

–

–

1,474

–

1,474

Share issue expenses

26

–

(1,371)

–

–

–

–

–

(1,371)

–

(1,371)

26

–

253

–

(253)

–

–

–

–

–

–

Issue of shares
Issue of shares upon

Transfer of reserve upon
exercise of options
At 31 March 2007

3,627

53,467*

–*

2,021*

26,758*

(9,680)*

(17)*

76,176

(851)

75,325

At 1 April 2007

3,627

53,467

–

2,021

26,758

(9,680)

(17)

76,176

(851)

75,325

–

–

–

–

–

–

1,118

1,118

900

2,018

–

–

–

–

–

(51,906)

–

(51,906)

(3,816)

(55,722)

Exchange realignment and
total income and expense
for the year recognised
directly in equity
Loss for the year
Total income and expense
–

–

–

–

–

(51,906)

1,118

(50,788)

(2,916)

(153,704)

Disposal of a subsidiary

for the year

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

485

485

Acquisition of subsidiaries

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

8

8

Equity-settled share option
arrangements
Issue of shares

26

–

–

–

7,912

–

–

–

7,912

–

7,912

4,227

114,973

–

–

–

–

–

119,200

–

119,200

Share issue expenses

26

–

(1,345)

–

–

–

–

–

(1,345)

–

(1,345)

Repurchase of shares

26(e)

(17)

–

17

–

–

(1,573)

–

(1,573)

–

(1,573)

149,582

(3,274)

146,308

At 31 March 2008

*

7,837

167,095*

17*

9,933*

26,758*

(63,159)*

1,101*

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$141,745,000 (2007: HK$72,549,000) in the
consolidated balance sheet as at 31 March 2008.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
Year ended 31 March 2008

Notes
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax
From continuing operations
From a discontinued operation
Adjustments for:
Finance costs
Depreciation
Interest income
Loss on disposal of items of property,
plant and equipment
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries
Impairment of trade receivables and
bad debts written off
Impairment of other receivables
Fair value (gain)/loss on a financial asset
at fair value through profit or loss
Equity-settled share option expense
Impairment of goodwill
Impairment of due from an associate
Provision for long service payments
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net

2008
HK$’000

2007
HK$’000

11

(53,215)
(2,507)

(6,293)
(28,252)

6
6
5

8
2,002
(2,555)

573
1,683
(1,533)

6
6

–
634

612
–

6
6

–
–

9,403
1,058

(21)
7,912
39,185
274
92
–

33
605
126
–
–
(17)

(8,191)
(53)
1,535
(13,856)

(22,002)
(130)
5,300
(17,430)

107
(1,656)
4,042
(98)

(1,147)
4,683
2,647
(222)

Cash used in operations
Interest paid
Hong Kong profits tax refunded

(18,170)
(8)
29

(28,301)
–
–

Net cash outflow from operating activities

(18,149)

(28,301)

Increase in an amount due from an associate
Decrease in contract work in progress
Increase in trade receivables
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, deposits
and other receivables
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables
Increase in other payables and accrued liabilities
Decrease in provision for long service payments
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Notes
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of items of property, plant and
equipment
13, 31(a)
Deposit paid for acquisition of plant and
equipment
Proceeds from disposal of items of property,
plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of a financial asset
at fair value through profit or loss
Acquisition of a subsidiary
29
Disposal of subsidiaries
30
Purchases of a financial asset at fair value
through profit or loss
Interest received
Decrease/(increase) in pledged time deposits
Decrease in pledged cash and bank balances
Net cash outflow from investing activities
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Interest paid
Proceeds from issue of shares
Share issue expenses
New bank loans
Repayment of bank loans
Repurchase of shares
Increase in an amount due to a minority
shareholder of subsidiaries

26(c)
26

26(e)

2008
HK$’000

2007
HK$’000

(16,442)

(2,072)

(14,942)

(4,952)

30
3,883
(20,000)
10

106
–
–
–

–
2,555
12,108
–

(3,895)
1,533
(812)
4,110

(32,798)

(5,982)

–
100,000
(1,345)
–
(4,096)
(1,573)

(573)
38,074
(1,371)
4,096
–
–

–

250

Net cash inflow from financing activities

92,986

40,476

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Effect of foreign rate changes, net

42,039
38,285
308

6,193
32,092
–

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT END OF YEAR

80,632

38,285

10,380

19,494

70,252

18,791

80,632

38,285

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances
Non-pledged time deposits with original maturity
of less than three months when acquired
20
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BALANCE SHEET
31 March 2008

Notes

2008
HK$’000

2007
HK$’000

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Interests in subsidiaries

15

75,622

47,727

CURRENT ASSETS
Tax recoverable
Cash and cash equivalents

20

–
70,696

8
27,363

70,696

27,371

312

254

70,384

27,117

146,006

74,844

7,837
138,169

3,627
71,217

146,006

74,844

Total current assets
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Other payables and accrued liabilities

22

NET CURRENT ASSETS
Net assets

EQUITY
Issued capital
Reserves

26
28(b)

Total equity
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2008
1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Lo’s Enviro-Pro Holdings Limited is a limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The
registered office address of the Company is P.O. Box 309 GT, Ugland House, South Church Street, George Town,
Grand Cayman, Cayman Islands, British West Indies. The principal place of business of the Company is located at
3rd Floor, Caltex House, No. 258 Hennessy Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.
During the year, the Group was engaged in the provision of cleaning and related services, the provision of
medical waste treatment services and building maintenance and renovation services. On 28 September 2007, the
Group disposed of and discontinued its business of building maintenance and renovation services, further details of
which are set out in note 11 to the financial statements.
In the opinion of the directors, the parent and the ultimate holding company of the Group is the Lo’s Family,
which is incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.
2.1

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for certain investments, which have
been measured at fair value. These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars and all values are rounded
to the nearest thousand, except when otherwise indicated.
Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2008. The results of
subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control,
and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases. All significant intercompany
transactions and balances within the Group are eliminated on consolidation.
The acquisition of subsidiaries during the year has been accounted for using the purchase method of
accounting. This method involves allocating the cost of the business combinations to the fair value of the
identifiable assets acquired, and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition. The
cost of the acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments
issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the
acquisition.
Minority interests represent the interests of outside shareholders not held by the Group in the results and
net assets of the Company’s subsidiaries.
2.2

IMPACT OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s financial
statements. Except for certain cases giving rise to new and revised accounting policies and additional disclosures, the
adoption of these new and revised standards and interpretations has had no material effect on these financial
statements.
HKFRS 7
HKAS 1 Amendment
HK(IFRIC)-Int 8
HK(IFRIC)-Int 9
HK(IFRIC)-Int 10
HK(IFRIC)-Int 11

Financial Instruments: Disclosures
Capital Disclosures
Scope of HKFRS 2
Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives
Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment
HKFRS 2 – Group and Treasury Share Transactions
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The principal effects of adopting these new and revised HKFRSs are as follows:
(a)

HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures

This standard requires disclosures that enable users of the financial statements to evaluate the
significance of the Group’s financial instruments and the nature and extent of risks arising from those financial
instruments. The new disclosures are included throughout the financial statements. While there has been no
effect on the financial position or results of operations of the Group, comparative information has been
included/revised where appropriate.
(b)

Amendment to HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements – Capital Disclosures

This amendment requires the Group to make disclosures that enable users of the financial statements to
evaluate the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for managing capital. These new disclosures are shown
in note 37 to the financial statements.
(c)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 8 Scope of HKFRS 2

This interpretation requires HKFRS 2 to be applied to any arrangement in which the Group cannot
identify specifically some or all of the goods or services received, for which equity instruments are granted
or liabilities (based on a value of the Group’s equity instruments) are incurred by the Group for a consideration,
and which appears to be less than the fair value of the equity instruments granted or liabilities incurred. As
the Company has only issued equity instruments to the Group’s employees in accordance with the Company’s
share option scheme, the interpretation has had no effect on these financial statements.
(d)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives

This interpretation requires that the date to assess whether an embedded derivative is required to be
separated from the host contract and accounted for as a derivative is the date that the Group first becomes a
party to the contract, with reassessment only if there is a change to the contract that significantly modifies the
cash flows. As the Group has no embedded derivative requiring separation from the host contract, the
interpretation has had no effect on these financial statements.
(e)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 10 Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment

The Group has adopted this interpretation as of 1 April 2007, which requires that an impairment loss
recognised in a previous interim period in respect of goodwill or an investment in either an equity instrument
classified as available-for-sale or a financial asset carried at cost is not subsequently reversed. As the Group
had no impairment losses previously reversed in respect of such assets, the interpretation has had no impact
on the financial position or results of operations of the Group.
(f)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 11 HKFRS 2 – Group and Treasury Share Transactions

This interpretation requires arrangements whereby an employee is granted rights to the Group’s equity
instruments, to be accounted for as an equity-settled scheme, even if the Group acquires the instruments from
another party, or the shareholders provide the equity instruments needed. HK(IFRIC)-Int 11 also addresses the
accounting for share-based payment transactions involving two or more entities within the Group. The
Company grants share options to the employees of its subsidiaries, which may result in the change of
accounting policy for share-based payment transactions in the financial statements of the relevant subsidiaries.
The interpretation has had no effect on the financial statements of the Group and the Company.
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IMPACT OF ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet
effective, in these financial statements.
HKFRS 2 Amendment
HKFRS 3 (Revised)
HKFRS 8
HKAS 1 (Revised)
HKAS 23 (Revised)
HKAS 27 (Revised)
HKAS 32 & HKAS 1 Amendments
HK(IFRIC)-Int 12
HK(IFRIC)-Int 13
HK(IFRIC)-Int 14

Share-based Payment – Vesting Conditions and Cancellations
Business Combinations
Operating Segments
Presentation of Financial Statements
Borrowing Costs
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
Puttable Financial Instruments
Service Concession Arrangements
Customer Loyalty Programmes
HKAS 19 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum
Funding Requirements and their Interaction

Amendment to HKFRS 2 shall be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009. This
amendment restricts the definition of “vesting condition” to a condition that includes an explicit or implicit
requirement to provide services. Any other conditions are non-vesting conditions, which have to be taken into account
to determine the fair value of the equity instruments granted. In the case that the award does not vest as the result
of a failure to meet a non-vesting condition that is within the control of either the entity or the counterparty, this must
be accounted for as a cancellation. As the Group has no non-vesting conditions at the balance sheet date, this
amendment is unlikely to have any impact on the Group.
HKFRS 3 (Revised) shall be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009. The revised
standard introduces a number of changes in the accounting for business combinations that will impact the amount of
goodwill recognised, the reported results in the period that an acquisition occurs, and future reported results. As the
Group has no such transactions, it is unlikely to have any financial impact on the Group.
HKFRS 8 shall be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009. This standard, which will
replace HKAS 14 Segment Reporting, specifies how an entity should report information about its operating segments,
based on information about the components of the entity that is available to the chief operating decision maker for
the purposes of allocation resources to the segments and assessing their performance. The standard also requires the
disclosure of information about the products and services provided by the segments, the geographical areas in which
the Group operates, and revenue from the Group’s major customers. The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 8 from 1
April 2009.
HKAS 1 (Revised) shall be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009. The revised
standard separates owner and non-owner changes in equity. The statement of changes in equity will include only
details of transactions with owners, with all non-owner changes in equity presented as a single line. In addition, this
standard introduces the statement of comprehensive income: it presents all items of income and expense recognised
in profit or loss, together with all other items of recognised income and expense, either in one single statement, or
in two linked statements. The Group is still evaluating whether it will have one or two statements.
HKAS 23 (Revised) shall be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009. The standard
has been revised to require capitalisation of borrowing costs when such costs are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction of production of a qualifying asset. As the Group’s current policy for borrowing costs aligns
with the requirements of the revised standard, the revised standard is unlikely to have any financial impact on the
Group.
HKAS 27 (Revised) shall be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009. The revised
standard requires that a change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary is accounted for as an equity transaction.
Therefore, such a change will have no impact on goodwill, nor will it give rise to a gain or loss. Furthermore, the
amended standard changes the accounting for losses incurred by the subsidiary as well as the loss of control of a
subsidiary. As the Group currently has no change in control of its subsidiaries, the revised standard is unlikely to have
any financial impact on the Group.
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Amendments to HKAS 32 and HKAS 1 shall be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2009. The amendment to HKAS 32 requires certain puttable financial instruments and obligations arising on
liquidation to be classified as equity if certain criteria are met. The amendment to HKAS 1 requires disclosure of
certain information relating to puttable instruments classified as equity. As the Group has no puttable instruments
currently, these amendments are unlikely to have any impact on the Group.
HK(IFRIC)-Int 12 shall be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2008. The interpretation
requires an operator under public-to-private service concession arrangements to recognise the consideration received
or receivable in exchange for the construction services as a financial asset and/or an intangible asset, based on the
terms of the contractual arrangements. HK(IFRIC)-Int 12 also addresses how an operator shall apply existing
HKFRSs to account for the obligations and the rights arising from service concession arrangements by which a
government or a public sector entity grants a contract for the construction of infrastructure used to provide public
services and/or for the supply of public services. As the Group currently has no such arrangements, the interpretation
is unlikely to have any financial impact on the Group.
HK(IFRIC)-Int 13 shall be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2008. The interpretation
requires that loyalty award credits granted to customers as part of a sales transaction are accounted for as a separate
component of the sales transaction. The consideration received in the sales transaction is allocated between the
loyalty award credits and the other components of the sale. The amount allocated to the loyalty award credits is
determined by reference to their fair value and is deferred until the awards are redeemed or the liability is otherwise
extinguished.
HK(IFRIC)-Int 14 shall be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2008. The interpretation
addresses how to assess the limit under HKAS 19 Employee Benefits, on the amount of a refund or a reduction in
future contributions in relation to a defined benefit scheme that can be recognised as an asset, in particular, when a
minimum funding requirement exists.
As the Group currently has no customer loyalty award credits and defined benefit scheme, HK(IFRIC)-Int 13
and HK(IFRIC)-Int 14 are not applicable to the Group and therefore are unlikely to have any financial impact on the
Group.
The Group is in the process of making an assessment of the impact of these new and revised HKFRSs upon
initial application. So far, it has concluded that while the adoption of HKFRS 8 and HKAS 1 (Revised) may result
in new or amended disclosures, these new and revised HKFRSs are unlikely to have a significant impact on the
Group’s results of operations and financial position.
2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Subsidiaries
A subsidiary is an entity whose financial and operating policies the Company controls, directly or
indirectly, so as to obtain benefits from its activities.
The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s income statement to the extent of dividends
received and receivable. The Company’s interests in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any impairment losses.
Joint ventures
A joint venture is an entity set up by contractual arrangement, whereby the Group and other parties
undertake an economic activity. The joint venture operates as a separate entity in which the Group and the
other parties have an interest.
The joint venture agreement between the venturers stipulates the capital contributions of the joint
venture parties, the duration of the joint venture entity and the basis on which the assets are to be realised upon
its dissolution. The profits and losses from the joint venture’s operations and any distributions of surplus assets
are shared by the venturers, either in proportion to their respective capital contributions, or in accordance with
the terms of the joint venture agreement.
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A joint venture is treated as:
(a)

a subsidiary, if the Group has unilateral control, directly or indirectly, over the joint venture; or

(b)

an associate, if the Group does not have unilateral or joint control, but holds, directly or
indirectly, generally not less than 20% of the joint venture’s registered capital and is in a position
to exercise significant influence over the joint venture.

Associate
An associate is an entity, not being a subsidiary or a jointly-controlled entity, in which the Group has
a long-term interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights and over which it is in a position
to exercise significant influence.
The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and reserves of its associate is included in the
consolidated income statement and consolidated reserves, respectively. The Group’s interest in the associate
is stated in the consolidated balance sheet at the Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of
accounting, less any impairment losses. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between the
Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the associates, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Goodwill
Goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries represents the excess of the cost of the business
combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair values of the acquirees’ identifiable assets acquired, and
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed as at the date of acquisition.
Goodwill on acquisitions for which the agreement date is on or after 1 January 2005
Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised in the consolidated balance sheet as an asset, initially
measured at cost and subsequently at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.
The carrying amount of goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs its annual
impairment test of goodwill as at 31 March.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the
acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that
are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities
of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.
Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of
cash-generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
(group of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.
Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) and part of the
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included
in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation.
Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured based on the relative values of the operation disposed
of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.
Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill
Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required
(other than financial assets, construction contract assets and goodwill), the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and
its fair value less costs to sell, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case, the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable
amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the income statement in the period in which it arises
in those expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.
An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is
reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that
asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of any
depreciation/amortisation), had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of
such impairment loss is credited to the income statement in the period in which it arises.
Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:
(a)

the party, directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, (i) controls, is controlled by,
or is under common control with, the Group; (ii) has an interest in the Group that gives it
significant influence over the Group; or (iii) has joint control over the Group;

(b)

the party is an associate;

(c)

the party is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or its parent;

(d)

the party is a close member of the family of any individual referred to in (a) or (c) above;

(e)

the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by or for
which significant voting power in such entity resides with, directly or indirectly, any individual
referred to in (c) or (d) above; or

(f)

the party is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of the employees of the Group, or of
any entity that is a related party of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress, are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location
for its intended use. Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have been put into
operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to the income statement in the period in which
it is incurred. In situations where it can be clearly demonstrated that the expenditure has resulted in an increase
in the future economic benefits expected to be obtained from the use of an item of property, plant and
equipment, and where the cost of the item can be measured reliably, the expenditure is capitalised as an
additional cost of that asset or as a replacement.
Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of each item of property, plant
and equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for this
purpose are as follows:
Buildings
Leasehold improvements
Furniture and equipment
Motor vehicles
Tools and machinery

5%
Over the lease terms
14.3% – 20%
14.3% – 25%
10% – 3321%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost of that item
is allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated separately.
Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at
each balance sheet date.
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An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the
income statement in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset.
Construction in progress represents buildings and machinery under construction, which is stated at cost
less any impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of construction during the
period of construction. Construction in progress is reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant
and equipment or investment properties when completed and ready for use.
Operating leases
Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of assets remain with the lessor are
accounted for as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases net
of any incentives received from the lessor are charged to the income statement on the straight-line basis over
the relevant lease terms.
Investments and other financial assets
Financial assets in the scope of HKAS 39 are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss and loans and receivables, as appropriate. When financial assets are recognised initially, they are
measured at fair value, plus, in the case of investments not at fair value through profit or loss, directly
attributable transaction costs. The Group assesses whether a contract contains an embedded derivative when
the Group first becomes a party to it and assesses whether an embedded derivative is required to be separated
from the host contract when the analysis shows that the economic characteristics and risks of the embedded
derivative are not closely related to those of the host contract. Reassessment only occurs if there is a change
in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be required under
the contract.
The Group determines the classification of its financial assets after initial recognition and, where
allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates this designation at the balance sheet date.
All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date
that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales
of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading and financial
assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets are classified
as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of sale in the near term. Gains or losses on investments
held for trading are recognised in the income statement. The net fair value gain or loss recognised in the
income statement does not include any dividends or interest earned on these financial assets, which are
recognised in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market. Such assets are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective
interest method less any allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate and
transaction costs. Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when the loans and receivables are
derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process.
Fair value
The fair value of investments that are actively traded in organised financial markets is determined by
reference to quoted market bid prices at the close of business at the balance sheet date. For investments where
there is no active market, fair value is determined using valuation techniques. Such techniques include using
recent arm’s length market transactions; reference to the current market value of another instrument which is
substantially the same; a discounted cash flow analysis; and option pricing models.
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Impairment of financial assets
The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial
asset or a group of financial assets is impaired.
Assets carried at amortised cost
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables carried at amortised cost
has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred)
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed at
initial recognition). The carrying amount of the asset is reduced either directly or through the use of an
allowance account. The amount of the impairment loss is recognised in the income statement. Loans and
receivables together with any associated allowance are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future
recovery.
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment
loss is reversed by adjusting the allowance account. Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised in the income statement, to the extent that the carrying value of the asset does not exceed its
amortised cost at the reversal date.
In relation to trade and other receivables, a provision for impairment is made when there is objective
evidence (such as the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtor and significant
changes in the technological, market economic or legal environment that have an adverse effect on the debtor)
that the Group will not be able to collect all of the amounts due under the original terms of an invoice. The
carrying amount of the receivables is reduced through the use of an allowance account. Impaired debts are
derecognised when they are assessed as uncollectible.
Derecognition of financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is derecognised where:
•

the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;

•

the Group retains the rights to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation
to pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through” arrangement;
or

•

the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.

Where the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset and has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset
is recognised to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset. Continuing involvement that
takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount
of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be required to repay.
Financial liabilities at amortised cost (including interest-bearing loans and borrowings)
Financial liabilities, including trade and other payables, an amount due to a minority shareholder of
subsidiaries and interest-bearing loans and borrowings, are initially stated at fair value less directly attributable
transaction costs and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method unless
the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. The related interest
expense is recognised within “finance costs” in the income statement.
Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when the liabilities are derecognised as well
as through the amortisation process.
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Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled
or expires.
When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the
difference between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the income statement.
Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and demand deposits, and short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally
within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group’s cash management.
For the purpose of the balance sheets, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
including term deposits, which are not restricted as to use.
Provisions
A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a
past event and it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, provided
that a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a provision is the present value
at the balance sheet date of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation. The increase
in the discounted present value amount arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in the
income statement.
Income tax
Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in the income statement, or in
equity if it relates to items that are recognised in the same or a different period directly in equity.
Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected
to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities.
Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the balance sheet
date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:
•

where the deferred tax liability arises from goodwill or the initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

•

in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and an
associate, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it
is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:
•

where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary differences arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

•

in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and an
associate, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be utilised. Conversely, previously unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each
balance sheet date and are recognised to the extent that it is probable that sufficient future taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the
same taxation authority.
Contract work in progress
Contract revenue comprises the agreed contract amount and appropriate amounts from variation orders,
claims and incentive payments. Contract costs incurred comprise direct materials, the costs of subcontracting,
direct labour and an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed construction overheads.
Revenue from fixed price contracts is recognised on the percentage of completion method, measured by
reference to the percentage of certified work performed to date to the estimated total contract sum of the
relevant contracts.
Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised losses exceed progress
billings, the surplus is treated as an amount due from contract customers.
Where progress billings exceed contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised
losses, the surplus is treated as an amount due to contract customers.
Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and when
the revenue can be measured reliably, on the following bases:
(a)

from the rendering of services, when services have been provided;

(b)

from construction contracts, on the percentage of completion basis, as further explained in the
accounting policy for “Contract work in progress” above; and

(c)

interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective interest method by applying the rate that
discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument
to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.
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Employee benefits
Share-based payment transactions
The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to
eligible participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees (including directors)
of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based payment transactions, whereby employees render
services as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).
The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the
date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial model. In
valuing equity-settled transactions, no account is taken of any performance conditions, other than conditions
linked to the price of the shares of the Company (“market conditions”), if applicable.
The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity,
over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which
the relevant employees become fully entitled to the award (the “vesting date”). The cumulative expense
recognised for equity-settled transactions at each balance sheet date until the vesting date reflects the extent
to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the income statement for a period represents the movement in the
cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.
No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is
conditional upon a market condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market
condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance conditions are satisfied.
Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if
the terms had not been modified. In addition, an expense is recognised for any modification, which increases
the total fair value of the share-based payment arrangement, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as
measured at the date of modification.
Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation,
and any expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately. However, if a new award is
substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the
cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.
The Group has adopted the transitional provisions of HKFRS 2 in respect of equity-settled awards and
has applied HKFRS 2 only to equity-settled awards granted after 7 November 2002 that had not vested by 1
January 2005 and to those granted on or after 1 January 2005.
Paid leave carried forward
The Group provides paid annual leave to its employees under their employment contracts on a calendar
year basis. Under certain circumstances, such leave which remains untaken as at the balance sheet date is
permitted to be carried forward and utilised by the respective employees in the following year. An accrual is
made at the balance sheet date for the expected future cost of such paid leave earned during the year by the
employees and carried forward.
Employment Ordinance long service payments
Certain of the Group’s employees have completed the required number of years of service to the Group
in order to be eligible for long service payments under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance (the
“Employment Ordinance”) in the event of the termination of their employment. The Group is liable to make
such payments in the event that such a termination of employment meets the circumstances specified in the
Employment Ordinance.
A provision is recognised in respect of probable future long service payments expected to be made. The
provision is based on the best estimate of the probable future payments which have been earned by the
employees from their service to the Group to the balance sheet date.
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A contingent liability is disclosed in respect of the full possible future long service payments to
employees, as a number of current employees have achieved the required number of years of service to the
Group, to the balance sheet date, in order to be eligible for long service payments under the Employment
Ordinance if their employment is terminated in the circumstances specified. A full provision has not been
recognised in respect of such possible payments as it is not considered probable that they will all result in a
future outflow of resources from the Group.
Retirement benefits schemes
The Group operates a defined contribution staff retirement scheme (the “Scheme”) for certain of its
employees, the assets of which are held separately from those of the Group in an independently administered
fund. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the eligible employees’ basic salaries and are charged
to the income statement as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the Scheme. When an
employee leaves the Scheme prior to his/her interest in the Group’s employer contributions vesting fully, the
ongoing contributions payable by the Group may be reduced by the relevant amount of forfeited contributions.
The Group also operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme
(the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance, for its employees.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the income
statement as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.
Employees have the option to join either one of the above schemes.
The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in Mainland China are required to participate
in a central pension scheme operated by the local government. These subsidiaries are required to contribute
certain of its payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions are charged to the income statement
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.
Foreign currencies
These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional and
presentation currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in
the financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions are initially recorded using the functional currency rates ruling at the date of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional currency
rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. All differences are taken to the income statement.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.
The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are currencies other than the Hong Kong
dollar. As at the balance sheet date, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into the presentation
currency of the Company at the exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date, and their income statements
are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the year. The resulting
exchange differences are included in the exchange fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign entity, the
deferred cumulative amount recognised in equity relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in
the income statement.
For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.
3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities, at the reporting date. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result
in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in
the future.
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Judgements
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following
judgements, apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements:
Profitability and percentage of completion of construction contracts
The Group determines the profitability of its construction contracts based on the net income that could
be obtained after deducting its estimation of the total costs of the contracts. The Group also recognises its
revenue from its contracts by the percentage of completion of the contracts which is measured by reference
to the percentage of certified work performed to date to the estimated total contract sum of the relevant
contracts.
Judgement is also made on the contingency costs that may arise from variation orders and claims as well
as the recovery of such costs from their customers.
Estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
balance sheet date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.
Impairment of goodwill
The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires an
estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the
value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash-generating
units and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
More details are given in note 14 to the financial statements.
Provision for impairment of trade and other receivables
The Group makes provision for impairment of trade and other receivables based on an assessment of the
recoverability of trade and other receivables. Allowances are applied to trade and other receivables where
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the balances may not be collectible. The identification of
impairment of trade and other receivables requires the use of judgement and estimates. Where the expectation
on the recoverability of trade and other receivables is different from the original estimate, such difference will
impact the carrying value of trade and other receivables and impairment expenses in the period in which such
estimate has been changed.
Provision for long service payments
The Group provides for probable future long service payments expected to be made to employees under
the Employment Ordinance. The provision is based on the best estimate of the probable future payments which
have been earned by the employees from their services to the Group to the balance sheet date.
4.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segment information is presented by way of two segment formats: (i) on a primary segment reporting basis,
by business segment; and (ii) on a secondary segment reporting basis, by geographical segment.
The Group’s operating businesses are structured and managed separately according to the nature of their
operations and the services they provide. Each of the Group’s business segments represents a strategic business unit
that offers services which are subject to risks and returns that are different from those of the other business segments.
Summary details of the business segments are as follows:
(a)

the cleaning and related services segment engages in the provision of cleaning and related services for
office buildings, public areas and residential areas;

(b)

the medical waste treatment segment engages in the provision of non-incineration medical waste
handling services for hospitals; and
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the building maintenance and renovation segment engages in construction contract works as a
subcontractor, primarily in respect of building maintenance and renovation projects, which was
discontinued during the year.

In determining the Group’s geographical segments, revenues are attributed to the segments based on the
location of the customers, and assets are attributed to the segments based on the location of the assets.
Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to the selling prices used for sales made to third
parties at the then prevailing market prices.
Business segments
The following tables present revenue, profit/(loss) and certain asset, liability and expenditure
information for the Group’s business segments for the years ended 31 March 2008 and 2007:
Discontinued
operation

Continuing operations

Building
Cleaning and
Medical waste
maintenance and
related services
treatment
Total
renovation
Elimination
Consolidated
2008
2007
2008
2007
2008
2007
2008
2007
2008
2007
2008
2007
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
Segment revenue:
Service income from
external customers
Other income and gains

188,539
514

154,276
976

28
–

–
–

188,567
514

154,276
976

6,507
13

32,340
379

–
–

– 195,074
(300)
527

186,616
1,055

Total

189,053

155,252

28

–

189,081

155,252

6,520

32,719

–

(300) 195,601

187,671

3,472

1,890

(8,510)

(813)

(5,038)

1,077

(2,503) (27,553)

–

–

–

(39,185)

–

2,572
(39,185)

1,533
–

4
–

–
(126)

2,576
(39,185)

1,533
(126)

(274)

–

–

–

(274)
(11,290)
–

–
(8,903)
–

–
–
(8)

–
–
(573)

(274)
(11,290)
(8)

–
(8,903)
(573)

Loss before tax
Tax

(53,215)
–

(6,293)
9

(2,507) (28,252)
–
–

(55,722) (34,545)
–
9

Loss for the year

(53,215)

(6,284)

(2,507) (28,252)

(55,722) (34,536)

Segment results

Interest income and
unallocated gains
Impairment of goodwill
Impairment of amount
due from an associate
Unallocated expenses
Finance costs
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Discontinued
operation

Continuing operations

Building
Cleaning and
Medical waste
maintenance and
related services
treatment
Elimination
Total
renovation
Elimination
Consolidated
2008
2007
2008
2007
2008
2007
2008
2007
2008
2007
2008
2007
2008
2007
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
Assets and liabilities
Segment assets
Due from an associate
Corporate and other
unallocated assets

208,937 113,217
822
1,043

40,196
–

4,952 (83,701)
–
–

– 165,432 118,169
–
822
1,043

–
–

12,535
–

–

3,385

–

–

166,254 122,597

–

12,535

Total assets

Segment liabilities
Due to a minority
shareholder of
subsidiaries
Interest-bearing bank
borrowings, secured
Corporate and other
unallocated liabilities

16,978

16,487

86,669

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

3,385

166,254 107,455

– (83,701)

–

19,946

16,487

–

38,106

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

1,088

–

–

–

1,088

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

4,096

–

–

–

4,096

–

30

–

30

–

30

19,946

16,517

–

43,320

19,946

32,130

Total liabilities

Other segment
information:
Capital expenditure
Depreciation
Impairment losses
recognised in the
income statement in
respect of:
Goodwill
Trade receivables and
bad debts written off
Other receivables

– (27,677) 165,432 103,027
–
–
822
1,043

– (27,677) 19,946

26,916

1,536
1,577

1,988
1,791

19,858
405

–
–

–
–

–
–

21,394
1,982

1,988
1,791

–
20

84
57

–
–

–
–

21,394
2,002

2,072
1,848

–

–

39,185

–

–

–

39,185

–

–

126

–

–

39,185

126

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

9,403
1,058

–
–

–
–

–
–

9,403
1,058
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Geographical segments
The following table presents revenue and certain asset and expenditure information for the Group’s
geographical segments for the years ended 31 March 2008 and 2007.
Hong Kong
2008
2007
HK$’000 HK$’000
Segment revenue:
Sales to external customers
Other income and gains
Attributable to a discontinued
operation

Mainland China
2008
2007
HK$’000 HK$’000

Eliminations
2008
2007
HK$’000 HK$’000

Consolidated
2008
2007
HK$’000 HK$’000

195,046
527

186,616
1,055

28
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

195,074
527

186,616
1,055

(6,520)

(32,719)

–

–

–

–

(6,520)

(32,719)

Revenue from continuing operations

189,053

154,952

28

–

–

–

189,081

154,952

Other segment information:
Segment assets

208,937

98,075

40,196

4,952

(83,701)

–

165,432

103,027

1,536

2,072

19,858

–

–

–

21,394

2,072

Capital expenditure
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

Revenue, which is also the Group’s turnover, represents the net invoiced value of services rendered and income
from building maintenance and renovation contracts. An analysis of the Group’s revenue, other income and gains is
as follows:

Note
Revenue
Cleaning and related service fee income
Medical waste treatment income
Attributable to continuing operations reported in the
consolidated income statement
Building maintenance and renovation contracts attributable
to a discontinued operation

Other income and gains
Bank interest income
Management fee received
Fair value gain on a financial asset at fair value through
profit or loss
Sundry income
Attributable to continuing operations reported in the
consolidated income statement
Bank interest income attributable to a discontinued operation
Sundry income attributable to a discontinued operation
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11

2008
HK$’000

2007
HK$’000

188,539
28

154,276
–

188,567

154,276

6,507

32,340

195,074

186,616

2,551
400

1,533
575

21
114

–
101

3,086
4
13

2,209
–
379

3,103

2,588
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LOSS BEFORE TAX
The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

#

Notes
Cost of services rendered*
Auditors’ remuneration
Minimum lease payments under operating leases
in respect of land and buildings
Depreciation
Less: Amounts capitalised to long-term construction contract

13

Fair value (gain)/loss on a financial asset at fair value
through profit or loss

168,853
800

139,901
515

716

1,141

2,002
–

1,848
(165)

2,002

1,683

154,457
7,912
5,744
(2,931)

Net retirement benefits scheme contributions

2,813

25

Loss on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries
Impairment of trade receivables and bad debts written off
Impairment of other receivables
Finance costs representing interest on bank loans wholly
repayable within five years

2007
HK$’000

(21)

Employee benefits expense (including directors’ remuneration
(note 7)):
Wages, salaries and other benefits
Equity-settled share option expense
Retirement benefits scheme contributions
Forfeited contributions

Provision/(write-back of provision) for
long service payments, net
Provision for untaken paid leave

2008
HK$’000

30

92
976

33

134,323
605
4,609
(2,180)
2,429

(161)
602

166,250

137,798

–
634
–
–

612
–
9,403
1,058

8

573

*

The cost of services rendered included employee benefits expense of HK$149,883,000 (2007:
HK$125,433,000) incurred in the provision of services which have been included in the employee
benefits expense above.

#

The disclosures presented in this note include those amounts charged/credited in respect of the
discontinued operation.

During the year ended 31 March 2008, the Group had no forfeited contributions (2007: HK$280,000) available
to reduce its contributions to the retirement benefits schemes in future years.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules and Section 161 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, is as follows:
Group
2008
2007
HK$’000
HK$’000
Fees
Other emoluments:
Salaries and allowances
Employee share option benefits
Retirement benefits scheme contributions

360

360

1,539
3,780
156

5,092
356
426

5,475

5,874

5,835

6,234

In the prior year, certain directors were granted share options, in respect of their services to the Group, under
the share option scheme of the Company, further details of which are set out in note 27 to the financial statements.
The fair value of such options, which has been recognised in the income statement over the vesting period, was
determined as at the date of grant and the amount included in the financial statements for the current year is included
in the above directors’ remuneration disclosures.
(a)

Independent non-executive directors
Retirement
benefits
scheme
Total
Fees contributions remuneration
HK$’000
HK$’000
HK$’000
2008
Mr. Chiu Wai Piu
Mr. Cheng Kai Tai, Allen
Mr. Wang Qi

120
120
120

6
6
6

126
126
126

360

18

378

120
120
48
72

6
6
2
4

126
126
50
76

360

18

378

2007
Mr.
Mr.
Mr.
Mr.

Chiu Wai Piu
Cheng Kai Tai, Allen
Poon Kwok Kiu
Wang Qi

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent non-executive directors during the year
(2007: Nil).
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Executive directors and a non-executive director

Salaries
and
allowances
HK$’000

Retirement
Employee
benefits
share
scheme
Total
option
benefits contributions remuneration
HK$’000
HK$’000
HK$’000

2008
Executive directors:
Dr. Lo Kou Hong
Ms. Ko Lok Ping,
Maria Genoveffa
Mr. Leung Tai Tsan, Charles
Mr. Cheung Pui Keung, James

–

1,190

–

1,190

–
1,040
416

1,190
700
700

–
96
38

1,190
1,836
1,154

1,456

3,780

134

5,370

83

–

4

87

1,539

3,780

138

5,457

2,232

112

144

2,488

1,040
1,300
520

112
66
66

96
120
48

1,248
1,486
634

5,092

356

408

5,856

Non-executive director:
Professor Bai Qingzhong

2007
Executive directors:
Dr. Lo Kou Hong
Ms. Ko Lok Ping,
Maria Genoveffa
Mr. Leung Tai Tsan, Charles
Mr. Cheung Pui Keung, James

8.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included two (2007: four) directors, details of whose
remuneration are set out in note 7 above. Details of the remuneration of the remaining three (2007: one) non-director,
highest paid employees for the year are as follows:
Group
2008
2007
HK$’000
HK$’000
Salaries and allowances
Employee share option benefits
Retirement benefits scheme contributions
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1,400
33

488
13
12

2,699

513
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The number of non-director, highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as
follows:
Number of employees
2008
2007
HK$’000
HK$’000
Nil to HK$1,000,000
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000

2
1

1
–

3

1

During the prior year, share options were granted to the non-director, highest paid employee in respect of his
services to the Group, further details of which are included in the disclosures in note 27 to the financial statements.
The fair value of such options, which has been recognised to the income statement over the vesting period, was
determined as at the date of grant and the amount included in the financial statements for the current year is included
in the above non-director, highest paid employees’ remuneration disclosures.
9.

TAX

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the Group has available tax losses brought forward
from prior years to offset the assessable profits generated during the year. In the prior year, no provision for Hong
Kong profits tax has been made as the Group did not generate any assessable profits arising in Hong Kong. No
corporate income tax has been provided in Mainland China as the Group did not generate any assessable profits
arising in Mainland China during the year (2007: Nil).
2008
HK$’000

2007
HK$’000

Group:
Current – Hong Kong
Provision for the year
Overprovision in prior years

–
–

–
(9)

Tax credit for the year

–

(9)
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A reconciliation of the tax credit applicable to loss before tax using the statutory rates for the jurisdictions in
which the Company and its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the effective tax rates, is as follows:
Group
Hong Kong
Mainland China
Total
2008
2007
2008
2007
2008
2007
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
Loss before tax (including loss from
a discontinued operation)

Tax at the statutory tax rates
Adjustments in respect of current tax
of previous periods
Income not subject to tax
Expenses not deductible for tax
Tax losses utilised from previous periods
Tax losses not recognised
Other
Tax credit at the Group’s effective rate

(49,982)

(34,545)

(5,740)

–

(55,722)

(34,545)

(8,747)

(6,087)

(1,435)

–

(10,182)

(6,087)

–
(376)
9,305
(447)
214
51

(9)
(176)
263
–
5,978
22

–
–
899
–
536
–

–
–
–
–
–
–

–
(376)
10,204
(447)
750
51

(9)
(176)
263
–
5,978
22

(9)

–

–

–

Represented by:
Tax charge attributable to a discontinued
operation (note 11)
Tax credit attributable to continuing
operations reported in the consolidated
income statement

–

(9)

–

–

–

(9)

–

(9)

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of HK$8,694,000 (2007: HK$38,240,000) which are available
indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose. Deferred tax
assets have not been recognised in respect of these losses because it is not considered probable that taxable profits
will be available against which the tax losses can be utilised.
The Group has tax losses arising in Mainland China of HK$2,145,000 (2007: Nil) that are available for five
years for offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose. Deferred tax assets have
not been recognised in respect of these losses because it is not considered probable that taxable profits will be
available against which the tax losses can be utilised.
10.

LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The consolidated loss attributable to equity holders of the parent for the year ended 31 March 2008 includes
a loss of HK$53,032,000 (2007: HK$34,987,000) which has been dealt with in the financial statements of the
Company (note 28(b)).
11.

DISCONTINUED OPERATION

On 28 September 2007, the Group disposed of its equity interest in Best Crown International Limited (“Best
Crown”) and its subsidiary (collectively “Best Crown group”) for cash consideration of HK$10,000, resulting in a
loss on disposal of subsidiaries of HK$634,000. Best Crown group engaged in the provision of building maintenance
and renovation services and was a separate business segment that is part of the Hong Kong operation. The Group has
decided to cease its building maintenance and renovation business as the operating results of this business had been
deteriorating in the prior year.
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The results of Best Crown group for the year are presented below:
2008
HK$’000

2007
HK$’000

Revenue
Other income
Staff costs
Direct costs of contract works performed
Depreciation
Impairment of trade receivables and bad debts written off
Impairment of other receivables
Other operating expenses
Finance costs:
Interest on bank loans wholly repayable within five years

6,507
17
(319)
(7,990)
(20)
–
–
(60)

32,340
379
(1,318)
(46,724)
(57)
(9,403)
(1,058)
(1,838)

(8)

(573)

Loss of the discontinued operation
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries

(1,873)
(634)

(28,252)
–

Loss before tax from the discontinued operation
Tax

(2,507)
–

(28,252)
–

Loss for the year from the discontinued operation

(2,507)

(28,252)

The net cash flows generated/(incurred) by Best Crown group are as follows:
2008
HK$’000
Operating activities
Investing activities
Financing activities

3,930
10
(4,104)

Net cash inflow/(outflow)

(164)

Basic loss per share from the discontinued operation

2007
HK$’000
(3,717)
3
3,773
59

(HK0.33 cent) (HK4.35 cents)

The calculation of basic loss per share amount from discontinued operation for the years is based on the loss
attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the parent of approximately HK$2,507,000 (2007: HK$28,252,000), and
the weighted average number of approximately 767,496,767 (2007: 649,474,000) ordinary shares in issue during the
year, as adjusted to reflect the bonus issue during the year.
Diluted loss per share from the discontinued operation
Diluted loss per share amounts from the discontinued operation for the years ended 31 March 2008 and
2007 have not been disclosed, as the options outstanding during these years had an anti-dilutive effect on the
basic loss per share for these years.
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LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
Basic loss per share
The calculation of basic loss per share amounts is based on the loss for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year, as
adjusted to reflect the bonus issue during the year.
The calculations of basic loss per share are based on:
2008
HK$’000

2007
HK$’000

Loss
Loss attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent,
used in the basic loss per share calculation:
From continuing operations
From a discontinued operation

(49,399)
(2,507)

(5,918)
(28,252)

Loss attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent

(51,906)

(34,170)

2008

Shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year
used in the basic loss per share calculation (note (i))

2007
(Restated)

767,496,767 649,474,000

Diluted loss per share
Diluted loss per share amounts for the years ended 31 March 2008 and 2007 have not been disclosed,
as the options outstanding during these years had an anti-dilutive effect on the basic loss per share for these
years.
Note (i):

The weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculations of basic loss per share for
the year ended 31 March 2007 had been adjusted to reflect the bonus issue during the year ended
31 March 2008.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Group

Leasehold
Buildings improvements
HK$’000
HK$’000

Furniture
and
equipment
HK$’000

Motor
vehicles
HK$’000

Tools and
machinery
HK$’000

Construction
in process
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

31 March 2008
At 31 March 2007 and
at 1 April 2007:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Net carrying amount

–
–

826
(667)

11,456
(10,156)

2,013
(784)

4,896
(4,081)

–
–

19,191
(15,688)

–

159

1,300

1,229

815

–

3,503

At 1 April 2007, net of
accumulated depreciation
Additions
Disposals
Disposals of subsidiaries
Depreciation provided during
the year
Transfers
Exchange realignment

–
285
–
–

159
191
–
–

1,300
1,539
(30)
(160)

1,229
1,297
–
–

815
4,303
–
–

–
13,779
–
–

3,503
21,394
(30)
(160)

(27)
6,289
339

(177)
–
–

(908)
–
11

(561)
–
60

(329)
4,930
464

–
(11,219)
132

(2,002)
–
1,006

At 31 March 2008, net of
accumulated depreciation

6,886

173

1,752

2,025

10,183

2,692

23,711

At 31 March 2008:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

6,913
(27)

1,017
(844)

12,714
(10,962)

3,377
(1,352)

14,605
(4,422)

2,692
–

41,318
(17,607)

6,886

173

1,752

2,025

10,183

2,692

23,711

Net carrying amount
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Group
Furniture
Leasehold
and
improvements equipment
HK$’000
HK$’000

Tools
Motor
and
vehicles machinery
HK$’000
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

31 March 2007
At 31 March 2006 and at 1 April 2006:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

738
(376)

11,227
(9,309)

362

1,918

362
188
(76)
(315)

At 31 March 2007, net of
accumulated depreciation

At 31 March 2007:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net carrying amount

At 1 April 2006, net of accumulated
depreciation
Additions
Disposals
Depreciation provided during the year

Net carrying amount

1,937
(1,792)

5,898
(4,326)

19,800
(15,803)

145

1,572

3,997

1,918
339
(88)
(869)

145
1,500
(10)
(406)

1,572
45
(544)
(258)

3,997
2,072
(718)
(1,848)

159

1,300

1,229

815

3,503

826
(667)

11,456
(10,156)

2,013
(784)

159

1,300

1,229

4,896
(4,081)
815

19,191
(15,688)
3,503

At 31 March 2008, the Group was in the process of obtaining the building ownership certificates of the Group’s
buildings. Notwithstanding this, the directors are of the opinion that the Group has obtained the legal rights to use
these assets as at 31 March 2008, and that the building ownership certificates can be obtained in the near future.
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GOODWILL
Group
HK$’000
Cost and carrying amount at 1 April 2006
Impairment during the year

126
(126)

Cost and carrying amount at 31 March 2007

–

At 31 March 2007:
Cost
Accumulated impairment

126
(126)

Net carrying amount

–

Cost at 1 April 2007, net of accumulated impairment
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 29)
Impairment during the year
Cost and carrying amount at 31 March 2008

–
39,185
(39,185)
–

At 31 March 2008:
Cost
Accumulated impairment

39,185
(39,185)

Net carrying amount

–

Impairment testing of goodwill
Goodwill acquired through business combinations is related to medical waste treatment cash-generating
units. Its recoverable amount has been determined based on a value in use calculation using cash flow
projections based on financial budgets covering a five-year period approved by senior management. The
discount rate applied to the cash flow projections is 24% and cash flows beyond the five-year period are
extrapolated using a growth rate of 4% which is the same as the long term average growth rate of the medical
waste treatment business.
Key assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of the medical waste treatment
cash-generating units. The following describes each key assumption on which management has based its cash
flow projections to undertake impairment testing of goodwill:
Discount rate – The discount rate used is before tax and reflects specific risks relating to the relevant
units.
Growth rate – The growth rate is based on published industry research.
During the year ended 31 March 2008, impairment loss of HK$39,185,000 represented the write down
of goodwill in the medical waste treatment segment to the recoverable amount with key assumptions
aforementioned. This is recognised in “Impairment of goodwill” as shown on the face of the consolidated
income statement of the Group.
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INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
Company
2008
2007
HK$’000
HK$’000
Unlisted shares/investments, at cost
Due from subsidiaries

Impairment #

#

59,521
104,570

59,521
30,938

164,091

90,459

(88,469)

(42,732)

75,622

47,727

An impairment was recognised for certain unlisted investments and amounts due from subsidiaries with
a carrying amount of HK$148,198,000 (before deducting the impairment loss) (2007: HK$79,497,000)
because of the deteriorating operating results of certain subsidiaries.

Movements in the impairment of interests in subsidiaries are as follows:
2008
HK$’000

2007
HK$’000

At beginning of the year
Impairment losses recognised
Amount written off as uncollectible

42,732
46,467
(730)

8,816
33,916
–

At end of the year

88,469

42,732

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment. The
carrying amounts of the amounts due from subsidiaries approximate to their fair values.
Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows:
Percentage of equity
attributable to
the Company
Direct
Indirect

Place of
incorporation/
registration and
operations

Nominal value of
issued ordinary/
registered share
capital

Sinopoint Corporation

British Virgin Islands/
Hong Kong

US$100 Ordinary

100

–

Lo’s Cleaning Services Limited

Hong Kong

HK$100 Ordinary
HK$26,768,000
Non-voting deferred

–

100

Provision of cleaning
and related services

Lo’s Airport Cleaning Services
Limited

Hong Kong

HK$10,000 Ordinary

–

100

Dormant

Yangi Construction & Engineering
Limited

Hong Kong

HK$100 Ordinary

–

100

Dormant

Name
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Percentage of equity
attributable to
the Company
Direct
Indirect

Place of
incorporation/
registration and
operations

Nominal value of
issued ordinary/
registered share
capital

Honest Grand International Limited

British Virgin Islands/
Hong Kong

US$100 Ordinary

–

100

Investment holding

Able Win Holdings Limited#

British Virgin Islands/
Hong Kong

US$100 Ordinary

–

100

Investment holding

Victory Joy International Limited
(“Victory Joy”)#

British Virgin Islands/
Hong Kong

US$1 Ordinary

–

100

Investment holding

Seasun Group Limited (“Seasun”)^^

British Virgin Islands/
Hong Kong

US$3,000 Ordinary

–

65

Investment holding

Lo’s Tsinghua Daring Medical Waste
Treatment (China) Holdings
Limited#

Hong Kong

HK$1 Ordinary

–

65

Investment holding

Oriental Emperor Holdings Limited

British Virgin Islands/
Hong Kong

US$100 Ordinary

–

55

Investment holding

Lo’s Tsinghua Daring Environmental
Technology Holdings Limited

Hong Kong

HK$1 Ordinary

–

55

Investment holding

Siping Lo’s Tsinghua Daring
Environment Technology Limited*^

People’s Republic of
China (“PRC”)/
Mainland China

HK$10,000,000

–

55

Provision of medical
waste treatment
services

Suifa Lo’s Tsinghua Daring
Environment Technology Limited*^

PRC/Mainland China

HK$10,000,000

–

55

Provision of medical
waste treatment
services

Heihe Lo’s Tsinghua Daring
Environment Technology
Limited*#^

PRC/Mainland China

HK$10,000,000

–

55

Provision of medical
waste treatment
services

Name

Principal activities

*

Not audited by Ernst & Young Hong Kong or other member firm of the Ernst & Young global network.

#

Incorporated/registered during the year.

^

Registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under the PRC laws.

^^

Acquired during the year.
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INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE
Group
2008
2007
HK$’000
HK$’000
Share of net assets
Due from an associate
Impairment #

#

–
1,362
(540)

–
1,309
(266)

822

1,043

An impairment was recognised for amount due from an associate with a carrying amount of
HK$1,362,000 (before deducting the impairment loss) (2007: HK$1,309,000) because of the
deteriorating operating results of the associate.

Movements in the impairment of interest in an associate are as follows:
Group
2008
2007
HK$’000
HK$’000
At beginning of the year
Impairment loss recognised

266
274

266
–

At end of the year

540

266

The amount due from an associate is unsecured, bears interest at a rate of 5% per annum and is repayable on
or before 14 November 2008. The carrying amount of the amount due from an associate approximates to its fair value.
Particulars of the associate are as follows:

Name
Faber China Limited

Particulars of
issued shares held

Place of
incorporation

Ordinary shares of
HK$1 each

Hong Kong

Percentage of
ownership
interest
attributable
to the Group
40

Principal activity
Trading of professional
cleaning equipment/
products and marblecare products

The associate is not audited by Ernst & Young Hong Kong or other member firm of the Ernst & Young global
network.
The Group has discontinued the recognition of its share of losses of the associate because the share of losses
of the associate exceeded the Group’s interest in the associate. The Group’s unrecognised share of losses of this
associate for the current year and cumulatively was HK$68,000 (2007: HK$37,000) and HK$212,000 (2007:
HK$144,000), respectively.
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The following table illustrates the summarised financial information of the Group’s associate extracted from
its financial statements:

Assets
Liabilities
Revenue
Loss

17.

2008
HK$’000

2007
HK$’000

1,777
2,317
2,998
171

1,553
1,912
1,327
93

FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
Group
2008
2007
HK$’000
HK$’000
Unlisted capped accrual note in Hong Kong, at fair value

–

3,862

The above investment was classified as held for trading as at balance sheet date. The fair value of the
investment is determined based on the quoted price from an investment bank. As at 31 March 2007, the investment
has been pledged to secure certain banking facilities granted to the Group (note 24), which was released during the
year ended 31 March 2008.
18.

CONTRACT WORK IN PROGRESS
Group
2008
2007
HK$’000
HK$’000

19.

Contract costs incurred plus recognised profits to date
Less: Progress billings received and receivable

–
–

19,303
(17,768)

Gross amount due from contract customers

–

1,535

TRADE RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit. The credit period is generally for a period
of 30 days, extending up to 90 days for customers with a long-term relationship. The Group seeks to maintain strict
control over its outstanding receivables and overdue balances are reviewed regularly by management. In view of the
aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s trade receivables relate to a large number of diversified customers, there
is no significant concentration of credit risk. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing and their carrying amounts
approximate to their fair values.
The Group’s other receivables are non-interest-bearing and their carrying amounts approximate to their fair
values. Other receivables were neither past due nor impaired at the balance sheet date.
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An aged analysis of the trade receivables at the balance sheet date, based on the invoice date, is as follows:
Group
2008
2007
HK$’000
HK$’000
Within 30 days
31 – 60 days
61 – 90 days
91 – 120 days
Over 120 days

Less: impairment

14,207
9,991
7,575
3,612
4,841

16,467
12,857
1,521
521
13,213

40,226

44,579

–
40,226

(9,622)
34,957

Movements in the provision for impairment of trade receivables are as follows:
Group
2008
2007
HK$’000
HK$’000
At the beginning of the year
Impairment losses recognised
Amount written off as uncollectible

9,622
–
(9,622)

At the end of the year

–

321
9,301
–
9,622

The above provision for impairment of trade receivables is individually impaired. The individually impaired
trade receivables relate to customers that were in default or delinquency payments. The Group does not hold any
collateral or other credit enhancements over these balances.
The aged analysis of the trade receivables, that are not considered to be impaired is as follows:
Group
2008
2007
HK$’000
HK$’000
Neither past due nor impaired
Less than 1 month past due
1 to 3 months past due
Over 3 months past due

14,207
9,991
11,187
4,841

16,467
12,857
2,042
3,591

40,226

34,957

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a large number of diversified customers for whom
there was no recent history of default.
Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number of independent customers that have a good
track record with the Group. Based on past experience, the directors of the Company are of the opinion that no
provision for impairment is necessary in respect of these balances as there has not been a significant change in credit
quality and the balances are still considered fully recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over these balances.
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As at 31 March 2007, included in the Group’s trade receivables is an amount of HK$5,650,000 due from a
related company, Martech Building Consultant Limited (“Martech Building”), of which two minority shareholders of
a non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group are directors. The amount is repayable on similar credit terms to those
offered to the major customers of the Group. Full provision for impairment of HK$5,650,000 has been made for the
amount due from Martech Building during the prior year. Please refer to note 35(b) for details of the related party
transaction with Martech Building.
20.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED TIME DEPOSITS

Note
Cash and bank balances
Time deposits

Less: Pledged short-term time
deposits for banking
facilities

24

Cash and cash equivalents

Group
2008
2007
HK$’000
HK$’000

Company
2008
2007
HK$’000
HK$’000

10,380
74,274

19,494
34,921

988
69,708

12,311
15,052

84,654

54,415

70,696

27,363

(4,022)

(16,130)

–

–

80,632

38,285

70,696

27,363

At the balance sheet date, the cash and bank balances of the Group denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”)
amounted to HK$3,409,000 (2007: HK$2,581,000). The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies,
however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through
banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.
Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short-term time deposits are
made for varying periods of between one day and three months depending on the immediate cash requirements of the
Group, and earn interest at the respective short-term time deposit rates. The bank balances and pledged deposits are
deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default. The carrying amounts of the cash and cash
equivalents and the pledged deposits approximate to their fair values.
21.

TRADE PAYABLES
An aged analysis of the trade payables as at the balance sheet date, based on the invoice date, is as follows:
Group
2008
2007
HK$’000
HK$’000
Within 30 days
31 – 60 days
61 – 90 days
91 – 120 days
Over 120 days

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled on 30-day terms.
The carrying amount of the trade payables approximates to its fair value.
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38
–
–
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6,838
865
690
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OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES

Other payables of the Group and the Company are non-interest-bearing and have an average payment term of
one month.
The carrying amount of the other payables approximates to its fair value.
23.

DUE TO A MINORITY SHAREHOLDER OF SUBSIDIARIES

The amount due to a minority shareholder of subsidiaries is unsecured, interest-free and has no fixed terms of
repayment.
The carrying amount of amount due to a minority shareholder of subsidiaries approximate to its fair value.
24.

INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS, SECURED
Group

Trust receipt loans – secured

Effective
interest rate

Maturity

Prime

April to May 2007

2008
HK$’000

2007
HK$’000

–

4,096

At the balance sheet date, the Group’s banking facilities were secured by the following:
(i)

the pledge of certain of the Group’s time deposits amounting to HK$4,022,000 (2007: HK$16,130,000)
(note 20);

(ii)

a corporate guarantee to the extent of HK$18 million (2007: HK$27 million) provided by the Company.

As at 31 March 2007, the Group’s banking facilities were also secured by the Group’s financial asset at fair
value through profit or loss with a carrying value of HK$3,862,000 (note 17) and a joint and several personal
guarantee to the extent of HK$1.8 million executed by two minority shareholders of a non-wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Group.
As at 31 March 2007, all the secured bank borrowings were denominated in Hong Kong dollars. The carrying
amounts of the Group’s interest-bearing bank borrowings approximate to their fair values.
25.

PROVISION FOR LONG SERVICE PAYMENTS
Group
2008
2007
HK$’000
HK$’000
At beginning of the year
Provision/(write-back of provision) for long service payments, net (note 6)
Amounts utilised during the year

817
92
(98)

1,039
(161)
(61)

At end of the year

811

817

The Group provides for probable future long service payments expected to be made to employees under the
Employment Ordinance, as further explained under the heading “Employee benefits” in note 2.4 to the financial
statements. The provision is based on the best estimate of the probable future payments which have been earned by
the employees from their service to the Group at the balance sheet date.
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SHARE CAPITAL
Shares

Authorised:
2,000,000,000 (2007: 1,000,000,000) ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each
Issued and fully paid:
783,692,000 (2007: 362,680,000) ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each

2008
HK$’000

2007
HK$’000

20,000

10,000

7,837

3,627

During the year, the movements in share capital were as follows:
(a)

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 29 August 2007, the authorised share capital of the
Company was increased from HK$10,000,000 to HK$20,000,000 by the creation of
1,000,000,000 additional shares of HK$0.01 each, ranking pari passu in all respects with the
existing share capital of the Company.

(b)

5,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each were issued as part of the consideration for
acquisition of Seasun Group Limited (“Seasun”). Further details of the acquisition are included
in note 29 to the financial statements.

(c)

25,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each were issued at price of HK$4 each to certain
independent third parties and existing shareholders for a total cash consideration, before
expenses, of HK$100,000,000.

(d)

A bonus share for every existing share held by the members on the register of members on 29
August 2007 was made, resulting in the issue of 392,680,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each.
These bonus shares were credited as fully paid by a capitalisation of HK$3,927,000 from the
Company’s share premium account.

(e)

In February 2008, the Company repurchased 1,668,000 shares of its ordinary shares on the Stock
Exchange, the summary details of those transactions are as follows:

Month

February 2008

Number of
shares
repurchased

1,668,000

Price per share
Highest
Lowest
HK$
HK$
1.08

0.74

Total
price paid
HK$’000
1,573

The premium paid on the purchase of the shares of HK$1,556,000 (inclusive of expenses of
repurchase of shares) has been charged to the accumulated losses of the Company. An amount
equivalent to the par value of the shares cancelled has been transferred from the accumulated
losses of the Company to the capital redemption reserve.
The purchase of the Company’s shares during the year was effected by the directors, pursuant to
the mandate from shareholders received at the last annual general meeting, with a view to
benefiting shareholders as a whole by enhancing the net asset value per share and earnings per
share of the Group.
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All the shares issued during the year rank pari passu in all respects with the existing shares.
A summary of the transactions during the year with reference to the above movements in the Company’s issued
ordinary share capital is as follows:
Number of
shares in
issue

Issued share
capital
HK$’000

Share
premium
account
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

300,000,000

3,000

17,138

20,138

60,000,000
2,680,000

600
27

36,000
1,447

36,600
1,474

362,680,000

3,627

54,585

58,212

–
–

–
–

(1,371)
253

(1,371)
253

At 31 March 2007 and 1 April 2007

362,680,000

3,627

53,467

57,094

Issue of shares for acquisition of
a subsidiary (b)
Issue of shares (c)
Bonus issue (d)

5,000,000
25,000,000
392,680,000

50
250
3,927

19,150
99,750
(3,927)

19,200
100,000
–

422,680,000

4,227

At 1 April 2006
Issue of shares
Share options exercised

Share issue expenses
Transfer of share option reserve

Share issue expenses
Repurchase of shares (e)
At 31 March 2008

–
(1,668,000)
783,692,000

–
(17)
7,837

114,973
(1,345)
–
167,095

119,200
(1,345)
(17)
174,932

Shares options
Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the share options issued under the scheme are
included in note 27 to the financial statements.
27.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) for the purpose of providing
incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Eligible
participants of the Share Option Scheme are the employees of the Group (including any executive director,
non-executive director, independent non-executive director) or any consultant of the Group. The Share Option
Scheme was adopted by the Company’s shareholders on 24 April 2003 and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended,
will remain in force for 10 years from that date.
The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options granted/to be granted under
the Share Option Scheme is an amount equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10% of the shares of the Company in issue
at the date of listing of the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange, unless approval for refreshing the 10% limit
from the Company’s shareholders has been obtained. Unless approved by the Company’s shareholders, the maximum
number of shares issuable upon exercise of share options granted to each eligible participant in the Share Option
Scheme in any 12-month period, is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in issue. Any further grant of share
options in excess of this limit in the 12-month period up to and including the date of such further grant is subject
to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

– 102 –

APPENDIX I

FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE GROUP

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of
their respective associates, are subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive directors of the
Company (excluding independent non-executive director who is the grantee of the options). In addition, any grant
of share options to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the Company, or to any of
their respective associates, which would result in the shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options
already granted and to be granted to such person in the 12-month period up to and including the date of the grant
in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue and with an aggregate value (based on the closing price of
the Company’s shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5 million, is subject to shareholders’ approval in advance
in a general meeting.
The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted by a participant within 30 days from the date upon which
the offer letter is delivered to that participant, upon payment of a nominal consideration of HK$10 in total by the
participant. The exercise period of the share options granted is determined by the directors, save that such period shall
not be more than 10 years from the date of the offer of the share options, subject to the provisions for early
termination as set out in the Share Option Scheme. Unless otherwise determined by the directors of the Company at
their absolute discretion, there is no requirement of a minimum period for which an option must be held before an
option can be exercised. In addition, there is no performance target which must be achieved before any of the options
can be exercised.
The exercise price of the share options is determined by the directors, but must not be less than the highest
of (i) the closing price of a share of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date
of the offer of the share options; (ii) the average closing price of a share of the Company as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the date of the offer, and (iii) the
nominal value of a share of the Company.
Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.
The following share options were outstanding under the Scheme during the year:
2008
Weighted
average
exercise price
per share
HK$

Number of
options
’000

2007
Weighted
average
exercise price
per share
HK$

Number of
options
’000

At beginning of the year
Forfeited during the year
Granted during the year
Exercised during the year
Adjustment on bonus issue

0.81
1.38
–
–
–

24,400
(484)
–
–
24,216

0.54
0.53
2.82
0.55
–

21,660
(6,100)
11,520
(2,680)
–

At end of the year

0.80

48,132

0.81

24,400

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share options exercised during the year ended 31
March 2007 was HK$2.11.
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The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options outstanding at the balance sheet date are as
follows:
2008
Number of options
’000

Exercise price* per share
HK$

4,480
4,480
4,480
4,480
4,480
25,732

1.41
1.41
1.41
1.41
1.41
0.275

Exercise period

22/2/08
22/2/09
22/2/10
22/2/11
22/11/11
22/4/05

–
–
–
–
–
–

21/2/12
21/2/12
21/2/12
21/2/12
21/2/12
21/4/15

48,132

2007
Number of options
’000

Exercise price* per share
HK$

2,304
2,304
2,304
2,304
2,304
12,880

2.82
2.82
2.82
2.82
2.82
0.55

Exercise period

22/2/08
22/2/09
22/2/10
22/2/11
22/11/11
22/4/05

–
–
–
–
–
–

21/2/12
21/2/12
21/2/12
21/2/12
21/2/12
21/4/15

24,400

*

The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in case of rights or bonus issues, or other
similar changes in the Company’s share capital.

The Group recognised a share option expense of HK$7,912,000 (2007: HK$605,000) during the year ended 31
March 2008 for the share options granted in prior years and vested during the year.
At the balance sheet date, the Company had 48,132,000 share options outstanding under the Share Option
Scheme. The exercise in full of the remaining share options would, under the present capital structure of the
Company, result in the issuance of 48,132,000 additional ordinary shares of the Company and additional share capital
of HK$481,000 and share premium of HK$38,179,000 (before issue expenses).
At the date of approval of these financial statements, the Company had 47,732,000 share options outstanding
under the Share Option Scheme, which represented approximately 6.09% of the Company’s shares in issue as at that
date.
28.

RESERVES
(a)

Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for the current and prior years are
presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity of the financial statements.
The Group’s contributed surplus represents the differences between the nominal value of the shares of
the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the Group reorganisation prior to the listing of the Company’s shares,
over the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange therefor.
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Company

Notes
At 1 April 2006

At 31 March 2008

Total
HK$’000

–

1,669

59,511

(8,795)

69,523

–

–

–

–

(34,987)

(34,987)

26

36,000

–

–

–

–

36,000

26
26

1,447
(1,371)

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

1,447
(1,371)

–

–

605

–

–

605

253

–

(253)

–

–

–

53,467

–

2,021

59,511

(43,782)

71,217

–
114,973
(1,345)
–

–
–
–
17

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

(53,032)
–
–
(1,573)

(53,032)
114,973
(1,345)
(1,556)

–

–

7,912

–

–

7,912

167,095

17

9,933

59,511

(98,387)

138,169

26

At 31 March 2007 and
1 April 2007
Loss for the year
Issue of shares
Share issue expenses
Repurchase of shares
Equity-settled share option
arrangements

Share
option Contributed Accumulated
reserve
surplus
losses
HK$’000
HK$’000
HK$’000

17,138

Loss for the year
Issue of shares
Issue or share upon exercise
of option
Share option expenses
Equity-settled share option
arrangements
Transfer of reserve upon
exercise of options

Share
Capital
premium redemption
account
reserve
HK$’000
HK$’000

26
26
26(e)

The Company’s contributed surplus represents the excess of the fair value of the shares of the
subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the Group reorganisation prior to the listing of the Company’s shares, over
the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange therefor. Under the Companies Law (2002
Revision) of the Cayman Islands, a company may make distributions to its members out of the contributed
surplus in certain circumstances.
The share option reserve comprises the fair value of share options granted which are yet to be exercised,
as further explained in the accounting policy for share-based payment transactions in note 2.4 to the financial
statements. The amount will either be transferred to the share premium account when the related options are
exercised, or be transferred to retained profits should the related options expire or be forfeited.
29.

BUSINESS COMBINATION

On 27 April 2007, Victory Joy and Tsinghua Daring (China) Holdings Limited (“Tsinghua”), a related company
of the Group of which certain ultimate beneficial owners of Tsinghua are also ultimate beneficial owners controlling
a minority shareholder of the Group’s non-wholly-owned subsidiary, entered into a sale and purchase agreement.
Pursuant to that sale and purchase agreement, Victory Joy agreed to acquire 65% equity interests in Seasun, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Tsinghua which is incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability, from
Tsinghua for a consideration which was satisfied by (i) cash of HK$20,000,000, and (ii) the issuance of 5,000,000
new ordinary shares of the Company with market price on the date of issuance of HK$3.84 each, resulting a total fair
value of HK$19,200,000.
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The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Seasun as at the date of acquisition and the
corresponding carrying amounts immediately before the acquisition were as follows:

Notes
Other receivables
Minority interests

Goodwill on acquisition

14

Fair value
recognised
on
acquisition
HK$’000

Previous
carrying
amount
HK$’000

23
(8)

23
(8)

15

15

39,185
39,200

Satisfied by:
Cash consideration
Issue of ordinary shares

26(b)

20,000
19,200
39,200

Since its acquisition, Seasun remained dormant and did not contribute any revenue and profit to the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2008.
Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the year, there would have remained unchanged in respect
of the Group’s revenue and profit from continuing operations for the year.
The above transaction constituted a discloseable and connected transaction as defined in Chapter 14 and 14A
of the Listing Rules.
30.

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

Notes
Net assets disposed of:
Property, plant and equipment
Trade receivables
Prepayments and other receivables
Trade payables
Accruals and other payables
Due to a minority shareholder
Minority interests

2008
HK$’000

160
8,587
1,880
(7,114)
(2,266)
(1,088)
485

Loss on disposal of subsidiaries

6, 11

Satisfied by:
Cash
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HK$’000

–
–
–
–
–
–
–

644

–

(634)

–

10

–

10

–
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An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of the disposal of subsidiaries is as
follows:

Cash consideration

31.

2008
HK$’000

2007
HK$’000

10

–

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
Major non-cash transactions

32.

(a)

Included in the purchases of items of property, plant and equipment during the year amounting to
HK$4,952,000 was the transfer from deposit paid for acquisition of plant and equipment in the prior
year.

(b)

During the year ended 31 March 2008, Victory Joy acquired 65% equity interests in Seasun at cash of
HK$20,000,000 and the issuance of 5,000,000 new ordinary shares of the Company which market price
on the date of issuance of HK$3.84 each, resulting in a total positive goodwill of approximately
HK$39,185,000 as detailed in note 14 to the financial statements.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
At the balance sheet date, the Group had contingent liabilities as follows:

33.

(a)

The Group has executed performance guarantees to the extent of an aggregate amount of HK$1,065,000
(2007: HK$1,972,000) in respect of certain services provided to various customers by the Group.

(b)

The Group had a contingent liability in respect of possible future long service payments to employees
under the Employment Ordinance, with a maximum possible amount of approximately HK$1,440,000
as at 31 March 2008 (2007: HK$1,469,000), as further explained under the heading “Employee benefits”
in note 2.4 to the financial statements. The contingent liability has arisen because, at the balance sheet
date, a number of current employees have achieved the required number of years of service to the Group
in order to be eligible for long service payments under the Employment Ordinance if their employment
is terminated under certain circumstances. A provision of HK$811,000 (2007: HK$817,000) in respect
of such payments has been made in the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 March 2008.

(c)

During the ordinary course of its business, the Group may from time to time be involved in litigation
concerning personal injuries sustained by its employees or third party claimants. The Group maintains
insurance cover and, in the opinion of the directors, based on current evidence, any such existing claims
should be adequately covered by the insurance as at 31 March 2007 and 2008.

OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

The Group leases its office properties and staff quarters under operating lease arrangements, which are
negotiated for terms ranging from one to five years.
At 31 March 2008, the Group had total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases
falling due as follows:
Group
2008
2007
HK$’000
HK$’000
Within one year
In the second to fifth years, inclusive
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COMMITMENTS

In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in note 33 above, the Group had capital commitments
in respect of the acquisition of items of property, plant and equipment of HK$292,415,000 (2007: HK$3,572,000)
contracted but not provided for in the financial statements as at 31 March 2008. The capital commitments are
contracted to be paid by phases up to year ending 31 March 2014. The directors are of the opinion that the
commitment will be adequately funded by internal resources of the Group, further capital raising exercises or external
borrowings.
35.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(a)

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group
had the following material transactions with related companies, of which certain directors of the
Company are also directors, during the year. These related companies are owned by a discretionary trust
of which the beneficiaries included the family members of Dr. Lo Kou Hong.

Notes
Management fee income from related companies
Rental expenses paid to related companies
Interest income from an associate

(i)
(ii)
(iii)

2008
HK$’000

2007
HK$’000

300
60
53

475
400
50

Notes:

(b)

(c)

(i)

The management fee income for the provision of accounting and administrative services and the
sharing of office space and facilities with the Group was charged at a lump sum annually with
reference to the actual costs incurred.

(ii)

The rental expenses in relation to the storage unit and staff quarters were calculated with
reference to the prevailing market rates and the area occupied.

(iii)

The interest income received from an associate was charged at an interest rate of 5% per annum
on the outstanding amount due from an associate.

Other transactions with related parties:
(i)

For the year ended 31 March 2008, consultancy service fee of HK$1,657,000 for the provision
of marketing and consultant service fee to the medical waste treatment business of the Group was
paid to a related company, Medianew Investments Limited (“Medianew”), of which certain
beneficial owners of Medianew are also beneficial owners controlling a minority shareholder of
the Group’s non-wholly-owned subsidiary.

(ii)

For the year ended 31 March 2007, progress billings of building maintenance and renovation
works amounting to HK$252,000 were issued to Martech Building, a related company of which
two minority shareholders of a non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group are directors.

(iii)

As at 31 March 2007, the trade receivable from Martech Building amounted to HK$5,650,000,
net of impairment provision of HK$5,650,000. The trade receivable from Martech Building is
unsecured, interest-free and repayable within a normal credit term of 30 days.

Outstanding balances with related parties:
Details of the Group’s amount due from an associate and the Group’s amount due to a minority
shareholder of subsidiaries as at the balance sheet date are disclosed in notes 16 and 23 to the financial
statements, respectively.
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Compensation of key management personnel of the Group:
2008
HK$’000

2007
HK$’000

Short-term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits
Share-based payments

1,456
134
3,080

5,092
408
356

Total compensation paid to key management personnel

4,670

5,856

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in note 7 to the financial statements.
The related party transactions in respect of items (a)(i), (a)(ii) and (b)(i) above also constitute connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
36.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as at the balance sheet date are as
follows:
2008 – Group
Financial assets
Loans and
receivables
HK$’000
Due from an associate
Trade receivables
Financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables
Pledged time deposits
Cash and cash equivalents

822
40,226
196
4,022
80,632

Financial liabilities
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
HK$’000
Trade payables
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accrued liabilities
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2007 – Group
Financial assets
Financial
assets at fair
value through
profit or loss
HK$’000

Loans and
receivables
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

3,862
–
–

–
1,043
34,957

3,862
1,043
34,957

–
–
–

1,333
16,130
38,285

1,333
16,130
38,285

Financial asset at fair value through profit or loss
Due from an associate
Trade receivables
Financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables
Pledged time deposits
Cash and cash equivalents

Financial liabilities
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
HK$’000
Trade payables
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accrued liabilities
Due to a minority shareholder of subsidiaries
Interest-bearing bank borrowings, secured

9,597
14,446
1,088
4,096

Financial assets
Company
2008
Loans and
receivables
HK$’000
Due from subsidiaries
Cash and cash equivalents

78,070
70,696

2007
Loans and
receivables
HK$’000
10,962
27,363

Financial liabilities
Company
2008
2007
Financial
Financial
liabilities at
liabilities at
amortised cost
amortised cost
HK$’000
HK$’000
Financial liabilities included in other payables
and accrued liabilities

312
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise bank loans and cash and short-term deposits. The main
purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various other
financial assets and liabilities such as trade receivables and trade payables, which arise directly from its operations.
The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk. The board reviews and agrees policies for managing such risks and they are summarised
below.
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future cash flows
or the fair values of financial instruments. The Group’s interest bearing financial instrument is mainly cash and
short term deposits.
As at the balance sheet date, the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk is considered to be relatively
small as the Group’s financial instruments predominately were non-interest bearing or carried at minimal
interest rate.
Foreign currency risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes
in foreign exchange rates. The Group has no specific policy to deal with foreign currency risk. However,
management monitors the exposure and will consider hedging the foreign currency risk exposure for
significant cash flow risks should the need arise. As at the balance sheet dates, the Group’s exposure to foreign
currency risk is minimal as all transactions are denominated in the operating units’ functional currency.
Credit risk
The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all
customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition,
receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.
The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which comprise cash and cash equivalents, pledged
time deposits, amount due from an associate, other receivables, and financial asset at fair value through profit
or loss, arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these
instruments.
Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties, there is no requirement for
collateral. Concentrations of credit risk are managed by customer. There are no significant concentrations of
credit risk within the Group as the customer bases of the Group’s trade receivables are widely dispersed in
different customers.
Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from trade and other
receivables are disclosed in note 19 to the financial statements.
Liquidity risk
The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool
considers the maturity of both its financial instruments and financial assets (e.g., trade receivables) and
projected cash flows from operations.
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its current and expected liquidity levels to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash for its daily operation purposes.
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The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the balance sheet date, based on the
contracted undiscounted payments, was as follows:
Group

Trade payables
Other payables

Trade payables
Other payables
Due to a minority shareholder of subsidiaries
Interest-bearing bank borrowings, secured

On demand
HK$’000

2008
Less than
3 months
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

–
3,844

827
12,161

827
16,005

3,844

12,988

16,832

On demand
HK$’000

2007
Less than
3 months
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

–
2,827
1,088
–

9,597
11,619
–
4,096

9,597
14,446
1,088
4,096

3,915

25,312

29,227

On demand
HK$’000

2008
Less than
3 months
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

312

–

312

On demand
HK$’000

2007
Less than
3 months
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

254

–

254

Company

Other payables

Company

Other payables

Capital management
The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise
shareholder value.
The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the objectives,
policies or processes during the years ended 31 March 2008 and 2007.
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The Group monitors capital using a current ratio, which is current assets divided by the current
liabilities. The Group’s policy is to maintain net positive current assets and current ratio greater than one as
shown as follows:
Group
2008
HK$’000
Current assets
Current liabilities

127,601
(19,135)

99,000
(31,313)

Net current assets

108,466

67,687

6.7

3.2

Current ratio

38.

2007
HK$’000

COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

The comparative income statement has been re-presented as if the operation discontinued during the current
year had been discontinued at the beginning of the comparative period (note 11).
39.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 15 July 2008.”
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INDEBTEDNESS
Borrowing
As at the close of business on 30 September 2008, being the latest practicable date
for inclusion of information in this paragraph headed “Indebtedness” prior to the
publication of this circular, save as disclosed below and apart from the intra-group
liabilities, the Enlarged Group did not have any outstanding debt securities, bank or other
borrowings, debt, mortgages, charges, debentures, or other loan capital, bank overdrafts,
term loans, loans or other similar indebtedness, guarantee, contingent liabilities,
liabilities under acceptances, acceptance credits or hire purchase commitments.
Collateral
As at 30 September 2008, the Enlarged Group’s banking facilities were secured by
the following:
(i)

the pledge of certain time deposits amounting to approximately HK$4,037,000;

(ii) a corporate guarantee to the extent of HK$18 million provided by the
Company.
Capital Commitment
As at 30 September 2008, the Enlarged Group had capital commitment contracted
but not provided for in respect of acquisition of items of property, plant and equipment
amounting to approximately HK$317,456,000.
Operating Lease Commitment
As at 30 September 2008, the Enlarged Group had total future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases falling due as follows:
HK$’000
Within one year
In the second to fifth years, inclusive

458
80
538

Contingent Liabilities
As at 30 September 2008, the Enlarged Group had contingent liabilities as follows:
(i)

The Enlarged Group had executed performance guarantees to the extent of an
aggregate amount of HK$1,065,000 in respect of certain services provided to
various customers;
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(ii) During the ordinary course of its business, the Enlarged Group may from time
to time be involved in litigation concerning personal injuries sustained by its
employees or third party claimants. The Enlarged Group maintains insurance
cover and, in the opinion of the directors, based on current evidence, any such
existing claims should be adequately covered by the insurance as at 30
September 2008.”
4.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS ON PEIXIN GROUP

For the period from 3 January 2006 (date of incorporation) to 31 March 2006, the two
years ended 31 March 2007 and 2008, and the four months ended 31 July 2008
Review of operations
Peixin is an investment company established by the Vendor and incorporated in British
Virgin Islands on 3 January 2006. As Peixin Group has not commenced any commercial
operation since the date of its incorporation, no revenue has been generated. For the period
from 3 January 2006 to 31 March 2006, the two years ended 31 March 2007 and 2008, and the
four months ended 31 July 2008, Peixin Group recorded other income of approximately HK$0,
HK$0.07 million, HK$0.07 million and HK$0.04 million, respectively. During the same
corresponding periods, Peixin Group also recorded administrative expenses of approximately
HK$0, HK$1.40 million, HK$2.34 million and HK$1.17 million. Accordingly, for the period
from 3 January 2006 to 31 March 2006, the two years ended 31 March 2007 and 2008, and the
four months ended 31 July 2008, Peixin Group recorded audited loss after taxation of
approximately HK$0, HK$1.33 million, HK$2.27 million and HK$1.14 million, respectively.
Material Acquisition and Disposal
Save for the establishment of Shuyang ITAD, being the wholly-owned subsidiary of
Peixin established in China in May 2006, which will be engaged in the municipal solid waste
management business in Shuyang County, Jiangsu Province, China after the Completion and
commencement of the construction of the Waste Treatment Plant in early 2007, Peixin did not
have any other material acquisition and disposals of subsidiaries during the period from 3
January 2006 (date of incorporation) to 31 March 2006, the two years ended 31 March 2007
and 2008, and the four months ended 31 July 2008.
Litigation
Peixin Group was not engaged in any litigation or arbitration of material importance, and
no litigation or claims of material importance was known to the management of Peixin Group
to be pending or threaten against the Peixin Group as at each of 31 March 2006, 2007 and 2008,
and 31 July 2008.
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Liquidity and Financial Resources
Based on the audited financial statement of Peixin Group as disclosed in Appendix II to
this circular, as at 31 March 2006, 31 March 2007, 31 March 2008 and 31 July 2008, save for
the amount due to the Vendor, the immediate holding company of Peixin, amounted to
approximately HK$0, HK$19.82 million, HK$52.72 million and HK$86.43 million,
respectively, Peixin Group did not have any other interest-bearing borrowings. Such
Shareholder’s Loan represented the Vendor’s investment in Peixin Group, which is non-interest
bearing, unsecured and has no fixed terms of repayment. Under the circumstances, Peixin
Group did not have any net debt (being Peixin Group’s interest-bearing borrowings, less the
cash and cash equivalent) and the gearing ratio (expressed as a percentage of Peixin Group’s
net debt over equity attributable to the shareholders of Peixin) is nil as at 31 March 2006, 2007
and 2008 and 31 July 2008.
Charge of Assets
As at 31 March 2006, 2007 and 2008 and 31 July 2008, no asset of Peixin Group was
pledged.
Contingent Liabilities
As disclosed in the audited financial statements of Peixin Group in Appendix II to this
circular, Peixin Group had no significant contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2006, 2007 and
2008, and 31 July 2008.
Employees
As at 31 March 2006, 2007 and 2008, and 31 July 2008, Peixin Group had employees of
0, 5, 22 and 35, respectively. Remunerations of the employees are commensurate with
individual job nature, work experience and market conditions, and performance related
bonuses are granted to employees on discretionary basis.
Foreign Currency Exposure
The majority of the transactions of Peixin is denominated in HK$, whereas majority of
the transactions of Shuyang ITAD is denominated in RMB. The Directors consider that the
exposure of Peixin and Shuyang ITAD to the risk of foreign currency fluctuation is not
material.
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Future Plans for Material Investment
Save for certain construction cost of the Waste Treatment Plant (which is expected to be
completed in or about January 2009) and/or certain other pre-operating expenses to be incurred
during the initial operating stage of Shuyang ITAD, which may be borne by Company after
Completion, the Directors does not have any concrete future plans for material investments.
The Allotment Shares Consideration will be applied for the business development of the waste
treatment business in China (including the completion of the establishment of the Waste
Treatment Plant).
5.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS ON THE GROUP

Set out below is the management discussion and analysis extracted from the Company’s
annual reports covering the years ended 31 March 2006, 2007 and 2008:
“For the year ended 31 March 2008
Operating Environment
As the Hong Kong economy continued to grow during the year under review, it also
faced increasing inflation pressure. Rising commodity prices, especially of oil and food,
were the main culprits, and the lingering impact of the US sub-prime mortgage issue was
not helping overall market sentiment. On the cost front, with the 2-year wage protection
movement launched by the government to end in October 2008, there have been calls in
the community for the government to legislate for minimum wages. The cleaning service
market though had gotten on a healthier path with customers turning their focus on quality
instead of just price, and in turn the Group’s profit margin broadened slightly. There was
an increase in demand for stone finishing care, maintenance and restoration services
which we were able to meet. That plus strong sales of a celebrated Italian stone care and
maintenance products distributed by the Group brought in satisfactory income.
Operating Results
The Group’s turnover for the year ended 31 March 2008 in respect of its continuing
operations amounted to HK$188,567,000, representing a 22.2% increase as compared
with last year whereas the total turnover, including both continuing and discontinued
operations was HK$195,074,000 representing a 4.53% increase over that of last year’s. A
net loss of HK$55,722,000 was recorded against a net loss of HK$34,536,000 last year.
The Group’s cleaning and related services recorded a profit of HK$3,472,000, which was
however offset by losses of HK$8,510,000 from the medical waste treatment business, the
loss of HK$2,503,000 incurred by the discontinued building maintenance and renovation
business, the charge to the income statement of share options expenses of HK$7,912,000
and a write-off due to impairment of goodwill of HK$39,185,000. The cleaning and
related services business of the Group secured some major new contracts as well as
renewed some existing contracts at better prices, with the market shifting emphasis on
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quality met by the Group’s strengths in delivering excellent and reliable services and
success of the Group in reducing costs and keeping service charges competitive. All
factors considered, we are optimistic about the prospects of the segment in the foreseeable
future. During the year, apart from stepping up financial control and striving for higher
operational efficiency, certain members of senior management, including all the executive
directors, had volunteered to reduce their salaries to help the Group through the
challenging times.
Business Review
The impairment of goodwill of $39,185,000 was based on the assumptions used in
the cash flow projections to undertake impairment testing of goodwill as detailed in note
14 and on the requirements as stipulated in the accounting standard in respect of
impairment review of goodwill. Notwithstanding that a full impairment has been made in
respect of the goodwill, the Group is continuing with every effort in developing the
medical waste treatment business.
The Group saw its first medical waste treatment plant in Siping City, Jilin Province,
kicked off operation during the year, employing the steam-based technology developed by
the Canadian company, Hydroclave. Our partner, Tsinghua Daring China, delayed
delivery of new sites for the Group to build new plants, however, the Group is confident
of and will forge ahead with growing the business. The Group has stopped relying solely
on its partner to look for and secure suitable plant sites, and has started to identify
potential sites by itself to ensure smoother progress with growing this business. The
Group is working hard to capture the huge and largely untapped potential of the medical
waste treatment market in China, aiming to obtain a fair share.
During the year under review, general cleaning services continued to be the major
business of the Group accounting for a significant portion of its revenue. The Group
obtained a 3-year contract (with the option to renew for another 3 years) to provide initial,
day-to-day cleaning as well as pest and rodent control services for a top-notch shopping
mall of over a million square feet and including some 900 car parking spaces in West
Kowloon and a 2-year contract for providing day-to-day cleaning services for an
Academy of Medicine Building in Wong Chuk Hang. The several major cleaning service
contracts renewed included those for two luxurious residential estates, the largest flight
kitchen in Chek Lap Kok and the biggest residential estate in terms of number of flats in
Tseung Kwan O. They were renewed for periods between two to three years.
The stone finishing care, maintenance and restoration business and sale of stone care
products of an Italian brand as its sole agent in Hong Kong, Mainland China and Macau,
have also been developing steadily. The Group finished several stone finishing
maintenance and restoration projects, including for a bank building in Central and Phase
2 of a tourist shopping arcade on the Peak. As for the stone care chemicals, sales volume
has been growing at accelerating pace after it was launched by the Group to the market.
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After completing all the contracts on hand, the Group disposed of its entire interest
in Best Crown and its subsidiary Mak Tai Construction & Engineering Limited on 28
September 2007 and discontinued the building maintenance and renovation business.
The Group was awarded “Caring Company Logo” in the “Caring Company Scheme”
launched by the Hong Kong Council of Social Service for the fourth consecutive year,
recognising it as a company that cares for the environment and giving employment
opportunities to the less-privileged.
Financial Review
As at 31 March 2008, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents and pledged time
deposits were HK$84,654,000 (31 March 2007, approximately HK$54,415,000). The
current ratio was 6.7 (31 March 2007, 3.2).
The Group did not have any bank borrowing as at 31 March 2008 and therefore, the
Group’s gearing ratio, representing ratio of total bank borrowings to shareholders’ equity,
was nil (31 March 2007: total bank borrowings was $4,096,000 and the gearing ratio was
5.44%). The Group’s shareholders’ equity amounted to HK$146,308,000 (31 March 2007:
HK$75,325,000).
The Group employs a conservative approach to cash management and risks control.
Its revenues, expenses and capital expenditures in relation to the cleaning and related
services business are transacted in HK dollars whereas those of the medical waste
treatment business are transacted in Renminbi (“RMB”). The Group’s cash and bank
balance was primarily denominated in Hong Kong dollars, RMB and US dollars.
Foreign currency risks in relation to exchange rate fluctuation of the RMB will be
mitigated as future revenue in relation to the medical waste business will be in RMB
which can offset future liabilities and expenses.
As at 31 March 2008, the Group’s banking facilities were secured by the following:
(i)

pledge of certain of the Group’s time deposits amounting to HK$4,022,000 (31
March 2007: HK$16,130,000); and

(ii) a corporate guarantee to the extent of HK$18 million (31 March 2007: HK$27
million) provided by the Company.
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Bonus Share Issue and Capital Structure
A bonus share issue of one bonus share for every one ordinary share in issue was
approved at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 29 August 2007. A total
of 392,680,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each were issued and had been credited as
fully paid by a transfer from the Company’s share premium account.
Issue of New Shares
In July 2007, the Group raised approximately HK$98,000,000 through placing
25,000,000 new shares of the Company at HK$4.00 each to raise fund for the acquisition
of 65% of the issued share capital of Seasun and the medical waste project.
In August 2007, the Group issued 5,000,000 new shares of the Company to Tsinghua
Daring China as part of the consideration for acquiring from Tsinghua Daring China the
65% interest in Seasun.
Contingent Liabilities
As at 31 March 2008, the Group had contingent liabilities as follows:
(a)

The Group has executed performance guarantees to the extent of an aggregate
amount of HK$1,065,000 (2007: HK$1,972,000) in respect of certain services
provided to various customers by the Group.

(b)

The Group had a contingent liability in respect of possible future long service
payments to employees under the Employment Ordinance, with a maximum
possible amount of approximately HK$1,440,000 as at 31 March 2008 (31
March 2007: HK$1,469,000). The contingent liability has arisen because, at
the balance sheet date, a number of current employees have achieved the
required number of years of service to the Group in order to be eligible for long
service payments under the Employment Ordinance if their employment is
terminated under certain circumstances. A provision of HK$811,000 (31 March
2007: HK$817,000) in respect of such payments has been made in the
consolidated balance sheet as at 31 March 2008.

(c)

During the ordinary course of its business, the Group may from time to time
be involved in litigation concerning personal injuries sustained by its
employees or third party claimants. The Group maintains insurance cover and,
in the opinion of the directors, based on current evidence, any such existing
claims should be adequately covered by the insurance as at 31 March 2008.
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Employees and Remuneration Policies
The total number of employees of the Group as at 31 March 2008 was 2,319 (31
March 2007: 2,137). Total staff costs, including director’s emoluments and net pension
contributions, for the year under review amounted to HK$166,250,000 (31 March 2007:
HK$137,798,000). The Group provides employees with training programmes on latest
skills.
Remunerations are commensurate with individual job nature, work experience and
market conditions, and performance related bonuses are granted to employees on
discretionary basis. In addition, all employees of the Group, including directors, are
eligible to participate in the Company’s share option scheme.
Prospects
Notwithstanding the impact of the sub-prime mortgage problem rippling across the
world from the United States, climbing crude oil price and the “weak” US dollar, the
economy in Mainland China and Hong Kong are expected to keep growing steadily.
Intense competition in the cleaning service business has shown signs of easing, as
reflected in the Group’s improved profit margin. With a strong reputation for
professionalism in the market, the Group is optimistic about the business growing and
expanding its market share, particularly in the middle to high class cleaning service
market, in the foreseeable future. At the same time, with expertise in stone maintenance
and restoration winning new projects recently from clients, the Group sees room for
expansion in this business area.
Our medical waste treatment business using steam-based and environmentally
friendly technology had a good beginning in Mainland China attracting favorable
response. With environmental protection now a priority concern in Mainland China, the
replacement of plants that incinerate medical wastes by steam-based treatment plants is
going to become a prevalent trend. With support from the authority and our state-of-theart technology, the Group has a solid platform for promoting and expanding this business
in the years ahead.
For the year ended 31 March 2007
Operating Environment
The Hong Kong economy continued on the up trend in the year under review with
unemployment rate down to an all time low since the SARS outbreak and wage levels on
the climb. The Wage Protection Movement in full swing since October 2006 has also
cushioned wage rises. For the cleaning service industry, such development, as we pointed
out in last year’s Management Discussion, has added to the “unhealthy” competition for
labour. During the year, service contracts were quoted or tendered at unrealistic prices and
the Group was affected. The Group’s untiring efforts to promote its environmental
protection business, however, began to bear fruit. As for the Group’s stone finishing care,
maintenance and restoration business, it also achieved satisfactory results.
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Operating Results
Revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2007 amounted to
HK$186,616,000, representing a 1.79% increase as compared with the previous financial
year. A net loss of HK$34,536,000 was recorded against net loss of HK$4,557,000 last
year. The net increase in revenue was mainly attributable to the booking of revenue of two
building maintenance and renovation projects completed during the year totalling
HK$32,340,000 (2006: HK$21,895,000), which was however counterbalanced by the
lower revenue from cleaning and related services of HK$154,276,000 (2006:
HK$161,444,000). The “impairment of trade receivables and bad debts written off” for
the year ended 31 March 2007 of HK$9,403,000 (2006: HK$222,000) comprised mainly
of HK$5,650,000 in respect of a trade receivable from Martech Building Consultant Ltd,
a related company, and HK$3,349,000 in respect of a trade receivable from a main
contractor of Mak Tai Construction and Engineering Ltd which is considered doubtful.
The significant loss was mainly attributed to the exit of the building maintenance and
renovation business by the Group in mid 2006 and the general cleaning business a tighter
profit margin squeezed by the “unhealthy” competition and higher wages in the labour
market and higher cleaning material and consumable costs. The Group will continue to
implement cost control measures to curtail operation costs.
Business Review
The Group had ups and downs during the year. Its incessant effort to grow the
environmental protection business bore promising results. The Company and Tsinghua
Daring (HK) formed a joint venture company – Lo’s Tsinghua Daring and expanded the
business to cover medical waste treatment in Mainland China. Lo’s Tsinghua Daring, in
which Lo’s Enviro-Pro holds 55% interest, has earmarked HK$80 million to build 8
medical waste treatment centres in China to be completed in the financial year 2007/2008.
To realize its goal of becoming the largest medical waste treatment enterprise in China,
the Group had secured the exclusive right to use the steam-based technology developed
by a Canadian company, Hydroclave, to treat medical wastes in China. In June 2007, the
Group formed another joint venture Seasun Group Ltd (“Seasun”), holding 65% interest
in it. The formation of Seasun marked the beginning of the second phase of development
of the Group’s environmental protection business. In this phase, 22 more waste treatment
centres will be built in 12 months. And a wholly-owned subsidiary of Seasun to be named
Lo’s Tsinghua Daring Medical Wastes Treatment (China) Holdings Ltd (“Lo’s Tsinghua
Daring China”) will be formed in Hong Kong to oversee development of the business and
related projects.
The steam-based waste treatment technology developed by Hydroclave is widely
used in many developed and developing countries. The technology is safe, inexpensive,
easy to operate and does not create secondary pollution.
On 16 June 2003, the State Council of China published Decree No. 380 – the
Regulations on administration of medical wastes, which requires cities to centralize
collection and treatment of medical wastes and related fees be treated as a basic cost of
medical service and charged to the users.
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On 14 June 2006, the State Environmental Protection Administration published the
Technical Specifications for Steam-based Centralized Treatment Engineering on medical
wastes (HJ/T276-2006) defining how steam-based medical waste treatment should be
conducted. The specifications took effect on 1 August 2006. The Group has had no
problem complying with the specifications as Hydroclave’s technology and system match
perfectly all the stipulated requirements. However, most of the about 690 cities in China
do not have centralized treatment plants for medical wastes. Many of them have been
using incinerators at high operational cost and emission standards falling short of the
latest requirements. We see immediate potential markets in these cities for our medical
waste treatment business. Furthermore, as the demand for medical services in China
continue to increase as its population becomes more affluent, the amount of medical
wastes that need to be treated will also rise. We are thus confident that our medical waste
treatment business will grow in strong and steady strides and bring sustainable income
and profit to the Group in the long run.
In the year under review, income from provision of general cleaning service was still
a major constituent of the Group’s revenue. The major contracts acquired or renewed
during the year included those for luxurious residential estates in West Kowloon, and
grade A office buildings in Central District.
The Group ventured into the business of building repairs and maintenance business
in 2005. However, a number of projects that the Group has entered into ran into
unforeseen difficulties resulting in work delay and some of the works also encountered
workmanship challenge etc from the respective clients. Various works completed had to
be redone or with liquidated damages paid resulting in extra costs to these projects. The
Group since then had finished all the contracts on hand. The consequence of such events
was that the Group suffered a loss of approximately HK$27,679,000 in respect of the
building maintenance and renovation segment for the year ended 31 March 2007. The
Group has now ceased the business of building repairs and maintenance after all previous
contracts were completed.
The Group completed phase 1 of granite floor restoration for a shopping centre on
the Peak during the year. The owner of the shopping mall is considering proceeding with
second phase work. Having delivered phase 1 of the project to the satisfaction of the
client, the Group is confident of securing the contract for the second phase.
For the third year in a roll, the Group was named a “Caring Company” by the Hong
Kong Council of Social Service for being a caring employer and a corporate honouring
its social responsibilities. The Group is encouraged by the recognition and will continue
to fulfill its role as a good corporate citizen in the years ahead.
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Financial Review
During the year under review, the Group’s financial position was sound with a
current ratio of 3.2 as at 31 March 2007 (2006: 4.5). The cash and cash equivalents and
pledged time deposits as at 31 March 2007 totalled approximately HK$54,415,000 (2006:
approximately HK$51,520,000). The Group’s bank borrowings as at 31 March 2007
amounted to HK$4,096,000 (2006: Nil), and therefore its gearing ratio, the ratio of total
bank borrowings to shareholders’ equity, was 5.44% (2006: Nil). The Group’s
shareholders’ equity amounted to HK$75,325,000 as at 31 March 2007 (2006:
HK$72,570,000).
During the year under review, the Group carried out transactions mostly in Hong
Kong dollars. The Group’s cash and bank balances were primarily denominated in Hong
Kong dollars, Renminbi and United States dollars. As such, the Group had no significant
exposure to fluctuations in exchange rates.
As at 31 March 2007, the Group’s banking facilities were secured by the following:
(i)

pledge of certain of the Group’s time deposits amounting to HK$16,130,000
(2006: HK$15,318,000);

(ii) pledge of the Group’s financial asset at fair value through profit or loss with
carrying value at 31 March 2007 of HK$3,862,000 (2006: Nil);
(iii) a corporate guarantee of up to HK$27 million (2006: HK$36 million) from the
Company; and
(iv) joint and several personal guarantee totalling up to HK$1.8 million (2006: Nil)
executed from two minority shareholders of a non wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Group.
As at 31 March 2006, the Group’s banking facilities were also secured by the
Group’s cash and bank balances amounting to HK$4,110,000.
Contingent Liabilities
At the balance sheet date, the Group had contingent liabilities as follows:
(a)

The Group had executed performance guarantees of aggregate amount
HK$1,972,000 (2006: HK$6,252,000) in respect of certain services provided to
various customers by the Group.
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(b)

The Group had a contingent liability in respect of possible future long service
payments to employees under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance (the
“Employment Ordinance”), at a maximum possible amount of approximately
HK$1,469,000 as at 31 March 2007 (2006: HK$1,852,000). The contingent
liability was the result of a number of employees having achieved the required
number of years of service qualifying them for long service payments under the
Employment Ordinance at the balance sheet date, should their employment be
terminated. A provision of HK$817,000 (2006: HK$1,039,000) in respect of
such payments had been made in the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 March
2007.

(c)

A subsidiary of the Group is currently a defendant in lawsuits brought by a
customer and a subcontractor alleging that the subsidiary had breached certain
clauses of certain subcontracting agreements for building renovation and
maintenance services hired by the customer. The plaintiffs are claiming for
compensation for the losses suffered. The directors, though uncertain regarding
the resolution of the claims at this stage, believe the subsidiary has valid
defence to the allegations and, accordingly, had not made provision for the
claims as at 31 March 2007.

(d)

Except for the pending litigations detailed in note (c) above, during the
ordinary course of its business, the Group may from time to time be involved
in litigation concerning personal injuries sustained by employees or third party
claimants. The Group maintains insurance cover and, in the opinion of the
directors based on current evidence, any such existing claims should be
adequately covered by insurance as at 31 March 2006 and 2007.

Employees and Remuneration Policies
The total number of employees of the Group as at 31 March 2007 was 2,137 (2006:
1,958). Total staff costs, including director’s emoluments and net pension contributions,
for the year under review amounted to HK$137,798,000 (2005: HK$139,112,000). The
Group provides employees with training programmes on latest skills.
Remunerations are commensurate with the nature of jobs, experience and market
conditions; and performance related bonuses are granted to some employees on a
discretionary basis. In addition, all employees of the Group, including directors, are
eligible to participate in the Company’s share option scheme.
Prospects
Both Hong Kong and Mainland China are experiencing continuous economic growth
which will work to the advantage of the Group’s various businesses. To capture different
business opportunities, the Group will focus on growing the promising medical treatment
business in the PRC and at the same time strive to secure middle to high-end cleaning
service contracts which post higher profit margins. The Group, with a proven track record
of providing quality and professional cleaning services, stands prime in acquiring these
contracts.
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In fulfilling its role as a good corporate citizen, the Group will continue to work with
social service organisations in providing “cleaning training courses” to disadvantaged
workers and hire graduates of those courses. The Group will continue contribute to
building a caring society in partnership with its employees, the social service sector and
the community at large.
For the year ended 31 March 2006
Operating Environment
The economy of Hong Kong has been in continuous recovery. The recovery has been
enhanced by the implementation of the “Closer Economic Partnership Arrangement
(CEPA)” providing measures to facilitate economic co-operation between Hong Kong and
the Mainland, in particular, the provinces of the Pan-Pearl River Delta region, creating
tens of thousands of job opportunities and billions of service receipts and capital
investments for Hong Kong in the past 2 years. In the financial year under review, the
recovery of the economy lowered the unemployment rate but led to higher wage demands.
At the same time, “unhealthy” competition in the general cleaning service industry
prevailed. Service providers were struggling hard to retain their market shares and service
contracts were quoted or tendered at unrealistic prices, rendering the profits derived
therefrom most marginal. The Group is still affected by intensified competition. As
discussed in the Annual Report of last year, the Group will continue to concentrate on
expanding its businesses in professional specialized cleaning services, such as external
wall cleaning and maintenance, pest control treatments, stone finishing care, maintenance
and restoration, agency for stone care and maintenance chemical products and property
renovation and maintenance, the profit returns of all of which are expected to be more
reasonable.
Operating Results
Revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2006 amounted to
HK$183,339,000, representing a 2.8% increase as compared with the previous financial
year. A net loss of HK$4,557,000 was recorded compared with a net profit of
HK$1,917,000 of last year. The slight increase in revenue was mainly owing to the expiry
of some major cleaning service contracts which was counter-balanced by new contracts
obtained and secured and revenue from property renovation and maintenance work. The
change from making a profit to reporting a loss was because of, as discussed above, firstly
the fierce competition in general cleaning services resulting in the drop of marginal
profits and secondly, the up-surging of labour costs as a result of the economy recovery.
Operating expenses increased by 77.5% which was mainly because of the businesses of
property renovation and maintenance work, while general overhead expenses had been
under control. Looking forward to the coming year, the Group will continue its efforts to
reduce operating costs and overhead expenses in difficult operating environment.
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Business Review
The past year remained a year of re-positioning for the Group. The severely keen
competition from the increasing number of cleaning providers, some of whom operating
at minimum overheads, coupled with the up-surging of labour and materials costs had
lowered the profit margins. With the formation of Mak Tai Construction and Engineering
Ltd (“Mak Tai”), a subsidiary of the Group, for the businesses of renovation, fitting out,
repair works of estates, shopping malls, public sitting-outs, department stores and retail
and food outlets, the Group had stepped into the threshold of the industry. A number of
renovation and fitting-out contracts had been secured by Mak Tai and are due to complete
in the coming financial year.
The contract with Kowloon-Canton Railway Corporation for the provision of
cleaning and pest and rodent control services completed at the end of November 2005.
Three contracts for the provision of cleaning and repair works for the external walls
of three residential estates, namely, Sceneway Garden, Kenswood Court and Laguna City,
Phase 3 completed in November and December 2005 respectively, on schedule,
notwithstanding the inclement weather repeatedly encountered during the work periods.
The promotion of a celebrated Italian brand of stone care and maintenance chemical
products, for which the Group through an associated company is the sole agent, is going
smoothly. The Group is now expanding its sales networks by setting up more sales offices
and expecting increased distribution in various cities and locations in Mainland China and
Macau.
The marble finishing restoration work for 290 guest rooms in a 5-star hotel was
completed shortly after the Lunar New Year. The client was impressed by quality of work
achieved and as a result, the Group has successfully obtained contracts from this hotel for
marble restoration for another lot of guest rooms and entrance lobbies. The work still
continues.
Having satisfactorily completed the trial period, a formal contract has been entered
into with a leading laundry workshop for providing supervisors and workers, day and
night, for sorting and folding laundry items. The Group’s revenue base is broadened by
diversifying its services.
The Group is discussing with the Mental Health Association of Hong Kong for
organizing and providing a “cleaning skills training course” to groups of vulnerable
members and has committed to the employment of those members who have satisfactorily
completed the course. The Group has therefore for the third year been nominated for the
award of a “Caring Company Logo” organized by The Hong Kong Council of Social
Service for its enthusiastic participation in assisting the needy of the society. The Group
will consistently maintain its corporate culture of giving back to the community by
devoting to the community activities.
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Financial Review
During the year under review, the Group enjoyed a healthy financial position with
a current ratio of 4.5 as at 31 March 2006 (2005: 5.2). The cash and bank balances as at
31 March 2006 was approximately HK$51,520,000 (2005: approximately
HK$65,595,000). The Group did not have any bank borrowing as at 31 March 2006 and
therefore, the Group’s gearing ratio was nil. The Group’s shareholder’s equity amounted
to HK$72,570,000 as at 31 March 2006 (2005: HK$78,332,000).
During the year under review, the Group carried out its transactions mostly in the
currency of Hong Kong dollars. In addition, the Group’s cash and bank balances were
primarily denominated in Hong Kong and United States dollars. As such, the Group has
no significant exposure to fluctuations in exchange rates.
As at 31 March 2006, the Group’s banking facilities were secured by the Group’s
cash at bank and time deposits of HK$19,428,000 (2005: HK$18,995,000) in aggregate.
The facilities have not been utilized as at 31 March 2006. Save as disclosed above, the
Group did not have any charges on any of its assets as at 31 March 2006.
Contingent Liabilities
At the balance sheet date, the Group had contingent liabilities as follows:
(a)

The Group has executed performance guarantees to the extent of an aggregate
amount of HK$6,252,000 (2005: HK$7,118,000) in respect of certain services
provided to various customers by the Group.

(b)

The Group had a contingent liability in respect of possible future long service
payments to employees under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance, with a
maximum possible amount of approximately HK$1,852,000 as at 31 March
2006 (2005: HK$3,035,000), as further explained under the heading
“Employee benefits” in note 2.5 to the financial statements. The contingent
liability has arisen because, at the balance sheet date, a number of current
employees have achieved the required number of years of service to the Group
in order to be eligible for long service payments under the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance if their employment is terminated under certain
circumstances. A provision of HK$1,039,000 (2005: HK$1,632,000) in respect
of such payments has been made in the consolidated balance sheet as at 31
March 2006.

(c)

During the ordinary course of its business, the Group may from time to time
be involved in litigation concerning personal injuries sustained by its
employees or third party claimants. The Group maintains insurance cover and,
in the opinion of the directors, based on current evidence, any such existing
claims should be adequately covered by the insurance as at 31 March 2005 and
2006.
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Employees and Remuneration Policies
The total number of employees of the Group as at 31 March 2006 was 1,958 (2005:
2,273). Total staff costs, including director’s emoluments and net pension contributions,
for the year under review amounted to HK$139,112,000 (2005: HK$148,944,000). The
Group provides training programmes for its employees.
Remunerations are commensurate with the nature of jobs, experience and market
conditions; and performance related bonuses are granted to some of the employees on a
discretionary basis. In addition, all employees of the Group, including directors, are
eligible to participate in the Company’s share option scheme.
Use of Proceeds from New Issue
The Company’s shares became listed on the Stock Exchange on 25 July 2003 after
its successful placing and issue of 90 million offer shares at an offer price of HK$0.56
per share. With half of the offer shares being a new issue, the Group raised net proceeds
of approximately HK$20.1 million. As at the end of the year under review, the Group had
applied HK$8.2 million to external wall cleaning business, HK$3 million to stone care
and maintenance business and HK$8 million to building renovation and maintenance
business.”
6.

WORKING CAPITAL SUFFICIENCY

The Directors are satisfied after due and careful enquiry that, after taking into account the
existing cash and bank balances and banking facilities, the Enlarged Group has sufficient
working capital for its present requirements, that is for at least the next 12 months from the date
of this circular in the absence of any unforeseeable circumstances.
7.

MATERIAL ADVERSE CHANGE

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Directors are not aware of any material adverse
change in the financial or trading position of the Group since 31 March 2008 (being the date
to which the latest published audited consolidated financial statements of the Group were made
up).
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18th Floor
Two International Finance Centre
8 Finance Street, Central
Hong Kong

24 November 2008
The Board of Directors
Lo’s Enviro-Pro Holdings Limited
Dear Sirs,
We set out below our report on the financial information regarding Peixin Group Ltd (the
“Company”) and its subsidiary (collectively the “Group”) for the period from 3 January 2006
(date of incorporation) to 31 March 2006, the two years ended 31 March 2007 and 2008, and
the four months ended 31 July 2008 (the “Relevant Periods”), and the comparative financial
information for the four months ended 31 July 2007 (the “31 July 2007 Financial Information”)
for inclusion in the circular of Lo’s Enviro-Pro Holdings Limited (“LEHL”) dated 24
November 2008 (the “Circular”) regarding a major transaction in relation to the proposed
acquisition of 70% equity interest in the Company (the “Acquisition”), pursuant to a share
purchase agreement dated 26 October 2008 (as supplemented by the supplemental Agreement
dated 3 November) entered into among LEHL and ITAD Biotechnology Limited (“ITAD”), the
immediate holding company of the Company. LEHL is a company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands with limited liability and ITAD is a limited company incorporated in Hong Kong.
The Company was incorporated in the British Virgin Islands on 3 January 2006 with
limited liability and is engaged in investment holding. As at 31 July 2008, the Company was
authorised to issue a maximum of 50,000 no par value shares of a single class and issued 100
shares for cash at a consideration of US$1 per share.
The Group has adopted 31 March as its financial year end date for reporting purpose. The
consolidated financial statements of the Group were prepared in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”), accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.
For the purpose of the Circular, the Group has prepared a separate set of financial
statements which include the summaries of the income statements, the statements of changes
in equity and cash flow statements of the Group for the Relevant Periods and the balance sheets
of the Group and the Company as at 31 March 2006, 2007 and 2008 and 31 July 2008 (the
“Financial Information”) in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA, accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.
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Procedures Performed in respect of the Relevant Periods
For the purpose of this report, we have examined the Financial Information of the Group
for the Relevant Periods in accordance with the Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by
the HKICPA, and have carried out such additional procedures as we considered necessary in
accordance with the Auditing Guideline 3.340 “Prospectuses and the Reporting Accountant”
issued by the HKICPA.
Procedures Performed in respect of the 31 July 2007 Financial Information
For the purpose of this report, we have performed a review of the 31 July 2007 Financial
Information, in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Review Engagements 2410 “Review
of Interim Financial Information Performed by the Independent Auditor of the Company”
issued by the HKICPA. A review consists of making inquiries, primarily of persons responsible
for financial and accounting matters, and applying analytical and other review procedures. A
review is substantially less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing and consequently does not enable us to obtain assurance that we would
become aware of all significant matters that might be identified in an audit. Accordingly, we
do not express an audit opinion on the 31 July 2007 Financial Information.
The directors of the Group are responsible for the preparation of the Financial
Information and the 31 July 2007 Financial Information together with the notes thereto. In
preparing the Financial Information and the 31 July 2007 Financial Information, it is
fundamental that appropriate accounting policies are selected and applied consistently. It is our
responsibility to form an independent opinion and a review conclusion on such information in
respect of the Relevant Periods and for the four months ended 31 July 2007, respectively, and
to report our opinion and review conclusion to you. We believe that our work provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.
Opinion in respect of the Relevant Periods
In our opinion, the Financial Information, for the purpose of this report, gives a true and
fair view of the consolidated results and cash flows of the Group for each of the Relevant
Periods and of the state of affairs of the Group and the Company as at 31 March 2006, 2007
and 2008 and 31 July 2008.
Review Conclusion in respect of the 31 July 2007 Financial Information
Based on our review, for the purpose of this report, nothing has come to our attention that
causes us to believe that the 31 July 2007 Financial Information of the Group does not give a
true and fair view of the financial performance and cash flows of the Group for the four months
ended 31 July 2007 in accordance with HKFRSs.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consolidated income statements
Period
from
3 January
2006
(date of
incorporation)
to 31 March
2006
Notes
HK$’000

Other income
Administrative expenses

Year ended
31 March
2007
2008
HK$’000
HK$’000

Four months ended
31 July
2007
2008
HK$’000
HK$’000
(unaudited)

–
–

73
(1,400)

74
(2,339)

56
(816)

38
(1,173)

LOSS BEFORE TAX
Tax

(6)
(8)

–
–

(1,327)
–

(2,265)
–

(760)
–

(1,135)
–

LOSS FOR THE
YEAR/PERIOD
ATTRIBUTABLE TO
EQUITY HOLDERS
OF THE COMPANY

(9)

–

(1,327)

(2,265)

(760)

(1,135)

LOSS PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO
EQUITY HOLDERS
OF THE COMPANY

(10)

–

(13)

(23)

(8)

(11)
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Consolidated balance sheets

2006
HK$’000

31 March
2007
HK$’000

2008
HK$’000

31 July
2008
HK$’000

–

2,285

27,445

49,580

–

3,497

15,970

17,932

–

5,782

43,415

67,512

–
1

312
13,285

485
9,252

56
20,370

1

13,597

9,737

20,426

–

152

70

37

–

19,824

52,715

86,432

Total current liabilities

–

19,976

52,785

86,469

NET CURRENT
LIABILITIES

1

(6,379)

(43,048)

(66,043)

Net assets/(liabilities)

1

(597)

367

1,469

–
1

–
(597)

–
367

–
1,469

1

(597)

367

1,469

Notes
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Deposits paid for acquisition
of property, plant and
equipment

CURRENT ASSETS
Prepayments, deposits and
other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

(11)

(13)

Total current assets
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Other payables and accruals
Due to the immediate holding
company

EQUITY
Issued capital
Reserves

(14)

(15)
(16(a))

Total equity
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

Issued
capital
HK$’000
Issue of shares upon
incorporation

Share
premium Accumulated
account
losses
HK$’000
HK$’000

Exchange
fluctuation
reserve
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

–

1

–

–

1

–

1

–

–

1

–
–

–
–

–
(1,327)

729
–

729
(1,327)

–

1

(1,327)

729

(597)

–
–

–
–

–
(2,265)

3,229
–

3,229
(2,265)

–

1

(3,592)

3,958

–
–

–
–

–
(1,135)

2,237
–

2,237
(1,135)

At 31 July 2008

–

1

(4,727)

6,195

1,469

At 1 April 2007
Exchange realignment and
total income and expense
for the period recognised
directly in equity (unaudited)
Loss for the period (unaudited)

–

1

(1,327)

729

(597)

–
–

–
–

–
(760)

429
–

429
(760)

At 31 July 2007 (unaudited)

–

1

(2,087)

1,158

(928)

At 31 March 2006 and
1 April 2006
Exchange realignment and
total income and expense
for the year recognised
directly in equity
Loss for the year
At 31 March 2007 and
1 April 2007
Exchange realignment and
total income and expense
for the year recognised
directly in equity
Loss for the year
At 31 March 2008 and
1 April 2008
Exchange realignment and
total income and expense
for the period recognised
directly in equity
Loss for the period
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Consolidated cash flow statements

Notes

CASH FLOWS FROM
OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax
Adjustment for:
Depreciation
(Increase)/decrease in
prepayments, deposits and
other receivables
Increase/(decrease) in other
payables and accruals
Increase in amount due to
the immediate holding
company

(6)

Net cash inflow from
financing activity

(1,327)

(2,265)

Four months ended
31 July
2007
2008
HK$’000
HK$’000
(unaudited)

(760)

(1,135)

–

158

290

92

109

–

(312)

(173)

(141)

429

–

156

(82)

97

(33)

–

19,824

32,763

1,993

33,681

–

18,499

30,533

1,281

33,051

(17)

–

(2,381)

(14,191)

(992)

(10,793)

(17)

–

(3,404)

(20,845)

(9,183)

(11,809)

–

(5,785)

(35,036)

(10,175)

(22,602)

Net cash outflow from
investing activities
CASH FLOW FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITY
Proceed from issue of shares

Year ended
31 March
2007
2008
HK$’000
HK$’000

–

Cash generated from
operations and net cash
inflow from operating
activities
CASH FLOWS FROM
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Additions to property, plant
and equipment
Deposits paid for acquisition
of property, plant and
equipment

Period from
3 January
2006
(date of
incorporation)
to 31 March
2006
HK$’000

(15)

1

–

–

–

–

1

–

–

–

–
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Notes

NET INCREASE/
(DECREASE) IN CASH
AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of year/
period
Effect of foreign exchange
rate changes, net
CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS AT END
OF YEAR/
PERIOD

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES
OF CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances
Non-pledged time deposits
with original maturity of
less three months when
acquired

Period from
3 January
2006
(date of
incorporation)
to 31 March
2006
HK$’000

Year ended
31 March
2007
2008
HK$’000
HK$’000

–

12,714

–

Four months ended
31 July
2007
2008
HK$’000
HK$’000
(unaudited)

(4,503)

(8,894)

10,449

1

13,285

13,285

9,252

–

570

470

208

669

1

13,285

9,252

4,599

20,370

(13)

1

204

9,252

4,599

20,370

(13)

–

13,081

–

–

–

1

13,285

9,252

4,599

20,370
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Balance sheets

Notes

2006
HK$’000

31 March
2007
HK$’000

2008
HK$’000

31 July
2008
HK$’000

NON-CURRENT ASSET
Interest in a subsidiary

(12)

–

19,200

51,902

85,782

CURRENT ASSET
Cash and bank balances

(13)

1

92

230

38

CURRENT LIABILITY
Due to the immediate holding
company

(14)

–

19,300

52,150

85,850

NET CURRENT ASSETS/
(LIABILITIES)

1

(19,208)

(51,920)

(85,812)

Net assets/(liabilities)

1

(8)

(18)

(30)

–
1

–
(8)

–
(18)

–
(30)

1

(8)

(18)

(30)

EQUITY
Issued capital
Accumulated losses

(15)
(16(b))

Total equity
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II.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL INFORMATION

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. The registered office
of the Company is situated at Akara Building, 24 De Castro Street, Wickhams Cay 1, Road Town, Tortola, British
Virgin Islands. The Group has not commenced operation during the Relevant Periods.
2.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND PREPARATION
Basis of presentation
The Financial Information and the 31 July 2007 Financial Information have been prepared on a going
concern basis notwithstanding that the Group recorded net current liabilities of HK$66,043,000 as at 31 July
2008 because ITAD, the immediate holding company of the Company, has agreed to waive the amount due
from the Group amounted to HK$86,432,000 as at 31 July 2008 upon the Acquisition. On this basis, the
directors of the Group consider that the Group will have sufficient working capital to finance its operations
in the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the directors of the Group are satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare
the Financial Information and the 31 July 2007 Financial Information on a going concern basis.
Basis of preparation
The Financial Information and the 31 July 2007 Financial Information have been prepared in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA, accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. The Financial Information and the 31 July
2007 Financial Information have been prepared under the historical cost convention and are presented in Hong
Kong dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.
All HKFRSs effective for the accounting periods commencing from 1 January 2005, together with the
relevant transitional provision, have been early adopted by the Group in preparing the Financial Information
and the 31 July 2007 Financial Information throughout the Relevant Periods.
The Group has not applied the following relevant new and revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but
are not yet effective, in the Financial Information and the 31 July 2007 Financial Information.
HKFRS 8
HKAS 1 (Revised)

Operating Segments
Presentation of Financial Statements

HKFRS 8 shall be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009. This standard,
which will replace HKAS 14 Segment Reporting, specifies how an entity should report information about its
operating segments, based on information about the components of the entity that is available to the chief
operating decision maker for the purposes of allocation resources to the segments and assessing their
performance. The standard also requires the disclosure of information about the products and services provided
by the segments, the geographical areas in which the Group operates, and revenue from the Group’s major
customers.
HKAS 1 (Revised) shall be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009. The
revised standard separates owner and non-owner changes in equity. The statement of changes in equity will
include only details of transactions with owners, with all non-owner changes in equity presented as a single
line. In addition, this standard introduces the statement of comprehensive income: it presents all items of
income and expense recognised in profit or loss, together with all other items of recognised income and
expense, either in one single statement, or in two linked statements.
The Group is in the process of making an assessment of the impact of these new and revised HKFRSs
upon initial application. So far, it has concluded that while the adoption of HKFRS 8 and HKAS 1 (Revised)
may result in new or amended disclosures, these new and revised HKFRSs are unlikely to have a significant
impact on the Group’s results of operations and financial position.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Subsidiary
A subsidiary is an entity whose financial and operating policies the Company controls, directly or
indirectly, so as to obtain benefits from its activities.
The result of subsidiary are included in the Company’s income statement to the extent of dividends
received and receivable. The Company’s interest in a subsidiary is stated at cost less any impairment losses.
Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill
Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required
(other than financial assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the
higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs to sell, and is determined
for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case, the recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable
amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the income statement in the period in which it arises.
An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, however not to an
amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of any depreciation), had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such impairment loss is credited to
the income statement in the period in which it arises.
Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:
(a)

the party, directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, (i) controls, is controlled by,
or is under common control with, the Group; (ii) has an interest in the Group that gives it
significant influence over the Group; or (iii) has joint control over the Group;

(b)

the party is a member of the key management personnel of the Company or its parent;

(c)

the party is a close member of the family of any individual referred to in (a) or (b); or

(d)

the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by or for
which significant voting power in such entity resides with, directly or indirectly, any individual
referred to in (b) or (c).

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress, are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location
for its intended use. Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have been put into
operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to the income statement in the period in which
it is incurred. In situations where it can be clearly demonstrated that the expenditure has resulted in an increase
in the future economic benefits expected to be obtained from the use of an item of property, plant and
equipment, and where the cost of the item can be measured reliably, the expenditure is capitalised as an
additional cost of that asset or as a replacement.

– 139 –

APPENDIX II

ACCOUNTANTS’ REPORT ON PEIXIN GROUP

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of each item of property, plant
and equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for this
purpose are as follows:
Buildings
Furniture and equipment
Motor vehicles
Computer equipment

4.75%
19% – 31.67%
23.75%
31.67%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost of that item
is allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated separately.
Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at
each balance sheet date.
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the
income statement in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset.
Construction in progress represents buildings and machinery under construction, which is stated at cost
less any impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of construction during the
period of construction. Construction in progress is reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant
and equipment or investment properties when completed and ready for use.
Operating leases
Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of assets remain with the lessor are
accounted for as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases net
of any incentives received from the lessor are charged to the income statement on the straight-line basis over
the relevant lease terms.
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market. Such assets are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective
interest method less any allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate and
transaction costs. Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when the loans and receivables are
derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process.
Impairment of financial assets
The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial
asset or a group of financial assets is impaired.
Assets carried at amortised cost
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables carried at amortised cost
has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred)
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed at
initial recognition). The carrying amount of the asset is reduced either directly or through the use of an
allowance account. The amount of the impairment loss is recognised in the income statement. Loans and
receivables together with any associated allowance are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future
recovery.
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment
loss is reversed by adjusting the allowance account. Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised in the income statement, to the extent that the carrying value of the asset does not exceed its
amortised cost at the reversal date.
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In relation to trade and other receivables, a provision for impairment is made when there is objective
evidence (such as the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtor and significant
changes in the technological, market economic or legal environment that have an adverse effect on the debtor)
that the Group will not be able to collect all of the amounts due under the original terms of an invoice. The
carrying amount of the receivables is reduced through the use of an allowance account. Impaired debts are
derecognised when they are assessed as uncollectible.
Derecognition of financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is derecognised where:
•

the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;

•

the Group retains the rights to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay
them in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; or

•

the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

Where the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset and has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset
is recognised to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset. Continuing involvement that
takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount
of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be required to repay.
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Financial liabilities, including other payables and amount due to the immediate holding company, are
initially stated at fair value less directly attributable transaction costs and are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost. The related interest expense is recognised within “finance costs” in the
income statement.
Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when the liabilities are derecognised as well
as through the amortisation process.
Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled
or expires.
When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the
difference between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the income statement.
Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments which are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity
of generally within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group’s cash management.
For the purpose of the balance sheets, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
including term deposits, which are not restricted as to use.
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Income tax
Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in the income statement, or in
equity if it relates to items that are recognised in the same or a different period directly in equity.
Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected
to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities.
Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the balance sheet
date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:
•

where the deferred tax liability arises from goodwill or the initial recognition of an asset or liability in
a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

•

in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and an associate,
where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that
the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:
•

where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary differences arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time
of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

•

in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and an
associate, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be utilised. Conversely, previously unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each
balance sheet date and are recognised to the extent that it is probable that sufficient future taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the
same taxation authority.
Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and when
the revenue can be measured reliably. Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the expected life
of the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.
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Employee benefits
Retirement benefits schemes
The employees of the Group’s subsidiary which operates in Mainland China are required to participate
in a central pension scheme operated by the local government. These subsidiaries are required to contribute
certain of its payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions are charged to the income statement
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.
Foreign currencies
The Financial Information and the 31 July 2007 Financial Information are presented in HK$, which is
the Company’s functional and presentation currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional
currency and items included in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional
currency. Foreign currency transactions are initially recorded using the functional currency rates ruling at the
date of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. All differences are taken to the
income statement. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
determined.
The functional currency of an overseas subsidiary is currency other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at
the balance sheet date, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into the presentation currency
of the Company at the exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date, and their income statements are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the year. The resulting exchange
differences are included in the exchange fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign entity, the deferred
cumulative amount recognised in equity relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the income
statement.
For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.
4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities, at the reporting date. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result
in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in
the future.
Estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
balance sheet date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.
Impairment of non-financial assets
The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for all non-financial assets at each
reporting date. Indefinite life intangible assets are tested for impairment annually and at other times when such
indicator exists. Other non-financial assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators that the carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. When value in use calculations are undertaken, management must estimate
the expected future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
5.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

No separate analysis of segment information is presented by the Group as over 90% of the Group’s revenue,
results and assets relate to the waste management business in Mainland China during the Relevant Periods.
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LOSS BEFORE TAX
Period from
3 January
2006
(date of
incorporation)
to 31 March
2006
HK$’000

Auditors’ remuneration
Depreciation
Employee benefits expense
(including directors’
remuneration (note 7)):
Wages and salaries
Pension scheme contributions

Minimum lease payments under
operating leases
in respect of land and
buildings

7.

Year ended
31 March
2007
2008
HK$’000
HK$’000

Four months ended
31 July
2007
2008
HK$’000
HK$’000
(unaudited)

–
–

–
158

2
290

2
92

4
109

–
–

241
45

545
133

130
33

207
77

–

286

678

163

284

–

106

195

133

56

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
(i)

Directors’ remuneration

As disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules and Section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
no director received any fees or other emoluments during the Relevant Periods and the four months ended 31
July 2007.
There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during
the Relevant Periods and the four months ended 31 July 2007.
(ii)

Five highest paid employees

The five highest paid employees during the Relevant Periods and the four months ended 31 July 2007
included five non-director employees, details of their remuneration are set out as follows:
Period from
3 January
2006
(date of
incorporation)
to 31 March
2006
HK$’000

Wages and salaries
Pension scheme
contributions

Year ended
31 March
2007
2008
HK$’000
HK$’000

Four months ended
31 July
2007
2008
HK$’000
HK$’000
(unaudited)

–

103

180

70

54

–

23

59

23

18

–

126

239

93

72
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The remuneration of all the non-director, highest paid employees fell within the band of Nil to
HK$1,000,000 during the Relevant Periods and the four months ended 31 July 2007.
8.

TAX

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the Company did not generate any assessable profit
during the Relevant Periods and the four months ended 31 July 2007. No corporate income tax has been provided
in Mainland China as the Group did not generate any assessable profits arising in Mainland China during the Relevant
Periods and the four months ended 31 July 2007.
A reconciliation of the tax position applicable to loss before tax using the statutory rate for the place in which
the Group is domiciled to the tax expense at the effective tax rate is as follows:
Period from
3 January
2006
(date of
incorporation)
to 31 March
2006
HK$’000

Loss before tax

Year ended
31 March
2007
2008
HK$’000
HK$’000

Four months ended
31 July
2007
2008
HK$’000
HK$’000
(unaudited)

–

(1,327)

(2,265)

(760)

(1,135)

–

(232)

(396)

(133)

(199)

Tax at the statutory
tax rate of 17.5%
Different tax rates of
local authority
Expenses not deductible
for tax

–

(205)

(348)

(117)

(84)

–

437

744

250

283

Tax position at the Group’s
effective tax rate

–

–

–

–

–

There was no material unprovided deferred tax as at 31 March 2006, 2007 and 2008 and 31 July 2008 and in
respect of the respective years/periods then ended.
9.

LOSS FOR THE YEAR/PERIOD ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The consolidated loss attributable to equity holders of the Company for the period from 3 January 2006 (date
of incorporation) to 31 March 2006, the two years ended 31 March 2007 and 2008, four months ended 31 July 2007
and 2008 includes a loss of Nil, HK$9,000, HK$10,000, HK$8,000 (unaudited) and HK$12,000, respectively, which
has been dealt with in the financial statements of the Company (note 16(b)).
10.

LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

For the period from 3 January 2006 (date of incorporation) to 31 March 2006, the two years ended 31 March
2007 and 2008, four months ended 31 July 2007 and 2008, the calculation of basic earnings per share is based on
loss attributable to equity holders of the Company of Nil, HK$1,327,000, HK$2,265,000, HK$760,000 (unaudited)
and HK$1,135,000 respectively, and the weighted average number of 100 ordinary shares in issue during the
years/periods.
No diluted loss per share is presented for any of the Relevant Periods and the four months ended 31 July 2007
as no diluting events occurred during the respective years/periods.
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PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Group

31 March 2007
At 31 March 2006
and at 1 April
2006:
Cost
Accumulated
depreciation
Net carrying
amount

At 1 April 2006, net
of accumulated
depreciation
Additions
Transfers
Depreciation provided
during the year
Exchange realignment
At 31 March 2007,
net of accumulated
depreciation

At 31 March 2007:
Cost
Accumulated
depreciation
Net carrying
amount

Building
HK$’000

Furniture
and
equipment
HK$’000

Motor
vehicles
HK$’000

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–
–
279

–
138
338

–
362
–

–
94
–

(95)
11

(54)
8

(6)
3

284

392

316

91

1,202

2,285

287

490

371

97

1,202

2,447

(98)

(55)

(6)

392

316

91

(3)
8

(3)

284
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Computer Construction
equipment in progress
HK$’000
HK$’000

–
1,787
(617)
–
32

–

1,202

Total
HK$’000

–
2,381
–
(158)
62

(162)

2,285
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Group

31 March 2008
At 31 March 2007
and at 1 April
2007:
Cost
Accumulated
depreciation
Net carrying
amount

At 1 April 2007,
net of accumulated
depreciation
Additions
Transfers
Depreciation provided
during the year
Exchange realignment
At 31 March 2008,
net of accumulated
depreciation

At 31 March 2008:
Cost
Accumulated
depreciation
Net carrying
amount

Building
HK$’000

Furniture
and
equipment
HK$’000

Motor
vehicles
HK$’000

287

490

371

97

(98)

(55)

(6)

284

392

316

91

1,202

2,285

284
59
172

392
97
–

316
–
–

91
4
–

1,202
23,856
(172)

2,285
24,016
–

(17)
37

(171)
31

(92)
25

(10)
8

–
1,333

535

349

249

93

26,219

27,445

556

636

406

110

26,219

27,927

(21)

(287)

(157)

(17)

535

349

249

93

(3)
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equipment in progress
HK$’000
HK$’000

1,202
–

–

26,219

Total
HK$’000

2,447
(162)

(290)
1,434

(482)

27,445
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Group

Building
HK$’000

Furniture
and
equipment
HK$’000

Motor
vehicles
HK$’000

556

636

406

110

(21)

(287)

(157)

(17)

535

349

249

93

26,219

27,445

535
59

349
16

249
–

93
3

26,219
21,106

27,445
21,184

(63)
10

(33)
7

(4)
3

–
1,024

601

312

223

95

48,349

49,580

632

672

418

116

48,349

50,187

(31)

(360)

(195)

(21)

601

312

223

95

31 July 2008
At 31 March 2008
and at 1 April
2008:
Cost
Accumulated
depreciation
Net carrying
amount

At 1 April 2008, net
of accumulated
depreciation
Additions
Depreciation provided
during the period
Exchange realignment
At 31 July 2008, net
of accumulated
depreciation

At 31 July 2008:
Cost
Accumulated
depreciation
Net carrying
amount

12.

(9)
16

Computer Construction
equipment in progress
HK$’000
HK$’000

26,219
–

–

48,349

Total
HK$’000

27,927
(482)

(109)
1,060

(607)

49,580

INTEREST IN A SUBSIDIARY
Company

2006
HK$’000

31 March
2007
HK$’000

2008
HK$’000

31 July
2008
HK$’000

–
–

19,200
–

51,902
–

65,782
20,000

–

19,200

51,902

85,782

Unlisted investments, at cost
Loan to a subsidiary

The loan to a subsidiary is unsecured, interest-free and has no fixed terms of repayment. The carrying
amount of the loan to a subsidiary approximates to its fair value.
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Particulars of the subsidiary are as follows:
Place of
incorporation/
registration and
operations

Name
Shuyang ITAD
Environment
Technology
Limited^
^
13.

PRC/Mainland
China

Nominal value of
registered capital

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company
Direct

RMB62,500,000

100

Principal activities
Yet to commence
operation

Registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under the PRC laws.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2006
HK$’000

Group
31 March
2007
2008
HK$’000
HK$’000

31 July
2008
HK$’000

Cash and bank balances
Time deposits

1
–

204
13,081

9,252
–

20,370
–

Cash and cash equivalents

1

13,285

9,252

20,370

Company
31 March
2007
2008
HK$’000
HK$’000

31 July
2008
HK$’000

2006
HK$’000
Cash and bank balances

1

92

230

38

At 31 March 2006, 2007 and 2008 and 31 July 2008, the cash and cash equivalents of the Group denominated
in Renminbi (“RMB”) amounted to Nil, HK$13,193,000, HK$9,022,000 and HK$20,332,000. The RMB is not freely
convertible into other currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to
exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.
Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short-term time deposits are
made for varying periods of between one day and three months depending on the immediate cash requirements of the
Group, and earn interest at the respective short-term time deposit rates. The bank balances and time deposits are
deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default. The carrying amounts of the cash and bank
balances and the time deposits approximate to their fair values.
14.

DUE TO THE IMMEDIATE HOLDING COMPANY

Amount due to the immediate holding company is non-interest-being, unsecured and has no fixed terms of
repayment. The carrying amount of amount due to the immediate holding company approximates to its fair value at
each of the balance sheet dates.
15.

SHARE CAPITAL

The Company is authorised to issue a maximum of 50,000 no par value shares of single class. 100 shares were
issued for cash at a consideration of US$1 per share.
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RESERVES
(a)

Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for the Relevant Periods and the four
months ended 31 July 2007 are presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on Section I above.
(b)

17.

Company
Share
premium
account
HK$’000

Accumulated
losses
HK$’000

Total
HK$’000

Issue of shares upon incorporation
Loss for the period

1
–

–
–

1
–

At 31 March 2006 and 1 April 2006
Loss for the year

1
–

–
(9)

1
(9)

At 31 March 2007 and 1 April 2007
Loss for the year

1
–

(9)
(10)

(8)
(10)

At 31 March 2008 and 1 April 2008
Loss for the period

1
–

(19)
(12)

(18)
(12)

At 31 July 2008

1

(31)

(30)

At 1 April 2007
Loss for the period (unaudited)

1
–

(9)
(8)

(8)
(8)

At 31 July 2007 (unaudited)

1

(17)

(16)

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION

During the year ended 31 March 2008 and period ended 31 July 2008, included in the purchases of items of
property, plant and equipment with carrying amount of HK$9,825,000 and HK$10,391,000 were transferred from
deposits paid for acquisition of property, plant and equipment, respectively.
18.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
At the balance sheet dates, the Group had no significant contingent liabilities.

19.

OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

The Group leases its office properties and staff quarters under operating lease arrangements, which are
negotiated for terms of one year.
At balance sheet dates, the Group had total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases falling due as follows:

2006
HK$’000

31 March
2007
HK$’000

2008
HK$’000

31 July
2008
HK$’000

–

37

47

32

Within one year
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CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in note 19 above, the Group had the following capital
commitments as at the balance sheet dates:

2006
HK$’000

31 March
2007
HK$’000

2008
HK$’000

31 July
2008
HK$’000

–

57,731

51,586

31,543

Capital commitments in respect of
the acquisition of items of property,
plant and equipment:
Contracted, but not provided for

21.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Except for related party transactions disclosed elsewhere in the Financial Information, the Group did not have
material related party transactions during the Relevant Periods and the four months ended 31 July 2007.
(i)

Outstanding balances with related parties:

Details of the Group’s amount due to immediate holding company as at the balance sheet dates are
disclosed in note 14 to the Financial Information.
(ii)

Compensation of key management personnel of the Group

The Group’s key management personnel are the directors of the Company. Further details of directors’
remuneration are included in note 7 to Financial Information.
22.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORIES

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as at the balance sheet dates are as
follows:
Group
Financial assets

2006
Loans and
Receivables
HK$’000

31 March
2007
Loans and
receivables
HK$’000

2008
Loans and
receivables
HK$’000

31 July
2008
Loans and
receivables
HK$’000

–
1

280
13,285

450
9,252

20
20,370

Financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
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Financial liabilities

2006
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
HK$’000

31 March
2007
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
HK$’000

2008
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
HK$’000

31 July
2008
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
HK$’000

–
–

152
19,824

70
52,715

37
86,432

2006
Loans and
Receivables
HK$’000

31 March
2007
Loans and
receivables
HK$’000

2008
Loans and
receivables
HK$’000

31 July
2008
Loans and
receivables
HK$’000

1

92

230

38

2006
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
HK$’000

31 March
2007
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
HK$’000

2008
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
HK$’000

31 July
2008
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
HK$’000

–

19,300

52,150

85,850

Financial liabilities included in other
payables and accruals
Due to the immediate holding company
Company
Financial assets

Cash and bank balances
Financial liabilities

Due to the immediate holding company
23.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and short term deposits and amounts due to
shareholders. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations.
The Group’s exposure to market risk (including interest rate risk and foreign currency risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk arises in the normal course of its business. These risks are managed by the Group’s financial
management policies and practices described below:
Interest rate risk
The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk is considered to be relatively small as the Group’s financial
instruments predominately were non-interest bearing or carried at minimal interest rate.
Foreign currency risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes
in foreign exchange rates. The Group has no specific policy to deal with foreign currency risk. However,
management monitors the exposure and will consider hedging the foreign currency risk exposure for
significant cash flow risks should the need arise. As at the balance sheet dates, the Group’s exposure to foreign
currency risk is minimal as all transactions are denominated in the operating units’ functional currency.
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Credit risk
The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents represent the Group’s maximum exposure to credit
risk in relation to financial assets. Based on management’s assessment, the Group’s exposure to credit risk is
not significant and no specific credit risk management policy is adopted.
Liquidity risk
The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool
considers the maturity of both its financial instruments and financial assets (e.g., trade receivables) and
projected cash flows from operations.
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its current and expected liquidity levels to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash for its daily operation purposes.
As at balance sheet dates, maturity profile of the Group and the Company’s financial liabilities, based
on the undiscounted payments was repayable on demand.
Capital management
The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise
shareholder value.
The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the objectives,
policies or processes during Relevant Periods.
The Group monitors capital based on the fact that adjusted capital is positive. Adjusted capital includes
equity and an amount due to the immediate holding company. The adjusted capital as at the balance sheet dates
were as follows:

2006
HK$’000

24.

31 March
2007
HK$’000

2008
HK$’000

31 July
2008
HK$’000

Due to the immediate holding company
Equity attributable to equity holders

–
1

19,824
(597)

52,715
367

86,432
1,469

Adjusted capital

1

19,227

53,082

87,901

SUBSEQUENT FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

No audited financial statements have been prepared by the Company in respect of any period subsequent to
31 July 2008.

Yours faithfully,
Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong
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UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET OF THE
ENLARGED GROUP UPON COMPLETION OF THE ACQUISITION
The following is the unaudited pro forma consolidated balance sheet of the Enlarged
Group which illustrates the financial impact of the Acquisition on the assets and liabilities of
the Group assuming that the Acquisition had taken place on 31 March 2008. The definitions
used in the Circular apply to this appendix unless otherwise stated.
(a)

the audited consolidated balance sheet of the Group as at 31 March 2008, as set out
in Appendix I to this circular; and

(b)

the audited consolidated balance sheet of Peixin as at 31 July 2008, as set out in
Appendix II to this circular.

As it is prepared for illustrative purposes only and because of its nature, it may not give
a true picture of the financial position of the Enlarged Group as at the dates to which it is made
up to or at any future dates.

The Group
as at
31 March
2008
HK$’000

Peixin as
Unaudited
at 31 July
pro forma
2008 adjustments
HK$’000
HK$’000

Notes

Unaudited
pro forma
balance
sheet of the
Enlarged
Group
HK$’000

Non-current assets
Property, plant and
equipment
Deposit paid for acquisition
of plant and equipment
Investment in subsidiaries

23,711

49,580

14,942
–

17,932
–

Total non-current assets

38,653

67,512

–

106,165

822
40,226

–
–

–
–

822
40,226

1,899
4,022
80,632

56
–
20,370

127,601

20,426

Current assets
Due from an associate
Trade receivables
Prepayments, deposits and
other receivables
Pledged time deposits
Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets
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–
–
44,800
35,645
(80,445)

–
–
(44,800)
44,800
–

73,291

1(a)
1(b)
2

1(a)
1(a)

32,874
–

1,955
4,022
101,002

148,027
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The Group
as at
31 March
2008
HK$’000

Peixin as
Unaudited
at 31 July
pro forma
2008 adjustments
HK$’000
HK$’000

Notes

Unaudited
pro forma
balance
sheet of the
Enlarged
Group
HK$’000

Current liabilities
Trade payables
Due to the immediate
holding company
Other payables and accruals

–
(18,308)

(86,432)
(37)

86,432
(2,000)

Total current liabilities

(19,135)

(86,469)

84,432

(21,172)

Net current assets/
(liabilities)

108,466

(66,043)

84,432

126,855

Total assets less current
liabilities

147,119

1,469

84,432

233,020

(827)

–

–

(827)
1(c)
1(d)

–
(20,345)

Non-current liabilities
Provision for long service
payments

(811)

–

–

(811)

Total non-current liabilities

(811)

–

–

(811)

84,432

Net assets

146,308

1,469

Equity
Issued capital
Share premium account

7,837
167,095

–
1

Capital redemption reserve
Share option reserve
Contribution surplus
Merger reserve
Exchange fluctuation reserve
Accumulated losses

17
9,933
26,758
–
1,101
(63,159)

–
–
–
–
6,195
(4,727)

Minority interests

149,582
(3,274)

1,469
–

44,622
39,810

Total equity

146,308

1,469

84,432
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2,097
44,800
33,548
(44,801)
–
–
–
(49,084)
(1,858)
86,432
(2,000)
(24,512)

232,209

1(b)
1(a)
1(b)
2

2
2
1(c)
1(d)
2

2

9,934
200,643

17
9,933
26,758
(49,084)
5,438
(7,966)

195,673
36,536
232,209
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Notes:
1

2.

The adjustments represent:
(a)

40 new shares of Peixin amounting to HK$44,800,000 (equivalent to RMB40,000,000) to be
allotted and issued by Peixin to the Company pursuant to the Acquisition Agreement;

(b)

209,677,419 Conversion Shares are assumed to be issued at HK$0.17 per share as quoted on the
Stock Exchange on 24 October 2008, being the last trading day of the shares prior to the release
of the Company’s announcement relating the Acquisition, assuming that the principal amount of
the Convertible Notes will be converted into Conversion Shares in full and that no profit
adjustments will be made to the principal amount of the Convertible Notes. Amounts of
HK$2,097,000 and HK$33,548,000 will be credited to share capital and share premium account,
respectively;

(c)

the waive of the Shareholder’s Loan upon Completion; and

(d)

the estimated legal and professional fees of HK$2,000,000 related to the Acquisition.

As the Group and Peixin are under the common control of Mr. Lo Kou Hong and Mrs. Ko Lok Ping
(“Lo’s Family”) before and after the business combination, the business combination is specifically
excluded from the scope of HKFRS 3 (revised) Business Combinations. Accordingly, the Enlarged
Group may select the merger accounting method set out in AG 5 Merger Accounting for Common
Control Combination to account for the combinations with the Group and Peixin in its consolidated
financial statements.
The assets, liabilities and equity of the combining entities should be included in the Enlarged Group’s
consolidated financial statements at the carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements of the
controlling party prior to the common control combination. Although consolidated financial statements
were not previously prepared by Lo’s Family, the carrying amounts assets and liabilities are determined
as if such consolidated financial statements had been prepared. These carrying amounts are referred to
as existing book values from the controlling parties’ perspective in accordance with AG 5.

– 156 –

APPENDIX III

UNAUDITED PRO-FORMA FINANCIAL
INFORMATION OF THE ENLARGED GROUP
18th Floor
Two International Finance Centre
8 Finance Street, Central
Hong Kong

24 November 2008
The Board of Directors
Lo’s Enviro-Pro Holdings Limited
Dear Sirs,
We report on the unaudited pro forma statement of assets and liabilities (the “Unaudited
Pro Forma Financial Information”) of Lo’s Enviro-Pro Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (the “Group”), including its interests in Peixin Group Limited (the “Peixin”)
and its subsidiary (collectively the “Enlarged Group”) as set out in Appendix III to the circular
dated 24 November 2008 (the “Circular”) issued by the Company. The Unaudited Pro Forma
Financial Information has been prepared by the directors for illustrative purposes only, to
provide information about how the Company’s proposed acquisition of 70% interest in Peixin
(the “Acquisition”) might have affected the assets and liabilities of the Group.
The basis of preparation of the unaudited pro forma financial information is set out in the
accompanying introduction and notes to the unaudited pro forma financial information of the
Enlarged Group.
RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS OF THE COMPANY AND
REPORTING ACCOUNTANTS
It is the responsibility solely of the directors of the Company to prepare the Unaudited Pro
Forma Financial Information in accordance with paragraph 4.29 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and
with reference to Accounting Guideline 7 “Preparation of Pro Forma Financial Information for
Inclusion in Investment Circulars” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”).
It is our responsibility to form an opinion, as required by paragraph 4.29(7) of the Listing
Rules, on the Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information and to report our opinion to you. We
do not accept any responsibility for any reports previously given by us on any financial
information used in the compilation of the Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information beyond
that owed to those to whom those reports were addressed by us at the dates of their issue.
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BASIS OF OPINION
We conducted our engagement in accordance with the Hong Kong Standard on Investment
Circular Reporting Engagements 300 “Accountants’ Reports on Pro Forma Financial
Information in Investment Circulars” issued by the HKICPA. Our work consisted primarily of
comparing the unadjusted financial information with source documents, considering the
evidence supporting the adjustments and discussing the Unaudited Pro Forma Financial
Information with the directors of the Company. This engagement did not involve independent
examination of any of the underlying financial information.
We planned and performed our work so as to obtain the information and explanations we
considered necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable
assurance that the Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information has been properly compiled by
the directors of the Company on the basis stated, that such basis is consistent with the
accounting policies of the Group and that the adjustments are appropriate for the purposes of
the Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information as disclosed pursuant to paragraph 4.29(1) of
the Listing Rules.
The Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information is for illustrative purposes only, based
on the judgements and assumptions of the directors of the Company, and because of its
hypothetical nature, does not provide any assurance or indication that any event will take place
in the future and may not be indicative of the financial position of the Enlarged Group as at
31 March 2008 or any future dates.
OPINION
In our opinion:
(a)

the Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information has been properly compiled by the
directors of the Company on the basis stated;

(b)

such basis is consistent with the accounting policies of the Group; and

(c)

the adjustments are appropriate for the purposes of the Unaudited Pro Forma
Financial Information as disclosed pursuant to paragraph 4.29(1) of the Listing
Rules.
Yours faithfully,
Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong
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GENERAL INFORMATION

RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

This circular includes particulars given in compliance with the Listing Rules for the
purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors collectively and
individually accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information contained in this
circular and confirm, having made all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of their knowledge
and belief, opinions expressed in this circular have been arrived at after due and careful
consideration and there are no other facts the omission of which would make any statement in
this circular misleading.
2.

SHARE CAPITAL

The authorised and issued capital of the Company as at the Latest Practicable Date was,
and as a result of the allotment and issue of the Conversion Shares will be, as follows:
Authorised:
2,000,000,000

HK$
Shares (as at the Latest Practicable Date)

Issued and fully paid:
778,925,000
209,677,419

20,000,000
HK$

Shares (as at the Latest Practicable Date)
Conversion Shares

988,602,419

7,789,250
2,096,774
9,886,024

The nominal value of each of the Shares and the Conversion Shares is HK$0.01 each.
The Convertible Note will rank pari passu and rateably without preference (except the
obligations in respect of the relevant tax and certain other statutory exceptions) with all other
unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Company.
The Conversion Shares to be issued as a result of the exercise of the conversion right
attaching to the Convertible Note, will rank pari passu in all respects with all other existing
Shares outstanding at the date of the conversion notice and should be entitled to all dividend
and other distributions the record date of which falls on a date on or after the date of the
conversion notice.
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GENERAL INFORMATION

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS
(a)

Directors’ interests

Save as disclosed below, as at the Latest Practicable Date, none of the Directors and
the chief executive of the Company had any interest or short position in the Shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which (i) were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions, if any, which they were taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO); or (ii) were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the
SFO, to be entered in the register referred to in such provisions of the SFO; or (iii) were
required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange:
(1)

Interests in the Shares

Name of director

Long/Short
position

Dr. Lo Kou Hong

Long
Long

Ms. Ko Lok Ping,
Maria Genoveffa
Mr. Cheung Pui Keung,
James

Long
Long
Long

Capacity
Founder of a
discretionary trust
Interest of spouse
Beneficiary of a
discretionary trust
Beneficial owner
Beneficial owner

Percentage of
the
Company’s
existing
Number of
Shares issued capital
420,000,000
(Note 1)
1,700,000
(Note 2)
420,000,000
(Note 1)
1,700,000
280,000

53.92%
0.22%
53.92%
0.22%
0.04%

Notes:
1.

These shares were owned by Lo’s Family as the trustee of The Lo’s Family Unit Trust, a
unit trust of which all the units in issue were owned by Equity Trustee Limited as the
trustee of The Lo’s Family Trust, a discretionary trust of which the objects included Dr. Lo
Kou Hong’s family members.
Accordingly, Dr. Lo Kou Hong, as the founder of The Lo’s Family Trust, and Ms. Ko Lok
Ping, Maria Genoveffa, as one of the beneficiaries of The Lo’s Family Trust, were deemed
to be interested in the shares owned by Lo’s Family in its capacity as the trustee of The
Lo’s Family Unit Trust under Part XV of the SFO.

2.

Dr. Lo Kou Hong was deemed to be interested in the 1,700,000 Shares through interest of
his spouse, Ms. Ko Lok Ping, Maria Genoveffa.
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Interests in underlying shares of the Company

Name of director
Dr. Lo Kou Hong

Ms. Ko Lok Ping,
Maria Genoveffa

Long/Short
position

Capacity

Long
Long

Beneficial owner
Interest of spouse

Long

Interest of a
controlled
corporation
Beneficial owner
Interest of spouse

Long
Long
Long

Mr. Leung Tai Tsan,
Charles
Mr. Cheung Pui Keung,
James

Long

Interest of a
controlled
corporation
Beneficial owner

Long

Beneficial owner

Percentage of
the
underlying
shares over
the
Company’s
Number of
existing
underlying issued share
shares
capital
9,400,000
9,400,000
(Note (1))
209,677,419
(Note (3))
9,400,000
9,400,000
(Note (2))
209,677,419
(Note (3))

1.20%
1.20%
26.91%

1.20%
1.20%
26.91%

8,000,000

1.02%

8,000,000

1.02%

Notes:
(1)

Dr. Lo Kou Hong was deemed to be interested in the 9,400,000 shares options of the
Company through interest of his spouse, Ms. Ko Lok Ping, Maria Genoveffa.

(2)

Ms. Ko Lok Ping, Maria Genoveffa was deemed to be interested in the 9,400,000 share
options of the Company through interest of her spouse, Dr. Lo Kou Hong.

(3)

Under the Acquisition Agreement, the Vendor will enter into the Subscription Agreement
with the Company on Completion, under which, the Convertible Notes for conversion of
209,677,419 Conversion Shares of the Company will be issued. By virtue of the SFO, Dr.
Lo Kou Hong and Ms. Ko Lok Ping Maria Genoveffa, who respectively holds 50% equity
interest in Triple Kind, which then holds 80% equity interest in Lo’s E-P Biotech, which
in turn holds 100% equity interest in the Vendor, were deemed to be interested in the same
209,677,419 Conversion Shares interested by the Vendor.

As at the Latest Practicable Date, certain Director(s) held shares in certain
subsidiaries of the Company in a non-beneficial capacity, solely for the purpose of
complying with the previous requirements of a minimum of two shareholders.
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Substantial Shareholders’ interests

Save as disclosed below and in paragraph (a) above, the Directors and the chief
executive of the Company were not aware that there was any person who, as at the Latest
Practicable Date, had an interest or short position in the Shares or underlying shares of
the Company which would fall to be disclosed under the provisions of Division 2 and 3
of Part XV of the SFO, or who, as at the Latest Practicable Date, was directly and
indirectly interested in ten per cent or more of the nominal value of any class of share
capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any member of
the Enlarged Group.
(1)

Interests in the Shares or underlying shares of the Company

Name of
substantial
shareholder

Long/Short
position

Capacity

Lo’s Family

Long

Trustee

Equity Trustee
Limited
Vendor

Long

Trustee

Long

Beneficial owner

Lo’s E-P Biotech

Long

Triple Kind

Long

Interest of a
controlled
corporation
Interest of a
controlled
corporation

Number of
Shares or
underlying
Percentage of
shares of the Company’s
the existing issued
Company
share capital
420,000,000
(Note(1))
420,000,000
(Note(1))
209,677,419
(Note (2))
209,677,419
(Note (2))

53.92%

209,677,419
(Note (2))

26.91%

53.92%
26.91%
26.91%

Notes:
(1)

These Shares were owned by Lo’s Family in its capacity as the trustee of The Lo’s Family
Unit Trust, of which all the units in issue were owned by Equity Trustee Limited as the
trustee of The Lo’s Family Trust. By virtue of its ownership of all the issued units in the
Lo’s Family Unit Trust, Equity Trustee Limited in its capacity as the trustee of The Lo’s
Family Trust was deemed to be interested in such shares owned by Lo’s Family in its
capacity as the trustee of The Lo’s Family Unit Trust.
Such interest was also disclosed as the interest of Dr. Lo Kou Hong and Ms. Ko Lok Ping,
Maria Genoveffa in the above paragraph headed “Directors’ interests” in this section.

(2)

Under the Acquisition Agreement, the Vendor will enter into the Subscription Agreement
with the Company on Completion, under which, the Convertible Notes for conversion of
209,677,419 Conversion Shares of the Company will be issued. By virtue of the SFO,
Triple Kind, which holds 80% equity interest in Lo’s E-P Biotech, which in turn holds
100% equity interest in the Vendor, were deemed to be interested in the same 209,677,419
Conversion Shares held by the Vendor, whereas Lo’s E-P Biotech, which holds 100% of the
equity interest in the Vendor, were deemed to be interested in the same 209,677,419
Conversion Shares interested by the Vendor.
Such interest was also disclosed as the interest of Dr. Lo Kou Hong and Ms. Ko Lok Ping,
Maria Genoveffa in the above paragraph headed “Directors’ interests” in this section.
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Interests in shares in the member of the Enlarged Group (other than the
Company)
Percentage of
the shares over
the total
Number of
relevant class
shares
of shares

Name of
shareholder

Name of
company

Tsinghua Daring
(HK) Holdings
Limited

Oriental
Emperor
Holdings
Limited
Seasun
Group
Limited

Beneficial owner

45
(Note (1))

45%

Beneficial owner

1,050
(Note (2))

35%

Seasun
Group
Limited
Peixin

Interest of a
controlled
corporation
Beneficial owner

1,050
(Note (2))

35%

30%

Lo’s E-P Biotech

Peixin

Triple Kind

Peixin

42
(Note (4))

30%

Dr. Lo Kou Hong

Peixin

Interest of a
controlled
corporation
Interest of a
controlled
corporation
Interest of a
controlled
corporation
Interest of a
controlled
corporation

42
(Note (3))
42
(Note (4))

42
(Note (5))

30%

42
(Note (5))

30%

Tsinghua Daring
(China)
Holdings
Limited
Megastone
Investments
Limited
Vendor

Ms. Ko Lok Ping Peixin
Maria Genoveffa

Capacity

30%

Notes:
(1)

Tsinghua Daring (HK) Holdings Limited is directly interested in 45 shares of US$1 each
in the issued share capital of Oriental Emperor Holdings Limited, which has an issued
share capital of US$100 divided into 100 shares of US$1 each.

(2)

Tsinghua Daring (China) Holdings Limited is directly interested in 1,050 shares of US$1
each in the issued share capital of Seasun Group Limited, which has an issued share capital
of US$3,000 divided into 3,000 shares of US$1 each. The 1,050 shares in Seasun Group
Limited were held by Tsinghua Daring (China) Holdings Limited. By virtue of the SFO,
Megastone Investments Limited, which holds 100% equity interest in Tsinghua Daring
(China) Holdings Limited, were deemed to be interested in the same 1,050 shares in Seasun
Group Limited held by Tsinghua Daring (China) Holdings Limited.

(3)

The Vendor will upon Completion be directly interested in 42 shares in Peixin, representing
approximately 30% of the issued share capital of Peixin as enlarged by the issue and
allotment of the Allotment Shares.
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(4)

The Vendor will upon Completion be directly interested in 42 shares in Peixin. By virtue
of the SFO, Triple Kind which holds 80% equity interest in Lo’s E-P Biotech, which in turn
holds 100% equity interest in the Vendor, were deemed to be interested in the same 42
shares held by the Vendor, whereas Lo’s E-P Biotech, which holds 100% of the equity
interest in the Vendor, were deemed to be interested in the same 42 shares held by the
Vendor.

(5)

The Vendor will upon Completion be directly interested in 42 shares in Peixin. By virtue
of the SFO, Dr. Lo Kou Hong and Ms. Ko Lok Ping Maria Genoveffa, who respectively
holds 50% equity interest in Triple Kind, which then holds 80% equity interest in Lo’s E-P
Biotech, which in turn holds 100% equity interest in the Vendor, were deemed to be
interested in the same 42 shares held by the Vendor.

SERVICE CONTRACTS OF THE DIRECTORS

As at the Latest Practicable Date, none of the Directors had any existing or proposed
service contract with any member of the Enlarged Group which does not expire or is not
terminable by such member of the Enlarged Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).
5.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES

As at the Latest Practicable Date, to the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the
Directors or their respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) were considered to
have any interests in businesses which compete or are likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Group, other than those businesses where the Directors were
appointed as directors to represent the interest of the Company and/or the Group.
6.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN ASSETS

As at the Latest Practicable Date, save for the Sale Shares sold to the Company at the Sale
Shares Consideration under the Acquisition Agreement (as supplemented by the Supplemental
Agreement), details of which are set out in the section headed “Letter from the Board” in this
circular, none of the Directors had any direct or indirect interests in any assets which had been
acquired or disposed of by, or leased to, or which were proposed to be acquired or disposed of
by or leased to any members of the Enlarged Group since 31 March 2008, being the date to
which the latest published audited consolidated financial statements of the Company were
made up.
7.

LITIGATION

Apart from certain litigations that the Group are involved in during its normal course of
business concerning personal injuries sustained by employees of the Group or third party
claimants, which the Group has maintained insurance cover, and which in the opinion of the
Directors such claims are adequately covered by the insurance policies, no member of the
Enlarged Group is engaged in any litigation or claims of material importance and no litigation
or claim of material importance is known to the Directors to be pending or threatened against
any member of the Enlarged Group as at the Latest Practicable Date.
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EXPERTS AND CONSENTS

The following is the qualifications of the experts who have given opinion or advice which
are contained in this circular:
Name

Qualification

Ample Capital

Ample Capital Limited, a licensed corporation
under the SFO to conduct type 4 (advising on
securities), type 6 (advising on corporate finance)
and type 9 (asset management) regulated activities
as set out in Schedule 5 to the SFO

Ernst & Young

Certified public accountant

As at the Latest Practicable Date, neither Ample Capital or Ernst & Young:
(a)

had any direct or indirect interest in any assets which have since 31 March, 2008
(being the date to which the latest published audited accounts of the Group were
made up) been acquired or disposed of by or leased to any member of the Group, or
are proposed to be acquired or disposed of by or leased to any member of the Group;
and

(b)

had any shareholding in any member of the Group or the right (whether legally
enforceable or not) to subscribe for or to nominate persons to subscribe for
securities in any member of the Group.

Each of Ample Capital or Ernst & Young have given and have not withdrawn their
respective written consent to the issue of this circular with the inclusion herein of its reports
or letters (as the case may be) and reference to its name in the form and context in which they
respectively appear.
9.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACT

As at the Latest Practicable Date, save for the Acquisition Agreement (as supplemented
by the Supplemental Agreement), details of which are set out in the section headed “Letter
from the Board” in this circular, there was no contract or arrangement subsisting in which any
Director was materially interested and which was significant in relation to the business of the
Enlarged Group.
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10. MATERIAL CONTRACTS
The following contracts, not being contracts entered into in the ordinary course of
business of the Group, had been entered into by members of the Enlarged Group within two
years immediately preceding the date of this circular which may be material:

11.

(1)

Agreement for Sale and Purchase dated 23 November 2006 entered into between
Tsinghua Daring (HK) Holdings Limited and Honest Grand International Limited,
which is a member of the Group, with respect to the sale and purchase of 55 shares
of US$1.00 each in the issued share capital of Oriental Emperor Holdings Limited
for an aggregate consideration of US$55.00 (equivalent to HK$429).

(2)

Shareholders’ Agreement dated 10 January 2007 entered into between Honest Grand
International Limited, Tsinghua Daring (HK) Holdings Limited and Oriental
Emperor Holdings Limited with respect to the detailed arrangements for the
management and operation of Oriental Emperor Holdings Limited.

(3)

Agreement for Sale and Purchase dated 27 April 2007 entered into between Tsinghua
Daring (China) Holdings Limited and Victory Joy International Limited, which is a
member of the Group, with respect to the sale and purchase of 65 shares of US$1.00
each in the issued share capital of Seasun Group Limited for an aggregate
consideration of HK$45,000,000.

(4)

Shareholders’ Agreement dated 22 August 2007 entered into between Victory Joy
International Limited, Tsinghua Daring (China) Holdings Limited and Seasun Group
Limited with respect to the detailed arrangement for the management and operation
of Seasun Group Limited.

(5)

Placing Agreement dated 14 May 2007 entered between the Company and KGI
Capital Asia Limited in relation to the placing of 25,000,000 Shares to independent
investors at a price of HK$4.00 per Shares.

GENERAL
(a)

The head office and principal place of business in Hong Kong of the Company is 3rd
Floor, Caltex House, 258 Hennessy Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

(b)

The registered office of the Company is P.O. Box 309 GT, Ugland House, South
Church Street, George Town, Grand Cayman, Cayman Islands, British West Indies.

(c)

The company secretary and the qualified accountant of the Company is Mr. Leung
Tai Tsan, Charles. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. He
has over 20 years of experience in accounting, auditing and financial management.

(d)

The share registrar and transfer office of the Company is Tricor Tengis Limited, 26th
Floor, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong.
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This circular is prepared in both English and Chinese. In the event of inconsistency,
the English text shall prevail.

12. DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE FOR INSPECTION
Copies of following documents will be available for inspection at the Company’s head
office and principal place of business in Hong Kong at 3rd Floor, Caltex House, 258 Hennessy
Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong during normal business hours on any business day from the date
of this circular up to and including the date of the EGM:
(a)

the Acquisition Agreement (including the Subscription Agreement and the deed of
waiver in relation to the Shareholder’s Loan) and the Supplemental Agreement;

(b)

the memorandum and articles of association of the Company, Peixin and Shuyang
ITAD;

(c)

the letter from Ample Capital, the text of which is set out in this circular;

(d)

the audited financial statement of the Peixin Group, the text of which is set out in
Appendix II to this circular;

(e)

the unaudited pro forma financial information of the Enlarged Group, the text of
which is set out in Appendix III to this circular;

(f)

the written consents referred to under the paragraph headed “Experts and Consents”
in this Appendix;

(g)

the contracts referred to under the paragraph headed “Material Contract” in this
Appendix; and

(h)

the annual reports of the Company for each of the two years ended 31 March 2007
and 2008.
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NOTICE OF EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that an extraordinary general meeting (the “EGM”) of
Lo’s Enviro-Pro Holdings Limited (the “Company”) will be held at Plaza IV, Lower Lobby,
Novotel Century Hong Kong, 238 Jaffe Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong on Wednesday, 10
December 2008 at 2:30 p.m. for the purpose of considering and, if thought fit, passing, with
or without amendments, the following resolutions as ordinary resolutions of the Company:
ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS
1.

“THAT the conditional agreement relating to the sale and purchase of 58 shares and
subscription of 40 shares in Peixin Group Ltd. (“Peixin”) dated 26 October 2008 entered
into between ITAD Biotechnology Ltd. (“ITAD”), the Company and Peixin (the
“Acquisition Agreement”) and a supplemental agreement to the Acquisition Agreement
dated 3 November 2008 entered into between ITAD, the Company and Peixin (the
“Supplemental Agreement”) (copies of the Acquisition Agreement and the Supplemental
Agreement are produced to the EGM marked “A” and “B” respectively and signed by the
chairman of the EGM for the purpose of identification), and the transactions contemplated
under the Acquisition Agreement (as supplemented by the Supplemental Agreement),
including but not limited to, the acquisition of the Sale Shares (as defined in the
Acquisition Agreement) by the Company from ITAD for a purchase price of
HK$65,000,000 (the “Sale Shares Consideration”) and the subscription of the Allotment
Shares (as defined in the Acquisition Agreement) by the Company at the subscription
price of HK$44,800,000 (the “Allotment Shares Consideration”) be and are hereby
approved, confirmed and ratified and that any one of the directors of the Company (the
“Directors”) be and is hereby authorized to implement all the transactions referred to in
the Acquisition Agreement (as supplemented by the Supplemental Agreement) and to do
all such acts and things and execute all such documents in his absolute discretion as he
deems fit or appropriate to give effect to the Acquisition Agreement (as supplemented by
the Supplemental Agreement) and the arrangements contemplated thereunder.”

2.

“THAT subject to completion of the Acquisition Agreement (as supplemented by the
Supplemental Agreement), the terms and conditions of a subscription agreement for the
subscription of the Convertible Notes (as defined in the Acquisition Agreement (as
supplemented by the Supplemental Agreement) in the principal sum of HK$65,000,000 to
be entered into between the Company and ITAD (the “Subscription Agreement”) (a copy
of which is produced to the EGM marked “C” and signed by the chairman of the EGM
for the purpose of identification) be and are hereby approved and subject to and
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conditional upon the Company obtaining all consents and approvals (if required) from
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) for the issuance of
the Convertible Notes, the issuance of the Convertible Notes for satisfaction of the Sale
Shares Consideration be and is hereby approved and any one of the Directors be and is
hereby authorized to implement all the transactions referred to in the Subscription
Agreements and to do all such acts and things and execute all such documents in his
absolute discretion as he deems fit or appropriate to give effect to the Subscription
Agreement and the issuance of the Convertible Notes and the arrangement contemplated
thereunder.”
3.

“THAT subject to and conditional upon (a) the granting by the Listing Committee of the
Stock Exchange of the listing of, and permission to deal in, the Conversion Shares (as
defined below); and (b) the passing of resolutions numbered 1 and 2 above, the Directors
be and are hereby generally and specifically authorized to allot and issue up to
209,677,419 shares (or such number as adjusted as a result of the adjustment made in the
conversion price under the Convertible Notes) of HK$0.01 each (the “Conversion
Shares”) in the share capital of the Company (the “Specific Mandate”) upon the exercise
of the conversion rights attached to the Convertible Notes and any one of the Directors
be and is hereby authorized to allot and issue the Conversion Shares pursuant to and in
accordance with the terms and conditions of the Convertible Notes under the Specific
Mandate and to do all such acts and things as he considers necessary or expedient in
connection with the issue of the Conversion Shares upon the exercise of the conversion
rights attached to the Convertible Notes.”

4.

“THAT the balance of net proceeds in the sum of approximately HK$69,500,000 (the
“Balance Net Proceeds”) from the placement of 25,000,000 of HK$0.01 each in the share
capital of the Company pursuant to the placement agreement dated 14 May 2007 between
the Company and KGI Capital Asia Limited as stated in the announcement and the
circular of the Company dated 15 May 2007 and 6 June 2007 respectively be applied for
use towards payment of the Allotment Shares Consideration and as the working capital of
the Company in addition to funding the project relating to the medical waste treatment in
the People’s Republic of China (as announced on 29 November 2006 and 4 May 2007),
and the Directors be and are hereby authorized to apply HK$44,800,000 out of the
Balance Net Proceeds towards payment of the Allotment Shares Consideration and to
apply the remaining amount of the Balance Net Proceeds as the working capital of the
Company, and all actions done prior to the resolution are hereby approved, confirmed and
rectified, and any one of the Directors be authorized to do all such acts and things and
execute all such documents in his absolute discretion as he deems fit or appropriate for
applying the use of the Balance Net Proceeds towards payment of the Allotment Shares
Consideration and as the working capital of the Company.”
By Order of the Board of
LO’S ENVIRO-PRO HOLDINGS LIMITED
LO KOU HONG
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 November 2008
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Head office and principal place
of business in Hong Kong:
3rd Floor, Caltex House
258 Hennessy Road
Wanchai
Hong Kong
Notes:
(i)

Any member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint one or more
proxies to attend and vote instead of him. A proxy need not be a member of the Company. A member who is
the holder of two or more shares of the Company may appoint more than one proxy to represent him to attend
and vote on his behalf. If more than one proxy is so appointed, the appointment shall specify the number and
class of shares in respect of which each such proxy is so appointed.

(ii)

To be effective, a form of proxy together with the power of attorney or other authority, if any, under which
it is signed or a notarially certified copy of that power or authority, must be deposited at the Company’s Share
Registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited, at 26th Floor, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai,
Hong Kong not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the meeting or any adjournment
thereof. Delivery of the form of proxy shall not preclude a member of the Company from attending and voting
in person at the meeting and, in such event, the instrument appointing a proxy shall be deemed to be revoked.

(iii)

As at the date of this notice, the Board of Directors of the Company comprises:
Executive Directors:
Dr. Lo Kou Hong (Chairman and Managing Director)
Ms. Ko Lok Ping, Maria Genoveffa
Mr. Leung Tai Tsan, Charles
Mr. Cheung Pui Keung, James
Non-executive Director:
Professor Bai Qingzhong
Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Mr. Cheng Kai Tai, Allen
Mr. Chiu Wai Piu
Mr. Wang Qi
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